## THE HUMAN FACTORS OF TRANSITIONS IN HIGHLY AUTOMATED DRIVING

by

Tyron Linton Louw



Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Leeds Institute for Transport Studies March 2017

# INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND PUBLICATIONS

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his own, except where work which has formed part of jointly authored publications has been included. The contribution of the candidate and the other authors to this work has been explicitly indicated below. The candidate confirms that appropriate credit has been given within the thesis where reference has been made to the work of others.

Five publications have been produced from research that was undertaken as part of this thesis. Each publication is listed below with a full reference and details of its location within this thesis. In the case of all publications listed the candidate was solely responsible for the production of the content with named authors providing support through review and modification only. The work in chapters 2 to 6 of the thesis has appeared in publications as follows:

The work in **Chapter 2** of the thesis has appeared in publication as follows: *Louw, T., Merat, N., and Jamson, A. H., (2015). Engaging with Highly Automated Driving: To be or not to be in the loop?* Published in Proceedings of the 8th International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design, pp. 190-196. Snowbird, Utah. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.2788.9760.

The candidate contributed substantially to the conception and design of the study. The candidate collected, analysed, and interpreted the data, wrote the article, and approved of the version submitted for publication. NM and AHJ provided contribution in conception and design of the study, contributed to interpretation of data, and reviewed the manuscript. The candidate and NM gave final approval of the version submitted for publication. The work in **Chapter 3** of the thesis has appeared in publication as follows:

Louw, T., Kountouriotis, G., Carsten, O., and Merat, N. (2015). Driver Inattention During Vehicle Automation: How Does Driver Engagement Affect Resumption of Control? Published in Proceedings of the 4th International Driver Distraction and Inattention Conference, 09-11 Nov 2015, ARRB Group, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia.

The candidate contributed substantially to the conception and design of the study and acquisition of the data. The candidate analysed and interpreted the data, wrote the article, and approved of the version submitted for publication. NM, GK, and OC provided contribution in conception and design of the study, contributed to interpretation of data and reviewed the manuscript. The candidate and NM gave final approval of the version submitted for publication.

The work in **Chapter 4** of the thesis has appeared in publication as follows: *Louw, T. and Merat, N. (2017). Are you in the loop? Using gaze dispersion to understand driver visual attention during vehicle automation.* Published in Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 76, 35-50. DOI: 10.1016/j.trc.2017.01.001.

The candidate contributed substantially to the conception and design of the study and acquisition of the data. The candidate analysed and interpreted the data, and wrote the article. NM provided contribution in conception and design of the study, contributed to interpretation of data, and reviewed the manuscript. The candidate and NM gave final approval of the version submitted for publication.

The work in **Chapter 5** of the thesis has appeared in publication as follows: *Louw, T., Madigan, R., Carsten, O., and Merat, N. (2016). Were they in the loop during automated driving? Links between visual attention and crash potential.* Published in Injury Prevention. DOI: 10.1136/injuryprev-2016-042155.

The candidate contributed substantially to the conception and design of the study and acquisition of the data. The candidate analysed and interpreted the data, wrote the article, and approved of the version submitted for publication. NM and OC provided contribution in conception and design of the study, while NM, OC and RM contributed to interpretation of data and reviewed the manuscript. The candidate and NM gave final approval of the version submitted for publication. The work in **Chapter 6** of the thesis has been submitted for publication as follows: Louw, T., Markkula, G., Boer, E., Madigan, R., Carsten, O., and Merat, N. (Under Review). Coming Back into the Loop: Drivers' Perceptual-Motor Performance in Critical Events in Automated Driving. Accident Analysis and Prevention.

The candidate contributed substantially to the conception and design of the study and acquisition of the data. The candidate analysed and interpreted the data, wrote the article, and approved of the version submitted for publication. ER assisted in writing code for data analysis and reviewed the manuscript. NM and OC provided contribution in conception and design of the study, while GM, EB, NM, OC, and RM contributed to interpretation of data and reviewed the manuscript. The candidate and NM gave final approval of the version submitted for publication.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

© 2017 The University of Leeds and Tyron Linton Louw.

The right of Tyron Linton Louw to be identified as Author of this work has been asserted by him in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am indebted to my supervisors. In particular, to Natasha Merat for her excellent mentorship throughout this project. To Oliver Carsten for his guidance and insights, and to Hamish Jamson for his support in the early stages of this research. Their collective encouragement and belief in me was a constant source of inspiration.

A big thank you should go to all of the members of the Human Factors and Safety Group for bouncing around ideas. I am especially grateful to Ruth Madigan for her unfailing optimism and support, to George Kountouriotis for easing me into the world of programming, and to Daz Hibberd for always being willing to lend an ear. I am thankful to Gustav Markkula and Erwin Boer, whose valuable insights, help, and encouragement towards the end of this project enabled me to carry some key ideas over finishing line.

The studious team at the University of Leeds Driving Simulator should be acknowledged for all their work implementing the many scenario iterations, to give these experiments life. I would also like to thank all of the members of the Human Factors sub-project of the EU AdaptIVe project, for sharing ideas and lending support along the way.

Finally, thank you to Jonathan for his enduring love and affirmation from day one.

### ABSTRACT

The aim of this research was to investigate the nature of the out-of-the-loop (OoTL) phenomenon in highly automated driving (HAD), and its effect on driver behaviour before, during, and after the transition from automated to manual control. The work addressed questions relating to how automation affects drivers' (i) performance in transition situations requiring control- and tactical-level responses, (ii) their behaviour in automation compared to in manual driving, (iii-iv) their visual attention distribution before and during the transition, as well as (v) their perceptual-motor performance after resuming control. A series of experiments were developed to take drivers progressively further OoTL for short periods during HAD, by varying drivers' secondary task engagement and the amount of visual information from the system and environment available to them. Once the manipulations ended, drivers were invited to determine a need to resume control in critical and non-critical vehicle following situations. Results showed that, overall, drivers looked around more during HAD, compared to manual driving, and had poorer vehicle control in critical transition situations. Generally, the further OoTL drivers were during HAD, the more dispersed their visual attention. However, within three seconds of the manipulations ending, the differences between the conditions resolved, and in many cases, this was before drivers resumed control. Differences between the OoTL manipulations emerged once again in terms of the timing of drivers' initial response (take-over time) in critical events, where the further OoTL drivers were the longer it took them to resume control, but there was no difference in the quality of the subsequent vehicle control. Results suggest that any information presented to drivers during automation should be placed near the centre of the road and that kinematically early avoidance response may be more important for safety than short take-over times. This thesis concludes with a general conceptualisation of the relationship between a number of driver and vehicle/environment factors that influence driver performance in the transition.

viii

# CONTENTS

A	Acknowledgements v				
A	Abstract				
Co	onten	ts		xii	
Fi	gures			xv	
Та	bles			xvii	
A	bbrev	iations		xvii	
1	GEN	NERAL	INTRODUCTION	1	
	1.1	Introd	uction	1	
	1.2	Under	standing human performance	3	
	1.3	Mode	ls of the driving task	5	
	1.4	Auton	nation	8	
		1.4.1	Automated driving	8	
		1.4.2	Levels of automation	9	
		1.4.3	Transitions of control	12	
		1.4.4	Human-automation interaction	15	
	1.5	Driver	-based factors influencing performance in the transition	18	
		1.5.1	Trust	19	
		1.5.2	Mental models	19	
		1.5.3	Situation awareness	20	
		1.5.4	The out-of-the-loop problem	26	
		1.5.5	Complacency and automation bias	27	
	1.6	Vehicle sition	e/Environment-based factors influencing performance in the tran-	29	
		1.6.1	Time budget	29	
		1.6.2	Human-Machine Interface (HMI)	31	

		1.6.3 Road and traffic scenario	32	
	1.7	Summary and key research gaps	33	
	1.8	Research questions and thesis overview	35	
	1.9	References	38	
2	то	BE OR NOT TO BE IN THE LOOP	55	
	2.1	Introduction	55	
	2.2	Methodology	57	
		2.2.1 Participants	57	
		2.2.2 Apparatus	57	
		2.2.3 Design and Procedure	59	
	2.3	Results and Discussion	61	
	2.4	Conclusions	63	
	2.5	References	65	
3	DRI	VER INATTENTION AND VEHICLE AUTOMATION	67	
	3.1	Introduction	68	
	3.2	Methods	72	
		3.2.1 Participants	72	
		3.2.2 Design and Procedure	72	
	3.3	Results and Discussion	76	
		3.3.1 Validating the OoTL state	76	
		3.3.2 Distribution of visual attention	77	
		3.3.3 Engagement with the system	78	
		3.3.4 First gaze fixation	79	
		3.3.5 Driver response to critical events	79	
		3.3.6 Vehicle measures	81	
	3.4	Summary and Conclusions	83	
	3.5	References	85	
4	ARI	E YOU IN THE LOOP?	<b>89</b>	
	4.1	Introduction	91	
	4.2	Methods	95	
		4.2.1 Participants	95	
		4.2.2 Design and Procedure	95	
		4.2.3 Statistical analyses	100	
	4.3	Results and Discussion		

		4.3.1	Gaze patterns during uninterrupted driving	. 102
		4.3.2	Gaze patterns during the screen manipulations	. 104
		4.3.3	Gaze patterns pre-screen manipulations	. 109
		4.3.4	Gaze patterns post-screen manipulations	. 109
		4.3.5	Gaze patterns post-Brake light	. 110
	4.4	Concl	usions	. 113
	4.5	Ackno	owledgements	. 116
	4.6	Refere	ences	. 116
5	WE	RE TH	EY IN THE LOOP?	121
	5.1	Introd	luction	. 122
	5.2	Metho	ods	. 123
		5.2.1	Participants	. 123
		5.2.2	Design and Procedure	. 123
	5.3	Result	ts and Discussion	. 126
		5.3.1	Where do drivers look first?	. 127
		5.3.2	Effect of OoTL Manipulations on fixations	. 128
		5.3.3	Fixations in the Critical Events	. 130
	5.4	Concl	usions	. 133
	5.5	Refere	ences	. 135
6	COI	MING	BACK INTO THE LOOP	141
	6.1	Introd	luction	. 143
	6.2	Metho	ods	. 146
		6.2.1	Participants	. 146
		6.2.2	Materials	. 146
		6.2.3	OoTL Manipulations	. 147
		6.2.4	Automated driving system	. 147
		6.2.5	Human-machine interface	. 149
		6.2.6	Experimental and Scenario Design	. 149
		6.2.7	Procedure	. 150
		6.2.8	Analysis of drivers' perceptual-motor performance	. 151
	6.3	Result	ts and Discussion	. 155
	6.4	Concl	usions	. 161
	6.5	Refere	ences	. 163
7	FIN	AL DIS	SCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	169

7.1	Final I	Discussion $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $16$	9
7.2	Review of experimental investigations		0
7.3	Reflection on methodology and measures		5
7.4	Contribution to the field and outlook		
	7.4.1	Driver Factors	1
	7.4.2	Vehicle/Environment Factors	3
7.5	Final c	$conclusion \ldots 18$	5
7.6	References		5

# LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	A model of human information processing (redrawn from Wickens et al., 2015, pg. 4).	4
1.2	Combination of performance levels according to Rasmussen (1986) and the hierarchical control levels according to Michon (1985), reproduced from Weller et al. (2006)	7
1.3	Description of Levels of Driving Automation for On-Road Vehicles	12
1.4	All possible transitions occurring between operator and automation at different levels of automation.	13
1.5	Workload and performance in six regions (De Waard, 1996)	16
1.6	Endlsey's model of Situation Awareness	21
1.7	An integrated model of complacency and automation bias (Parasuraman and Manzey, 2010).	27
1.8	Reaction sequences in the Gold et al. (2014) study	30
1.9	Thesis structure.	36
2.1	Driving simulator set-up	58
2.2	Schematic representation of the driving scenario.	58
2.3	Representation of the congruous and incongruous rule conditions	60
2.4	Maximum lateral acceleration for Drive	61
2.5	Time to first steer for Drive	62
2.6	Time to lane change for Drive	63
3.1	Schematic representation of the out-of-the-loop (OoTL) phenomenon .	70
3.2	Schematic representation of each discrete event	73
3.3	Example of the in-vehicle HMI with the FCW symbol on the left and the Automation Status Symbol on the right.	74
3.4	Visual attention regions (Carsten et al., 2012)	77
3.5	Percentage Road Centre during Light Fog and Heavy Fog automation drives.	78
3.6	Average number of 'peeks' at the hidden automation status throughout the light fog and heavy fog automated drives.	79
3.7	Maximum deceleration for the two Drives and for the two Conditions .	82

4.1	Schematic representation of each discrete event in the automated and manual drives
4.2	Example of a drivers' view in the a) no fog, b) light fog, c) heavy fog, and d) heavy fog + task conditions
4.3	An example of the in-vehicle HMI
4.4	Schematic representation of the Time Windows used for the analyses. $% \left[ 101\right] \left[ $
4.5	Example density contour plots of gaze dispersion in Time Window 1 (from "Automation On" to "Screen Manipulation On") for Event 5 103
4.6	Mean SD of Gaze Pitch in Time Window 1 for each Event Number for the automated and manual drives
4.7	Density contour plots of gaze for the No Fog and Light Fog groups in Time Window 2
4.8	Density contour plots of gaze for the Heavy Fog and Heavy Fog + Task groups in Time Window 2 for all events in the automated drive 107
4.9	Mean SD of Yaw during Time Window 2 for each of the four automated drives
4.10	Mean SD of Pitch during Time Window 2 for each of the four automated drives
4.11	SD of Gaze Pitch across all events in the automated drive for Time Window 2
4.12	Mean SD of Gaze Yaw for Critical Event 1 and Critical Event 2 in the Automated and Manual drives, for Time Window 5
5.1	Schematic representation of each discrete event in the experimental drive. (a) to (d) represent various phases of the drive
5.2	Location of participants' first fixation after the OoTL manipulations ceased, for all events
5.3	Average Percent Road Centre frequency after the uncertainty alert, for (a) each of the six events, and (b) for the first three seconds after the uncertainty alert (right)
5.4	Percent Road Centre scores in Critical Event 1 for the crash (N=19) and no crash group (N=54) for seven 1 s time windows from the second before the OoTL manipulations ceased
6.1	An example of drivers' view in the (a) no fog, no fog + n-back, (b) light fog, (c) heavy fog, and (d) heavy fog + task conditions
6.2	An example of the in-vehicle HMI $\hdots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 149$
6.3	Schematic representation of each discrete event in the experimental drive. $150$
6.4	Example plot from the analysis of a brake signal, to determine $t_{action}$ 152
6.5	Example plot from the analysis of a steering signal, to determine $t_{action}$ . 153
6.6	$t_{action}$ relative to $t_{take-over}$ for the five OoTL conditions in both critical events

#### LIST OF FIGURES

6.7	$D_{max}$ of response relative to invTTC at $t_{action}$ for the five OoTL conditions in both critical events
6.8	Combined frequency of drivers' responses in CE1 and CE2
6.9	$D_{max}$ of response relative to invTTC at $t_{action}$ for the three response categories
6.10	$D_{max}$ of response relative to invTTC at $t_{action}$ for Critical Event 1 and Critical Event 2
7.1	Studying the transition in highly automated driving

# LIST OF TABLES

1.1	Matrix of driving tasks according to Rasmussen and Michon (Hale et al., 1990).
1.2	Sheridan and Verplank's (1978) Levels of Automation
1.3	Transition of control from human to automation (redrawn from Martenset al., 2007).14
1.4	States of engagement with a driving task (Banks and Stanton, 2014) 29
2.1	Brake and Steer combinations for Drive
3.1	Description of the automation status HMI
3.2	Disengagement methods for all cases in the critical and non-critical events. 80
3.3	Lane Changes and collision counts (in brackets)
4.1	Time windows used for statistical analyses
4.2	Results for ANOVAs conducted for each Time Window for SD of Gaze Yaw and SD of Gaze Pitch
5.1	Crash counts out of 15 cases for Critical Event 1 (CE1) and Critical Event 2 (CE2) for each group in the automated drive
6.1	Description of the OoTL conditions
6.2	Mean (SD) of take-over time and action time for the five OoTL conditions.158

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

A number of abbreviations and acronyms are used throughout the this thesis. Although these are explained alongside their first instance in the text, they are listed here for ease of reference:

ACC	Adaptive Cruise Control.	
ADAS Advanced Driver Assistance Systems.		
ANOVA	ANalysis Of VAriance.	
ABS	Anti-lock Braking System.	
AOI	Areas of Interest.	
BASt	Bundesanstalt für Straßenwesen.	
DOA	Degrees of Automation.	
FAA	Federal Aviation Administration.	
FCW	Forward collision warning.	
HAD	Highly Automated Driving.	
HMI	Human Machine Interface.	
invTTC	Inverse Time To Collision.	
LKS	Lane Keeping System.	
NHTSA	National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.	
OoTL	Out of the loop.	
PRC	Percent Road Centre.	
PERCLOS	Percentage Eye Closure.	

SA	Situation Awareness.	
SAE	Society of Automotive Engineers.	
SD	Standard Deviation.	
TOR	Take-Over Request.	
ТВ	Time Budget.	
TTC	Time To Collision.	
ТW	Time Window.	

#### **CHAPTER 1**

### **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

### 1.1 Introduction

Vehicles with increasing degrees of automated capabilities will become ubiquitous in the coming decades, with vehicle manufacturers, technology start-ups, and giants alike having demonstrated interest and progress in the race to higher levels of vehicle automation. Indeed, many large vehicle manufacturers are already equipping production vehicles with lane keeping systems (Lincoln, 2014; Acura, 2014), traffic jam assistance (BMW, 2013) and highway steering assistance (Toyota, 2013; Volvo, 2013), and some manufacturers have committed to bringing the first generation of self-driving vehicles to market by the end of the decade.

Vehicle automation is proposed to have a number of benefits, including an increase in the flow and capacity of the road network (Kesting, 2008; Ntousakis, 2015), a wide range of economic benefits (Fagnant and Kockelman, 2013), an increase in shared mobility (Fagnant, 2013), and a reduction in energy consumption (Anderson et al., 2014). Human error is thought to be a contributing factor to over 93% of road accidents (Treat et al., 1979; Sabey and Taylor, 1980), and a further assumed benefit of vehicle automation is that, by relieving the human driver of parts of the driving task, human error would be suppressed, reducing road traffic accidents. Yet, this claimed benefit is potentially a red herring. Human error typically arises out of poor human-system interaction, because of a combination of active failures (e.g. drivers failing to detect a hazard) and latent conditions (e.g. the human-machine interface is designed poorly; Reason, 1990). Vehicle automation is in its infancy, and it will be some time yet until all human responsibility for, and interaction with, the driving task is supplanted, highlighting the paradox that automated systems will still be joint cognitive systems between man and machine (Bibby et al., 1975; Bainbridge, 1983). Therefore, while such interactions exist, so too does the possibility of human error and the importance of human factors.

To realise the full potential for vehicle automation for improving road safety, it is necessary to scrutinise how automation impacts on drivers' cognitive and physical abilities to interact safely and appropriately with the driving task (Parasuraman et al. 2000; Merat and Lee, 2012). A primary example of such an interaction is the resumption of manual control when the automated driving system either fails or reaches some functional limit, otherwise known as 'the transition'.

Indeed, there is a growing concern within the human factors community regarding the potential adverse effects of automation on drivers' return-to-manual performance. Studies have speculated that a number of psychological factors are pertinent to understanding the effect of vehicle automation on driver behaviour, including trust (Lee and See, 2004; Hergeth et al., 2016), locus of control (Stanton and Young, 2005), complacency (Bagheri and Jamieson, 2004; Parasuraman and Manzey, 2010), mental models (Moray, 1990; Sarter et al., 2007; Flemisch et al., 2012), driver state (Rauch et al., 2009; Neubauer et al., 2012; Jamson et al., 2013), mental workload (MWL; De Waard, 1996; Collet et al., 2003), and situation awareness (SA; Endsley, 1995a; Merat and Jamson, 2009; Kircher et al., 2014).

There have been some attempts to manage these issues during automation and the transition through, for example, adaptive automation disengagement systems (Merat et al., 2014) and haptic shared control (Abbink et al., 2012; Mars et al., 2014). Others have used uncertainty warning alerts (Beller et al., 2013; Lorenz et al., 2014) and multimodal human-machine interface (HMI) designs (Pavilinsky and De Winter, 2016). However, the effectiveness of these interaction designs is limited to the automated system and traffic scenarios in which the interactions are observed, all of which impose varying levels of mental workload.

Human factors research has developed a multitude of models to describe the driving task from the perspective of the driver. These can be divided into functional models and descriptive models. Functional models represent performance via various concepts such as motivation, information processing, and risk, and emphasise drivers' cognitive abilities, which give them greater predictive power, yet limit their descriptive

depth. In contrast, descriptive models attempt to describe some or all aspects of the driving task with respect to the driver's role but are limited in their ability to predict performance. The following section will focus on functional models of human information processing to outline how this thesis conceptualises human performance for the driving task, while the subsequent section will focus on descriptive models to draw attention to the role of the driver in the driving task, and how this related to vehicle automation.

### 1.2 Understanding human performance

*Information processing* is the combination of psychological and motor processes that humans use to perform tasks. Implied in information processing theories is the concept of a limited processing *capacity* (e.g., Broadbent, 1958; Kahneman, 1973; Posner, 1978; Wickens, 1984). Kahneman (1973) specifies the metaphor of a single undifferentiated capacity from which mental resources are available for task performance, and proposed a serial processing model. On the other hand, Wickens (1984) introduced the idea of a multiple processing model, drawing a clear distinction between the metaphors of *capacity* and *resource*, defining capacity as the maximum or upper limit of processing capability, while resources represent the mental effort supplied to improve processing efficiency. Another critical assumption is that this capacity may also change according to whether the operator is fatigued or distracted, as using mental resources requires effort, and this is limited (cf. Malleable Resource Theory; Young and Stanton, 2002; Young and Stanton, 2004).

Wickens' (1984) information processing model builds on single resource theories (Kahneman, 1973; Norman and Bobrow, 1975), and presents a qualitative account of the different psychological processes involved in how humans interact with systems. The model incorporates these processes into a series of processing stages or mental operations to characterise the flow of information humans require when performing a task. This involves perceiving sensations, transforming data and choosing actions in response. Processing requires mental resources at each stage (see Figure 1.1). This is discussed further in Section 1.4.4.

Based on Wickens' (1984) model, information from the environment is first processed by our senses and is held briefly in the short term sensory story (STSS). What



**Figure 1.1:** A model of human information processing (redrawn from Wickens et al., 2015, pg. 4).

is selected for sensory input is driven by attention (Yantis, 1998), either *bottom-up* (exogenous, stimulus-driven, or passive) or *top-down* (or endogenous or goal-driven or active). In the context of driving, information is most often selected and attended to overtly by directing the eye to its spatial location, demonstrating a close link between attention and eye movements (Posner, 1980; Crundall and Underwood, 1998).

Selected information from the STSS is then passed to stages of perception, where the stimulus is identified, or recognised using past experiences that are stored in the long-term memory, and it's meaning derived. This stage is processed automatically, requires little or no attention, and is driven by both sensory inputs and long-term memory. Following recognition, information is passed to response-selection and response-execution processes, where its implications for action are assessed, including the choice of a response. Otherwise known as cognition, this stage is distinguished from perception by the amount of time required to process information, as well as the mental effort involved.

As with most closed-loop feedback systems, this information processing system is in dynamic interaction with the external world and is driven by feedback signals and attention, which are essential for efficient human-automation interaction.

Questions have been raised regarding the efficacy of the information processing model, especially regarding its inability to explain and predict performance in low task-demand situations, such as monotonous driving (Senders, 1997). Nevertheless, it still stands as a useful, simple, framework for interpreting human performance in both simple and complex tasks.

With an understanding of how people process information to perform a task, the following section will focus on descriptive models of driving and the role of the human driver within the driving task.

### 1.3 Models of the driving task

Rasmussen's (1983, 1986) model of human behaviour in complex system control conceptualises tasks on the different levels of action selection and execution requiring the interaction between an operator and a task. The model categorises performance on three levels, namely *skill-based*, *rule-based*, and *knowledge-based* performance.

To take driving as an example, at the *skill-based* level a driver uses sensorimotor skills to process information in the form of space-time signals, such as vehicle handling around corners or driving along familiar routes. This represents automatic processing without conscious control. At the *rule-based* level, a driver processes information in the road environment (e.g. road regulations), which is then applied by feed-forward control. This represents conscious control. Cognitive functioning at the *knowledge-based* level involves drivers utilising mental models of the current roadway environment and vehicle state, integrated with their goals, to make decisions regarding navigation.

Michon (1985) conceptualised the three levels in Rasmussen's model regarding the skills and control of driving tasks and defined them according to the time involved in performing the task as well as the level of attentional control (Reason, 1987) given to the (sub-)task. At the lowest level, (*control level*) tasks involve the controlling of the vehicle's lateral and longitudinal position on the road through braking and steering. This level of a task occurs through automatic action patterns and within a time frame of milliseconds. The intermediate level (*manoeuvring level*) involves tactical decisions and manoeuvres by drivers to local situations, to achieve predetermined sub-goals, such as following distance, overtaking, speed, etc. These tasks occur in a matter of seconds. The advanced level (*strategic level*) involves drivers making and following goals of driving, such as navigating to a destination and also developing specific driving sub-goals, such as selecting a route. These generally take much longer to plan

	Planning	Manoeuvre	Control
Knowledge	Navigating in strange town	Controlling a skid on icy roads	Learner on first on first lesson
Rule	Choice between familiar routes	Passing other cars	Driving an unfamiliar car
Skill	Home/work travel	Negotiating familiar junctions	Roadholding round corners

 Table 1.1: Matrix of driving tasks according to Rasmussen and Michon (Hale et al., 1990).

and execute.

Hale et al. (1990) mapped Rasmussen's performance levels to Michon's levels of driving behaviour, to specify the dynamic interaction among driver behaviour activities at different levels of the driving task (Table 1.1). Weller et al. (2006) presented a similar model (Figure 1.2), with performance levels according to Rasmussen (1986) shown on the left and the hierarchical control levels, according to Michon (1985), shown on the right. Ward (2000) argues that, within this framework, driving is modelled as a cascade system that includes input, output, feedback, and feed-forward processes. As a feedback process, driving goals at the strategic level cascade down and influence the behavioural responses at the tactical level, which in turn influence action-specific behaviours at the operational level (Ward, 2000). The feed-forward processes relate these levels to a hierarchical structure such that particular actions at the operational level make up those behaviours at the tactical level, and those behaviours are used to achieve the goals of driving, for example, arriving at a destination (Ward, 2000). However, it can be argued that automation removes or reduces drivers' feed-forward control of the driving task, which may, in turn, impair their ability to anticipate events on the road. Yet to what extent this impacts on performance in the transition to manual control at the different levels of driving, is still unclear.

By deconstructing the driving task into its constituent sub-tasks, we can better understand how changes to the relationship between the driver and the vehicle might affect the performance of the driving task as a whole. However, much of the focus in the literature has been on understanding the impact of automating various aspects of the driving task on, how, whether, and when, drivers regain control-level performance. Equally important is understanding how it affects drivers' recovery of adequate performance on the tactical and strategic levels.

These models consider the driving task as a three-way interaction between three



**Figure 1.2:** Combination of performance levels according to Rasmussen (1986) and the hierarchical control levels according to Michon (1985), reproduced from Weller et al. (2006).

agents, the driver, the vehicle, and the environment. However, it can be argued that an automated driving system is an additional agent introduced into these interactions. Changing the structure of the driving task in this way requires a reassessment of the driving model. While there have been multiple models seeking to describe the driving task itself, and others that integrate ACC (see Boer and Hoedemaeker, 1998), little objective research has been undertaken to establish the underlying cognitive mechanisms and mental models that drivers use to operate a highly automated vehicle, and how these mechanisms and models may be subject to decay. This is not altogether surprising as developing an accurate mental model of the dynamics of a system becomes increasingly difficult the more variables, and therefore interactions between them, are present within a system (Matthews et al., 2004). To understand the effects of automation on performance, the following section considers how humans interact with automation, both generally and in the context of the driving task.

#### 1.4 Automation

#### In a contemporary sense, automation refers to

"the mechanisation and integration of the sensing of environmental variables (by artificial sensors), data processing and decision making (by computers); mechanical action (by motors or devices that apply forces to the environment), and/or "information action" by communication of processed information to people." (Sheridan and Parasuraman, 2005).

Applied to driving, the above describes how an automated driving system can perform some or all of the tasks or sub-tasks. Whereas in manual driving all sensing and control is carried out by the human, in current automated vehicles, drivers and their automated driving systems actively cooperate to achieve the primary task of driving, the success of which requires maintenance of a *shared situation representation/awareness* (cf. Christoffersen and Woods, 2002; Hoc, 2000; Stanton, 2016), *"appropriate" reliance* on the automated driving system (Lee and See, 2004), and *transparency* between the automated driving system and the human driver (Lyons, 2013). Strictly from the driver's perspective, this new and central role requires *supervisory control*<sup>1</sup>, where the driver issues instructions with respect to the driving goals, which are then carried out by the automated driving system. Of course, the degree to which continuous supervision is required depends entirely on the capabilities and 'intelligence' of that particular system and the driver's experience with it.

#### 1.4.1 Automated driving

The concept of automated driving was first presented in a 1925 New York Times article (New York Times, 1925), and was included in General Motors' vision of the future at the 1939 New York World's Fair (Geddes, 1940), and after realised in the GM Firebird Concept III, featuring automated steering (Electronic Chauffeurs, 1959). Many examples of the early concepts of automated vehicle concepts relied upon connection to some pre-existing road infrastructure (Guang Lu and Tomizuka, 2002). However, the 1980s and 1990s saw projects focused on developing the hardware and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Elsewhere referred to as *human meta-control* (Sheridan, 1960) and *human supervisory control* (Moray, 1986; Sheridan, 1992a, Sheridan and Verplank, 1978)

software capabilities to enable automated vehicles to operate independently of any infrastructure. These included *Autonomous Land Vehicle (ALV)* (Schefter, 1985), which was funded by the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA), *Vehicle for Autonomous mobility thRough computer vision (VaMoRs)* (Dieckmanns, 1989), *Program for European Traffic with Highest Efficiency and Unprecedented Safety (PROMETHEUS)* (Williams and Preston, 1987), and *The Carnegie Mellon University Navigation Laboratory (NAVLAB)* (Goto and Stentz, 1987; Thorpe et al., 1991). However, some projects were still fully infrastructure dependent, for example, *Automated Highway Systems (AHS)*, run by the PATH Program at The University of California, Berkeley (Shladover, 2006). These projects were followed by three Challenges set by the DARPA: *Grand Challenge II* in 2005 (Buehler et al., 2007) and the *Urban Challenge in 2007* (Buehler et al., 2009), which gave rise to a number of vehicles that were tested on public roads, including *Leonie* (Wille et al., 2010), *AutoNOMOS* (Rojo et al., 2007), and the *Google Car* (Markoff, 2010).

More recently, there have been a number of projects that have focused on the human factors issues related to vehicle automation, while also implementing and evaluating automated functions in vehicles, including *CityMobil* (Toffetti et al., 2009), *Automated Driving Applications & Technologies for Intelligent Vehicles (AdaptIVe)* (Langenberg et al., 2014), *Highly Automated Vehicles for Intelligent Transport (HAVEit)* (Hoeger et al., 2008), *Designing Dynamic Distributed Cooperative Human-Machine Systems (D3CoS)* (Zimmermann and Bengler, 2013), and *Kooperatives hochautomatisiertes Fahren, Cooperative Highly Automated Driving (KoHAF)* (ZENTEC GmbH, 2015).

#### 1.4.2 Levels of automation

Over the years, several attempts have been made to create taxonomies or scales of the degrees of automation (DoA), otherwise referred to as levels of automation (LoA). Early versions, such as the widely used taxonomy presented by Sheridan and Verplank (1978, Table 1.2), are more general and typically account for the *locus of control* (human or automation) and how information is presented to the human. Parasuraman et al. (2000) later adapted the Sheridan and Verplank taxonomy to account for four stages of information processing (perception, analysis, decision-making, and execution) for each level of human-automation interaction. Contextualising a classification in this way allowed it to be used not only as a descriptor of human-automation interaction

but also as a tool to choose appropriate LoAs for the relevant task. More applicationspecific taxonomies include Riley's (1989) model, which is applied to a mixed-initiative human-machine system, and Endsley and Kaber's (1999) model, which accounts for levels of human-automation interaction in real-time control tasks.

**Table 1.2:** Sheridan and Verplank's (1978) Levels of Automation.

	Description
1	Human does the whole job up to the point of turning it over to the computer to implement.
2	Computer helps by determining the options.
3	Computer helps to determine options and suggests one, which human need not follow.
4	Computer selects action and human may or may not do it.
5	Computer selects action and implements it if human approves.
6	Computer selects action, informs human in plenty of time to stop it.
7	Computer does whole job and necessarily tells human what it did.
8	Computer does whole job and tells human what it did only if human explicitly asks.
9	Computer does whole job and decides what the human should be told.
10	Computer does whole job if it decides it should be done, and if so, tells human, if it decides that the human should be told

With the development of technologies bringing automated capabilities to the driving task, attempts have been made to understand human-automation interaction within the driving context. For example, Carsten and Nilsson (2001) sought to categorise different Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS) based on their functionality and proposed four broad categories: (1) systems that provide information, (2) systems that provide warnings or feedback, (3) systems that partly intervene, and (4) systems that facilitate autonomous driving. While specific to ADAS, such broad categories limit the value of Carsten and Nilsson's categorisation. Flemisch et al. (2008) provide a slightly different perspective, viewing the levels of driving automation by the extent to which the human or the system has vehicle control, as opposed to task-specific elements. In a similar approach, the German Federal Highway Research Institute (BASt) working group on automated vehicles developed a categorisation of automated driving functions (Gasser and Westhoff, 2012) as part of the work considering the Vienna Convention and German laws and regulations that may be a barrier for introducing automated vehicles in Germany. The BASt expert group identified five LoAs based on the degree of automation: full automation, high automation, partial automation, driver assistance, and driver only.

In parallel efforts, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA, 2013) and The Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE, 2014) also developed classifications of driving automation. Similar to the BASt taxonomy in many respects, the NHTSA and SAE definitions describe, at each level of automation, what aspects of the primary driving task are performed by the human or the system (i.e. lateral control, longitudinal control, and monitoring), such that as the LoA increases, so does the role of the driver, shifting from a primary controller to a passive supervisor. However, recently the SAE LoAs (Figure 1.3) went further to explicitly delegate responsibility for monitoring the driving task and the road environment, with the driver being responsible for the lower levels (L0, L1, L2) and the system being responsible for the higher levels (L3, L4, L5). The SAE distinction rightly implies an automated driving system should have the capability to monitor the driving environment before it should be allowed to assume control of significant aspects of vehicle control.

This type of categorisation use by SAE has been criticised for implying a hierarchy of the technology, while its natural evolution is not likely to follow this exact path, which creates false expectations amongst policymakers, the press, and the public (Templeton, 2014). Nevertheless, the SAE levels of automation have since become the most widely cited vehicle automation taxonomy, and to standardise and aid clarity and consistency, the U.S. Department of Transportation (2016) adopted the updated 2016 SAE LoA definitions (SAE, 2016) in their Federal policy for automated vehicles. For these reasons, this thesis will adopt the SAE (2016) nomenclature.

At SAE Level 2 (L2, Partial Automation) and Level 3 (L3, Conditional Automation), the primary controllers of the driving task, longitudinal and lateral control, are automated via Adaptive Cruise Control (ACC) and Lane-Keeping Systems (LKS), respectively. This minimises the psychomotor aspect of control and modifies the cognitive element (Kircher et al., 2014), which fundamentally changes the role of the human in the driving task. In L2 systems, the emphasis on drivers' attention is shifted towards monitoring the driving task. In L3, drivers are not expected to monitor driving task but are expected to be available to make decisions and solve problems related to the driving task. In both systems, drivers are expected to be available to resume manual control should the system reach some limit. In the following section, we consider how this interaction most commonly manifests in HAD: the transitions of control.

SAE level	Name	Narrative Definition	Execution of Steering and Acceleration/ Deceleration	<i>Monitoring</i> of Driving Environment	Fallback Performance of <i>Dynamic</i> Driving Task	System Capability (Driving Modes)
Huma	<i>n driver</i> monito	ors the driving environment				
0	No Automation	the full-time performance by the <i>human driver</i> of all aspects of the <i>dynamic driving task</i> , even when enhanced by warning or intervention systems	Human driver	Human driver	Human driver	n/a
1	Driver Assistance	the <i>driving mode</i> -specific execution by a driver assistance system of either steering or acceleration/deceleration using information about the driving environment and with the expectation that the <i>human driver</i> perform all remaining aspects of the <i>dynamic driving task</i>	Human driver and system	Human driver	Human driver	Some driving modes
2	Partial Automation	the <i>driving mode</i> -specific execution by one or more driver assistance systems of both steering and acceleration/ deceleration using information about the driving environment and with the expectation that the <i>human</i> <i>driver</i> perform all remaining aspects of the <i>dynamic driving</i> <i>task</i>	System	Human driver	Human driver	Some driving modes
Autor	nated driving s	<i>ystem</i> ("system") monitors the driving environment				
3	Conditional Automation	the <i>driving mode</i> -specific performance by an <i>automated</i> <i>driving system</i> of all aspects of the dynamic driving task with the expectation that the <i>human driver</i> will respond appropriately to a <i>request to intervene</i>	System	System	Human driver	Some driving modes
4	High Automation	the <i>driving mode</i> -specific performance by an automated driving system of all aspects of the <i>dynamic driving task</i> , even if a <i>human driver</i> does not respond appropriately to a <i>request to intervene</i>	System	System	System	Some driving modes
5	Full Automation	the full-time performance by an <i>automated driving system</i> of all aspects of the <i>dynamic driving task</i> under all roadway and environmental conditions that can be managed by a <i>human driver</i>	System	System	System	All driving modes

Copyright © 2014 SAE International. The summary table may be freely copied and distributed provided SAE International and J3016 are acknowledged as the source and must be reproduced AS-IS.

**Figure 1.3:** Description of Levels of Driving Automation for On-Road Vehicles Emphasising (A) Execution of steering and acceleration/ deceleration, (B) Monitoring of driving environment, (C) Fallback performance of dynamic driving task, and (D) System capability (SAE International, 2016).

#### 1.4.3 Transitions of control

Regarding vehicle automation, the term "*transition*" has been used in the literature to refer to either the activation or deactivation of an automated driving function (Gold et al., 2013), a change in the level of automation (Merat et al., 2014), a transfer of responsibility (Saffarian et al., 2012), or the period between the changing from one vehicle control state to another (Flemisch et al., 2012). The term *transition* has also been used interchangeably in the literature with *handover*, *handoff*, and *take-over*.

In this thesis, the *transition* is defined as, *the process and period of transferring responsibility of, and control over, some or all aspects of a driving task, between a human driver and an automated driving system.* 

While the SAE LoAs show the transitions that could occur between different levels

of control (Figure 1.3), it is equally important to consider a framework delineating the principles of the transfer of control, which has been the subject of a number recent publications (cf. McCall et al., 2016; Lu et al., 2016). Here, we will focus on an ontology developed by Flemisch et al. (2008), outlining three basic principles of transitions.



**Figure 1.4:** All possible transitions occurring between operator and automation at different levels of automation, with green arrows showing the transitions between manual control and highly automated driving, and the blue arrows indicating the transitions between manual control and fully automated driving (Flemisch et al., 2008).

The first principle relates to the direction in which a transition can occur, with Figure 1.4 showing control can be transferred from the driver towards the automated system, e.g. driver activating Adaptive Cruise Control, or transferred from the automated system towards the driver, e.g. system deactivation of a Lane Keeping System due to missing lane markings.

The second principle refers to who initiates the transition, the driver or the automated system. A driver-initiated transition, also referred to by Goodrich and Boer (1999) as a discretionary transition, might occur when the driver wants to take control because they feel their ability is rated as more expedient and safer. A system-initiated transition, otherwise referred to as a mandatory transition, is where the system has reached its limits either due, for example, to automation failure, road blockage, severe weather conditions, or sudden manoeuvres by another vehicle (Saffarian et al., 2012). However, there are also instances where system-initiated transition may be triggered in non-failure situations, for example, at the end of a programmed route.

The third principle considers who has control at the start of the transition and who is the recipient of the transition request.

	$\underline{Hi} \to A$	$\underline{H} \to Ai$	$\mathrm{Hi} \leftarrow \underline{\mathrm{A}}$	$\mathbf{H} \leftarrow \mathbf{\underline{Ai}}$
Who has "it"?	Human	Human	Automation	Automation
Who should get "it"?	Automation	Automation	Human	Human
Who initiates transition?	Human	Automation	Human	Automation

**Table 1.3:** Transition of control from human to automation (redrawn from Martens et al., 2007).

As part of the CityMobil project, Martens et al. (2007) proposed an ontology outlining the four different classes of transitions. The ontology is summarised in Table 1.3, with "H" referring to the Human and "A" to the Automation system. The underlined letters in the table specify who is in control, with the arrows representing the direction in which the transition is occurring, and the "i" defining which agent is initiating the transition.

Under baseline driving circumstances, drivers who are in safe manual control of a vehicle are assumed to have adequate levels of SA. In such a scenario, a driver-initiated transition from manual driving to HAD ( $\underline{\text{Hi}} \rightarrow \text{A}$  and  $\underline{\text{H}} \rightarrow \text{Ai}$ ) would be less complex from a human factors perspective, as the driver can choose whether to initiate, accept, or reject the transition request. Therefore, driver-initiated transitions are less likely to present a significant threat to safety than a transition HAD to manual control. The exception to this is if drivers assume that an attempted HAD activation is successful when it is not, and they mistakenly relinquish physical control.

In transitions from HAD to manual (Hi  $\leftarrow \underline{A}$  and H  $\leftarrow \underline{Ai}$ ), however, Endsley and Kiris (1995) argue that a system should have to consider driver state before relinquishing control, as drivers cannot be relied upon to guarantee they are sufficiently aware of the situation to ensure safe return-to-manual driving. Should the system be equipped with a driver monitoring system, the decision to relinquish driving control would have to be based on some empirical data of drivers' capacity and behaviour, in such conditions. For example, if the pattern of drivers' visual attention in the lead up to a transition shows that they were completely disengaged from the driving task, then a take-over-request could be delayed until drivers' attention is back on the driving task. Otherwise, the vehicle may initiate a minimum risk manoeuvre, bringing the vehicle to a safe position on the road. At present, this data does not exist. Therefore, it is further motivation to investigate drivers' capabilities and limitations in a research
setting.

#### 1.4.4 Human-automation interaction

Automation creates a trade-off between performance benefits and performance costs (Bainbridge, 1983; Sheridan, 2002). As seen in the aviation domain, as the degree of automation increases, there is an increased risk that performance following return to manual control will be degraded (Endsley and Kiris, 1995). A meta-analysis investigating the impact of degrees of automation (DoA) on human performance concluded that humans are much more vulnerable to automation "failures" when the DoA moves across the critical boundary from information acquisition and analysis to selecting and executing a particular action (Onnasch et al., 2013). However, these are conclusions drawn from observations of automation in control process tasks, such as traffic control tasks and unmanned aerial vehicle routeing tasks, and it remains to be seen if this relationship exists for vehicle automation.

Nevertheless, this apparent trade-off puts forward the paradoxical recommendation that, with increasing DoA, it is increasingly important that drivers are to some extent kept "in-the-loop", via decision and action selection as well as action implementation (Merat and Jamson, 2008). However, this argument is at odds with the espoused benefits of full automation, which would see drivers relieved of not only the driving task but also of managing or supervising vehicle automation. Also, classical vigilance studies (Mackworth, 1950) have shown that it is virtually impossible for an individual to maintain constant attention towards a source of information that does not often change, to monitor for any system changes, requests, or errors (Bainbridge, 1983). This limitation manifests as interaction errors and accidents, which have motivated much of the research on human-automation interaction (Wiener and Curry, 1980).

#### Mental workload and performance in the transition

One way to conceptualise performance in the transition is to consider it within the framework of mental workload (MWL) theory (Figure 1.5; De Waard, 1996), which follows the inverted-U function of the Yerkes-Dodson (1908) principle of optimal arousal. Mental workload is defined as "*the reaction to demand*", and "*the proportion of capacity that is allocated for task performance*" (De Waard, 1996). The model holds that



Figure 1.5: Workload and performance in six regions (De Waard, 1996).

conditions of extremely low task demand and under-stimulation (region D) will lead to decreased attention and diminished cortical arousal (Grandjean, 1979), which will result in low-performance efficiency. Performance is optimal in region A2, where the operator can easily cope with the task demand without changes to task performance. In regions A1 and A3, performance is not affected, but the operator has to increase effort to match task-demands. However, when task demands become too great, and task-related effort cannot be maintained, performance will decline (region B) until the high task-demand causes operator overload or fatigue, shown in region C, which results in low-performance efficiency (Hancock and Verwey, 1997).

Though the MWL model has been discredited on many fronts in terms of its ability to predict performance impairments (Matthews et al., 2000), task demand is a critical factor in the development of active and passive fatigue states, the latter of which would most likely be induced should significant aspects of the driving task be automated (De Winter et al., 2014). To illustrate the role of MWL on performance in the transition, let us consider an example from aviation.

The challenges presented by automation in aviation are in some ways analogous to those emerging in vehicle automation. For many years, aircraft have contained components that support the pilot by automating entire sub-tasks, including autothrottle, anti-skid braking systems and flight management systems. Compared to ground vehicles, these can be likened to traction control, anti-lock braking system (ABS) and forward collision warning systems (FCW). These systems are mainly aimed at supporting the safety intentions of the operator. However, it is the automated systems that assume some level of control over the aircraft that have created challenges regarding human-automation interaction, and not only concerning mode confusion and incorrect mental models of the automated system. Automating these aspects of the flying task does not necessarily reduce pilot workload, it simply transfers it to other tasks such as monitoring the system for errors (Parasuraman et al., 1996). During periods where workload demands are quite low, such as routine in-flight operations, pilots' monitoring behaviour has been shown to degrade (Sumwalt et al., 2002). This becomes most critical when a pilot is expected to rapidly direct 100% attentional effort to a task, due to a time-critical situation, such as during descent and final approach or if an automated system malfunctions or reaches a system limit. Here, the sudden increase in workload (moving from region A3 to B to C, in Figure 1.5), results in a concomitant decrease in performance, which manifests as poor decision-making or taking unsafe actions.

Similarly, should an driver who is disengaged from the driving task, be required to resume manual control from HAD, the mental demand for redirecting attention to both the cognitive and physical aspects of the driving task may also to lead to overload, especially for inexperienced or untrained drivers (Merat et al., 2012). Moreover, expecting a driver to monitor the automated system for long periods of time, while not being in control of the vehicle, can also lead to mental overload should the driver be unexpectedly required to attend to the driving task. Research in the aviation domain has also shown that the longer and more frequent a pilot uses automation, the more impaired their manual flight skills become (Wiener, 1988). The United States Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) acknowledged this in a recent Safety Alert For Operators (SAFO), discussing the findings of analysis done on flight operations, that there was an increase in manual handling errors (FAA, 2013). The report states, "continuous use of auto flight systems could lead to a degradation of a pilot's ability to quickly recover the aircraft from an undesired state". The SAFO recommended that operators incorporate "emphasis of manual flight operations into both line operations and training". It should not be taken lightly that the aviation industry is expressing such grave concern over the effects of automation, especially as pilots are typically more highly skilled, with more experience and operate in less complex environments than average drivers

of ground vehicles.

However, a strict interpretation of performance from an MWL perspective assumes a set workload requirement during a transition, where in practice it is more dynamic. For example, traffic situations tend to change quite quickly. Therefore, there may be instances where drivers are asked to resume manual control, but as soon as doing so, any subsequent change in the road and traffic scenario may be associated with an increase or decrease in MWL for the driver. Therefore, it is also important to consider the effect of MWL in the transition in concert with the characteristics of both the transition and what drivers are doing before period of the transition.

While tasks requiring moderate MWL have traditionally been encouraged, to ward off the deleterious effects of underload and overload on attention (Hancock and Verwey, 1987; Schömig et al., 2015), in the context of transitions it is not clear whether this is sufficient to ensure a safe transition to manual driving, especially as task characteristics vary in terms of their stimulus attributes, conceptual criteria, goal states (what to do), and action rules (how to do it). It is clearly important, therefore, to understand the effect of different driver activities during automation on their ability to safely resume manual control. The following sections consider some factors known and hypothesised to influence drivers' performance in the transition.

## 1.5 Driver-based factors influencing performance in the transition

There is a range of factors contributing to the aetiology of automation-related interaction errors and accidents, including insufficient or inappropriate system feedback, misunderstanding of automation, and over-reliance on automation (Billings, 1997; Parasuraman and Byrne, 2003; Parasuraman and Riley, 1997). In addition, a number of inter-related psychological factors have been linked to drivers' capacity to interact safely with automated driving systems, including trust, mental models, situation awareness, and the out-of-the-loop problem (Young and Stanton, 2002; Merat and Jamson, 2009; Kircher et al., 2014; De Winter et al., 2015; Seppelt and Victor, 2016). These will be discussed below.

#### 1.5.1 Trust

Automation trust can be described as "the attitude that an agent will help achieve an individual's goals in a situation characterised by uncertainty and vulnerability" (Lee and See, 2004, p. 51). Trust is an important factor determining the success of human-automation interaction, as it shapes users' willingness to rely on automation (Lee and See, 2004). However, it is equally important that users' develop appropriate reliance, as levels of trust that do not match the capabilities of the system, i.e. over trust or distrust, may lead to misuse or disuse, which are detrimental to safety (Parasuraman and Riley, 1997).

In their dynamic model of automation trust and reliance, Lee and See (2004) propose that trust is formed through a dynamic interaction between the automation, interface, operator and context, which is guided by three important elements: *First*, that trust and reliance are part of a closed-loop feedback process, where a user's trust in automation is guided by their reliance on it, and the user's reliance on the automation is in turn guided by their trust in it. The *second* element proposes that whether or not this trust translates into actual reliance depends on contextual factors such as user workload and effort to engage. *Third*, developing appropriate trust is highly dependent on how users' interpret information about the automation, and, therefore, the content and format of information displays are crucial to calibrating trust.

#### 1.5.2 Mental models

For an operator to have effective control over any process, they must possess a mental model of that system (Johnson-Laird, 1980; Norman, 1983, Moray, 1990). A mental model is an operator's memory of a system, which is used to predict how or whether that system will respond to different control inputs and environmental changes (Klein and Crandall, 1995). The highest levels of situation awareness (Endsley, 1995a; see Section 1.5.3) are achieved when the controller can anticipate the future state of the system (Endsley and Kiris, 1995), and the accuracy of a mental model is related to their experience and training with that system, while its weakness may be caused by inconsistent system behaviours.

With the introduction of semi-automated driving systems, vehicle control and responsibility are shared between two agents, a driver and vehicle. A driver's mental model of that system's functionality will inform their decision about whether or not to intervene in particular situations. Should a driver's mental model be inconsistent with the *actual* system model, he/she may either intervene *unnecessarily* or worse, he/she may fail to intervene when it *is necessary* (Stanton and Young, 2000; Pauwelussen and Feenstra, 2011).

Therefore, mental models will play a crucial role in drivers' problem solving, judgement, decision making and abilities to plan and act, during their interactions with an automated driving system (Beggiato and Krems, 2013). It is of utmost importance, therefore, that drivers can develop appropriate models of the system's functionalities because both inappropriate intervention and active failure to intervene present a risk to safety (Sarter and Woods, 1995).

#### 1.5.3 Situation awareness

Situation awareness (SA) is considered one of the most important of human factors constructs that are predictive of performance and safety (Parasuraman et a., 2008). Humans are highly adaptable, able to solve complex problems, and have a superior sensory system, making them highly capable drivers that can navigate effectively (Fletcher, 2008). However, for a human to fulfil these competencies in a driving context depends first and foremost on their awareness and understanding of the situation and environment.

#### What is situation awareness?

Several attempts have been made to develop a concise definition of SA, with Endlsey's (1988) being the most commonly cited:

"Situation awareness is the perception of the elements in the environment within a volume of time and space, the comprehension of their meaning, and the projection of their status in the near future."

Endsley (1995a) elaborated on this statement to define SA on three levels: Level 1 SA (*perception*) involves being aware of various elements of information in the environment



**Figure 1.6:** Endlsey's model of SA. This is a synthesis of versions she has given in several sources, notably Endsley (1995a) and Endsley et al. (2000), in Jin, 2008.

relevant to successful task performance, such as the size, colour, location and speed of objects. Level 2 SA (*comprehension*) refers to the ability to interpret the meaning, context and significance of that information, and is integrally linked to Level 1 SA. The third stage, Level 3 SA (*prediction*), refers to an ability to predict the future state or configuration of the environmental conditions, interpreted through Level 1 and Level 2 SA (Endsley, 1995a; Figure 1.6). SA does not only imply a driver knows what is going on, but that they know what is going on with elements in the environment specific to the driving task.

The levels of SA are hierarchically dependent, which means, for example, that a lack of visual cues and proprioceptive information at (Level 1 SA) will result in inaccurate meaning/sense making and prediction (Level 3 SA) (Ward, 2000). Conversely, an inaccurate prediction of future situations (Level 3 SA) can lead to a misinterpretation of the environmental context (Level 2 SA), which can lead to a false interpretation of specific elements in the environment (Level 1 SA). Therefore, in the same way, that the driving task requires both sufficient feed-forward and feedback elements to support task performance, and goal attainment, so sufficient SA on all three levels is necessary (Ward, 2000).

#### Assessing situation awareness

SA has been investigated in numerous domains, to investigate human performance, including military aviation (Endsley, 1995b), air traffic control (Endsley and Kiris, 1995), military operations (Matthews et al., 2000), driving (Walker et al., 2004) and the process industry (Hogg et al., 1995). Most researchers (e.g. Fracker, 1991; Sarter and Woods, 1995; Wickens, 1992) divide the measures for SA into three broad categories: (a) explicit, (b) *implicit*, (c) and *subjective* measures. *Explicit* measures require individuals to report material in memory, either retrospectively or concurrently, including freeze techniques, such as the well-known Situation Awareness Global Assessment Technique (SAGAT; Endsley, 1995b), which has been shown to have predictive validity. For example, in the aviation domain, Endsley (1990) showed that SAGAT scores were indicative of pilot performance in a simulation. *Implicit* measures utilise task performance to infer SA, which makes them objective and unobtrusive, but are limited in that poor performance may be as a result of factors other than low SA. Using subjective measures, such as the Situation Awareness Rating Technique (SART; Taylor, 1989), SA is assessed by self-assessment or by an observer. For example, Endsley et al. (2000) measured SA via real-time probes in an air traffic control task and found some relationship between SART and other SA measures but not SAGAT. While subjective measures are practical and easy to implement, they cannot be compared across raters, and scores may be skewed based on how good or bad operators perceived their task performance.

Despite the popularity of SA in the academic literature, there are some questions regarding its utility and scientific validity (Flach, 1995), with some accusing SA models of being limited by linear, information-processing theory, and providing a false distinction between cause and effect (Chiappe et al., 2011). Dekker and Hollnagel (2004), for example, described SA as a "folk model", lacking substance and offering no useful explanation of *how* failures arise, while Sarter and Woods (1995) note that precise definitions of SA are context-dependent, which limits its usefulness as a general theoretical concept. Endsley (2015) recently argued that many of these criticisms have arisen out of misconceptions or misunderstandings of the original Endsley (1995a) model. For example, Endsley (2015) argues that many researchers (e.g. Sorensen et al., 2010; Salmon et al., 2012; Dekker and Lutzhoft, 2004) incorrectly state that the levels of SA in Endsley model, are linear, where they, in fact, represent ascending levels of SA. She went on to rebut these and other 'fallacies' by referring to a strong body of

empirical work supporting SA as a diagnostic tool for different humans states, and as a useful prescriptive model. Next, we consider research focused on the assessment of SA in HAD.

#### Situation awareness in HAD

In a critical review of the literature, De Winter et al. (2014) argued there is a close link between HAD and SA, based on studies of drivers' eye movements, tests of object detection, engaging in tasks unrelated to driving, and responses to critical incidents. With regards to eye movements and tests of object detection and comprehension, there is an assumption that if a driver is scanning the road environment, they will have better SA. For engaging in tasks unrelated to driving, there is an assumption that increased engagement in these tasks will mean lower SA, while for responses to critical incidences, there is an assumption that the better the responses, the better the SA.

**Eye movements** In terms of drivers' eye movements, a few studies (e.g. Carsten et al., 2012; Damböck et al., 2013) have found that, compared to manual driving, drivers in HAD were overwhelmingly less likely to monitor the road, especially the centre of the visual field, where accidents are more likely to occur. Carsten et al. (2012), for example, found that, for the 24 drivers who did not focus on the DVD player during HAD, their visual attention was concentrated on the central region of the road only 53% of the time, compared to 72% in manual driving. While these results do not necessarily allow us to conclude specifically on maintenance or loss of SA, they do give some indication that drivers under automation are more inclined to lose SA for the driving task/environment during HAD, only because they are not monitoring the driving task. Moreover, it is well established that the more visual attention is paid to the road scene so the potential for higher SA increases (Green, 1999; Chaparro et al., 1999), therefore, it follows that the reverse would also be true. However, few studies have examined eye gaze behaviour for drivers with varying levels of engagement with the driving task during HAD, which is pertinent given the range of different tasks/activities that drivers could engage with during automation.

One example is that of Merat et al. (2014), who analysed drivers' reaction times after automation disengaged automatically if they were not looking at the road centre for longer than 10 s. The authors found that there was a 10-15 s lag time between when automation disengaged and drivers' resuming of control. In another driving simulator study, Gold et al. (2013) showed that, in-between a take-over request and resumption of control, drivers tended to fixate on side mirrors, which suggests that this time is used regain SA *before* resuming control. Lorenz et al. (2014) reporting that drivers are quick to direct visual attention to the road scene but struggle to instantly understand the situation. However, the precise eye movement patterns underlying the process of SA recovery in the transition for drivers with varying levels of SA is not clear, and deserve further investigation.

**Tests of object detection** There are conflicting conclusions regarding the impact of vehicle automation on driver SA when based on tests of object detection. For the most part, these discrepancies can be attributed to differences in methodological approaches and interpretation of SA results. For instance, in their meta-analysis of SA and HAD, with tests of object detection and comprehension, De Winter et al. (2014) analysed studies by Davis et al. (2008) and McDowell et al. (2008) and concluded that HAD can result in improved SA compared to manual driving, as drivers in HAD were able to detect more targets in the road scene. It is curious, though, that the authors drew this conclusion for SA in HAD, as the studies were on military convoy drivers that had to detect targets in the road scene, and not anything pertaining to the environment related to the driving task. It is incorrect to conclude on SA if the task used to measure it does not in any way form part of what is being investigated in the first place. The object detection task was not related to performance in the driving task and, therefore, it is tenuous to assume that maintaining SA in one task implies a maintained SA in another. Other studies have come to different conclusions on SA. Biondi et al. (2014) used a surprise recognition memory task developed by Strayer et al. (2003), to assess the impact of automation on SA during a drive, which is an explicit retrospective measure of SA. Using a between-subjects design, the authors found that drivers in HAD were able to recall fewer detailed features in the environment than those in the manual driving group. This is an interesting means to probe SA without imposing additional workload during the task. Its utility is limited, however, as participants may intentionally memorise features in the road scene if they suspect they might be asked about these at a point in the future. Moreover, it is difficult to draw conclusions on task-specific SA with a metric designed to assess general SA.

Non-driving related activities There is a consensus in the literature that HAD encourages higher uptake of non-driving related activities, compared to manual driving. Carsten et al. (2012) report that, during HAD, drivers were more likely to use a DVD player than during manual driving (32.5% vs 2.6% of the time) and also more likely to use the radio (54.1% vs. 41.4% of the time) and even read a magazine (9% of the time). This is confirmed by other studies, with Llaneras et al. (2013) finding that, during HAD, half of the participants texted or emailed during a 1.5h-2h drive. The authors found that participants engaged in a number of other tasks during HAD including eating, reaching for an item in the rear compartment, dialling and talking on the cell phone. The fact that drivers chose to partake in tasks unrelated to driving does not necessarily reflect the extent to which SA has been lost, or indeed that they have impaired SA at all. As with measures of eye movements, it simply gives an indication of the extent to which SA could possibly be lost. A further limitation of this method is that the authors do not link the type of reaction to any safety or performance-related outcomes, which would be useful to form a holistic view of the importance of SA to performance in the transition.

**Reactions to critical events** Measuring drivers' reactions to critical events while in HAD has become a standard methodology for the assessment of the impact of HAD on performance. As part of the CityMobil project, Merat and Jamson (2008) examined driver reactions to a number of 'critical' incidents, including merger from the left, an oncoming car turning across the vehicle path, the presence of traffic lights, and the presence of a parked car. Drivers' responses in manual driving were compared to those in HAD, where a critical incident triggered automation disengagement and the driver was expected to respond. The authors used a measure of 'anticipation', defined as drivers' ability to predict and understand the behaviour of traffic during these critical events, to conclude on drivers' SA. Anticipation was measured as the difference in time between the lead car's brake lights coming into sight and when drivers depressed their brake pedal. Results showed that, for the three longitudinal critical events, drivers in the automated driving condition braked on average 1.5 s later than in the manual driving condition. In the lateral critical event (parked car), 28 of the 38 drivers in the automated driving condition braked after the collision warning alarm was emitted. One possible explanation is that drivers were less aware of the unfolding events. However, the authors suggest it may also be because drivers

over-relied on the automated system, concluding that the use of an automated driving system may reduce drivers' situational awareness and may also cause drivers to become complacent behind the wheel.

While it is possible to make inferences about the state of drivers' SA, there are a number of factors in the design of these critical events which can influence how drivers react. These include the time budget within which a driver is required to resume control, the road and traffic scenario and the way in which automation status and take-over request is communicated, and are discussed in Section 1.6.

#### 1.5.4 The out-of-the-loop problem

A key underlying factor contributing to the issues outlined above is the out-of-theloop (OoTL) performance problem (Kaber and Endsley, 2003). According to Kienle et al. (2009), a driver is considered OoTL when they are "not immediately aware of the vehicle and the road traffic situation because they are not actively monitoring, making decisions or providing input to the driving task". Therefore, OoTL refers to a state where an operator loses awareness of the system state and external situation due to limited human-system interaction (Endsley and Kiris, 1996). This is typified by a reduced ability for an operator to re-enter the system control loop and resume manual control. In this sense, OoTL pertains more to the state of the system than the state of other elements in the environment, which is the focus of SA. However, these are not mutually exclusive. In the first instance, humans are poor supervisors and therefore not efficient at detecting system errors (Parasuraman and Riley, 2007). Also, in the event of an automation failure, the time it would take to re-orient an OoTL operator to both the system state and the task at hand would most likely result in either a diminished effectiveness of the task or even a total failure to complete the task (Kaber and Endsley, 2003). The concept of an OoTL state offers an insight into the performance consequences of automation. However, it does not incorporate aspects related to automation-induced complacency and automation bias, which plays a key role in the development of the OoTL state (Parasuraman and Manzey, 2010).

#### 1.5.5 Complacency and automation bias

Parasuraman and Manzey (2010) describe complacency as an attention allocation strategy, where automated tasks are neglected in favour of manual tasks, and which is comprised of trust, confidence, reliance, and safety-related complacency (Parasuraman et al., 1992). Automation bias, however, refers to omission or commission errors made by operators, essentially a tendency towards over-reliance on automation (Parasuraman and Manzey, 2010). These phenomena highlight issues with imperfect automation and help explain why drivers might experience difficulties when automation does not function as it should. To better understand these regarding performance consequences, Parasuraman and Manzey (2010) developed an integrated model of complacency and automation bias (Figure 1.7).



**Figure 1.7:** An integrated model of complacency and automation bias (Parasuraman and Manzey, 2010).

The model consists of three critical features: 1) it distinguishes between two aspects of complacency and automation bias, referred to as "*complacency potential*" and "*attentional bias*" in information processing (Singh et al. 1993a, 1993b), 2) the differentiation between automation-induced attentional phenomena and its possible performance consequences, and 3) two feedback loops reflecting the dynamic and adaptive nature of complacency and automation bias (Manzey and Bahner, 2005). The authors conceive complacency potential as a tendency to react in a less attentive manner when interacting with a particular automated system, which is influenced

by system properties (e.g. perceived reliability and consistency) and also individual characteristics of the operator (e.g. attitudes and personality). These factors are thought to have a much stronger influence over complacency when task load is high and, therefore, related to attentional bias (task prioritisation and allocation of attentional resources). These two phenomena lead to the loss of SA, which manifests as a performance consequence should automation fail, but has no direct performance consequence if automation functions normally (Parasuraman and Manzey, 2010).

The presence of positive and negative feedback loops in the model implies that performance consequences are not due to a lack of appropriate system competency or knowledge. While the model does account for the influence of an individuals' state on attentional bias, the authors provide no explanation for how different operator and motivational states might affect performance consequences. So while the model provides a coherent account of the role of complacency and attention bias in the loss of SA, and, therefore ,performance consequences, it is limited in its ability to account for the exact role of drivers' engagement with the driving task, nor does the original description of the OoTL phenomenon, described in the previous section. A possible solution to this shortfall is to combine these concepts to form a view of interaction regarding different levels of engagement with the driving task.

For instance, Banks and Stanton (2014) used previous work on human-automation interaction to theorise four states of engagement with a driving task, across a combination of in/out-of-the-loop and active/passive states (Table 1.4). While plausible, the authors provide no empirical results to validate these different states concerning HAD. They also only refer to driver state regarding the driving task and make no mention of the impact of arousal on these states. For instance, the Out-of-the-loop & Passive state does not distinguish between a driver who is cognitively engaged in a non-driving related task and one who is mind-wandering. Moreover, tasks vary widely regarding their cognitive, visual, and auditory loads. Therefore, if interacting with automated driving systems could give rise to these different states of engagement, then it is vital to establish exactly what these are and what their implications are for a drivers' ability to resume control. This is key to developing appropriate strategies for ensuring drivers safely and efficiently re-engage in manual driving. For example, human-machine systems that emphasise either situation-relevant information or haptic vehicle control support during the transition, or both.

	In-the-loop	Out-of-the-loop
Active	The driver is in full control of the vehicle and actively engaged in the driving task.	The driver is in full control of the vehicle but showing characteristics of being out-of-the-loop e.g. driving without attention.
Passive	The driver is no longer in control of the vehicle but remains vigilant to the driving task.	The driver is no longer in control of the vehicle and becomes desensitised to the driving task.

Table 1.4: States of engagement with a driving task (Banks and Stanton, 2014).

# **1.6** Vehicle/Environment-based factors influencing performance in the transition

There are a number of vehicle/environment-based factors shown to influence driver performance in the transition, including the transition time budget, the design of the HMI, and the road and traffic situation.

#### 1.6.1 Time budget

A primary area of interest in the study of transitions in HAD in recent years is the time it takes for drivers to resume manual control given a particular time budget or lead time (e.g. Damböck et al., 2012; Gold et al., 2013; Naujoks et al., 2014; Zeeb et al., 2015; Payre et al., 2016). Damböck et al. (2012) was the first to systematically vary the time budget available to drivers following a take-over request. Comparing time budgets of 4 s, 5 s, 6 s, and 8 s, the authors found that, compared to when in manual control, drivers crashed significantly more frequently in all time budget conditions except for the 8 s condition. Gold et al. (2013) examined driver behaviour following an auditory take-over request at either 5 s or 7 s time-to-collisions, with a stationary vehicle in the lane ahead. Results were compared to a baseline group that performed the same task but in manual driving. The Gold et al. study provides a detailed account of behavioural responses to different take-over times (see Figure 1.8). Drivers with a shorter time budget (5 s) were able to react faster in all considered variables compared to drivers given a longer time budget (7 s), but they tended to have fewer glances at the rear and side mirrors before a lane change and were also less likely to use an indicator. Therefore, drivers who were given a 5 s time budget showed more erratic



Figure 1.8: Reaction sequences in the Gold et al. (2014) study.

behaviour following a take-over.

Using a similar rear-end near-crash situation, van den Beukel and van der Voort (2013) found that, when given time budgets of 1.5 s and 2.8 s, drivers in in 47.5% and 12.5% of cases, respectively, were unable to avoid colliding with a braking lead vehicle. Zeeb et al. (2015) found similar crash rates, where 45% of drivers who were given a time budget of 4.9 s crashed with a lead vehicle, and where 15% of drivers given a 6.6 s time budget, crashed. These studies clearly demonstrate that, in time-pressured take-over scenarios, drivers struggle to resume vehicle control and resolve the critically of the situation.

However, the motivation of focusing on driver responses given different time budgets arises from a need to define operational and technical parameters for the design of automated driving systems, which, as pointed out by Larsson (2013), provides only a narrow view of how drivers interact with their automated driving system. This is especially true considering that some other external factors in the transition scenario vary between studies. This limits our understanding of deeper behavioural adaptations brought about by such system interactions, and, therefore, how they should be designed to ensure safe and efficient interactions.

#### **1.6.2** Human-Machine Interface (HMI)

The Human-Machine Interface (HMI) is used to provide system feedback to users, which is argued to be important for appropriate human-automation interactions (Norman, 1990). Incorrect or insufficient system feedback could result in drivers developing inaccurate mental models, which could lead to errors in decision or action (Sarter and Woods, 1995). To ensure that feedback is both correct and sufficient, Norman (1990) proposed a set of four design criteria for automation HMIs, as follows: "*Appropriate design should (1) assume the existence of error, (2) it should continually provide feedback, (3) it should continually interact with operators in an effective manner, and (4) it should allow for the worst of situations*" (Norman, 1990).

The design of feedback and warning systems for automated vehicles typically communicate information in range of modalities (for a review, see Manca et al., 2015), sequences (Radlmayr et al., 2014), and with various meanings (Lorenz et al., 2014; Beller et al., 2013).

The nature of the HMI has been shown to have some mediating effect on performance in the transition. For example, concerning modality, Naujoks et al. (2014) assessed driver performance following 'visual' and 'visual + auditory' take-over requests in three different traffic scenarios. Reaction time, measured as hands on the steering wheel, was significantly higher for the 'visual' group compared to the 'visual + auditory' group (6.19 s vs. 2.29 s). Similarly, both maximum lateral position and SDLP were significantly higher for the 'visual' group compared to the 'visual + auditory' (0.84 m vs. 0.43 m and 0.30 m vs. 0.15 m, respectively). Differences between modality conditions were more pronounced the more difficult the traffic scenario. Lee et al. (2002) found that an auditory warning elicited significantly shorter braking times, irrespective of whether participants were distracted or not.

Petermeijer et al. (2015) investigated the usefulness of vibrotactile stimuli embedded in drivers' seats to elicit faster take-over time. The authors found that, when the vibrations were presented in a static pattern, steering wheel touch and steering input reaction times were approximately 200 ms faster than when presented in a dynamic pattern, which indicated a directional cue for a lane change manoeuvre However, the study did not include a non-vibrotactile condition against which to evaluate the usefulness of vibrotactile warnings. Lorenz et al. (2014) investigated two augmented reality (AR) concepts for warnings and information during the transition. An "AR red" concept projected a restricted corridor directly onto the road scene, showing the driver where they must not steer through, while an "AR green" concept displayed a safe corridor showing the driver where they can steer through, and a control condition provided no AR information. There was no difference between the two concepts regarding take-over time. However, drivers in the "AR green" concept had better vehicle control, as measured by steering trajectories, and longitudinal and lateral accelerations.

In a driving simulator study, Beller et al. (2013) used symbols of automation uncertainty in an attempt to improve driver-automation interaction. The authors compared the use of automation uncertainty versus no uncertainty information in high and low automation reliability conditions and found that displaying automation uncertainty increased time-to-collision in the case of automation failure. These studies confirmed the importance of system feedback during the transition in improving not only performance but also acceptance of and trust in the automated system.

#### 1.6.3 Road and traffic scenario

There are some road and traffic situations that have been investigated in studies of the transition and typically reflect actual or predicted limitations or boundaries, of an automated driving system. These include situations where the vehicle is reaching a target destination, surrounding vehicles or road works obstruct intended journey path, technical/sensor failure, and a system limitation in dealing with unaccounted for road and traffic scenarios, such as an accident or absence of road infrastructure supporting the automation.

Radlmayr et al. (2014) investigated the effect of varying traffic situations and non-driving related tasks on the process and quality of a system-initiated take-over. The experiment was conducted in a high-fidelity simulator and used the standardised visual Surrogate Reference Task (SuRT) and the cognitive n-back task to simulate the non-driving related tasks. The study included four traffic situations each with a time budget of 7 s: In situation No. 1, an obstacle appeared in the middle lane, while the right and left lane were blocked by vehicles at the time of the take-over request (TOR). In situation No. 2, an obstacle appeared in the right lane while no other

vehicles were present during the situation. In situation No. 3, the obstacle appeared on the left lane. Situation No. 4 closely resembled No. 1, except that the two adjacent lanes were not blocked. The authors used a range of dependent variables to infer quality of the transition. These included take-over time, longitudinal acceleration, time to collision (TTC), the total number of collisions during take-over, results from a Detection Response Task (DRT) and the subjective rating. The authors concluded that traffic scenario and traffic density had a substantial effect on take-over quality in a highway setting. Similarly, Kircher et al. (2014) found that drivers' response times were moderated by whether the driver was pre-warned and by the type of scenario. Traffic density has been shown to influence how long drivers need to regain situation awareness and resume control (Jamson et al., 2013; Gold et al., 2016). These suggest that performance in the transition is dependent on the complexity of the traffic scenario. However, Naujoks et al. (2014) found no effect of traffic scenarios in a take-over event.

## 1.7 Summary and key research gaps

Impaired performance during in human-automation interaction is typically attributed to the *out-of-the-loop (OoTL) phenomenon* (Endsley and Kiris, 1995). However, depending on the context, the term *"loop"* has been used to refer to one of a range of factors, including varying degrees of physical control, cognitive control, awareness, and feedback. Moreover, it may be concluded that some of the key gaps in our knowledge on how drivers interact with automated driving systems can be defined in the following broad terms:

- With the appeal of automation to free drivers' attention in the vehicle, the research community has focused on understanding the impact of engagement in one or two non-driving related secondary tasks at a time, on behaviour and performance. However, given the importance of SA to safe human-automation interaction, it is notable that little research has compared the effects of a range of conditions that systematically vary the impact of drivers' SA during automation to investigate drivers' performance during the resumption of manual control.
- A common approach in assessing driver behaviour during automation is to

employ metrics traditionally used in the study of manual driving, which, as discussed in the following chapters, often fall short of what is necessary to quantify not only how drivers interact with automation, but also the quality of that interaction. It may be concluded that there has been no consistently applied objective measure of the quality of performance after the transition. SAE International (2014, p. 7) states that performance is taken to be "the timely, safe, and correct performance of the dynamic driving task for the prevailing circumstances", yet quite how studies define this is either scarcely reported, and varies widely. Some studies have focused on take-over time as a measure (Gold et al., 2014), while others have considered minimum time to collision (TTC; Gold et al., 2013), minimum time headway (Merat and Jamson, 2009), and maximum accelerations (Zeeb et al., 2016; Hergeth et al., 2016). However, take-over time and other response-time based measures do not detail the quality of vehicle control following the transition, and while this can be described in part by TTC and vehicle-based measures, their interpretation is somewhat constrained by the kinematics of the scenario. Therefore, a deeper understanding of how these performance measures should be interpreted in the context of the transition is required.

Clearly, these issues have contributed to the research community's inability to concur on a definition of an out-of-the-loop driver, how this state is assessed and classified, and what behavioural response profiles reflect an efficient and safe transition to manual control. If we can understand the nature of the OoTL performance problem, and how this interacts with SA, we will be better able to predict performance breakdowns in different situations, which will inform the design of more humancentered automated driving systems that augment drivers' capabilities and mitigate their limitations.

### 1.8 Research questions and thesis overview

The aim of this thesis is to investigate the nature of the out-of-the-loop phenomenon in highly automated driving, and its effect on driver behaviour during automated driving and the transition from automated to manual control. In particular, the thesis seeks to address the following questions:

- 1. How does automation affect drivers' performance in transition situations requiring control- and tactical-level responses?
- 2. How does automation affect drivers' behaviour in automation compared to manual driving?
- 3. What is the pattern of drivers' visual attention distribution during automation?
- 4. How does automation affect drivers' visual attention distribution in the transition?
- 5. How does automation affect drivers' perceptual-motor performance during and immediately after the transition?

To induce a range of OoTL states during HAD, drivers were exposed to various OoTL manipulations. These manipulations varied regarding drivers' secondary task engagement as well as the amount of visual information available to drivers from the system and road environment.

As outlined in Figure 1.9, the overall structure of the study takes the form of seven chapters.



36

- Chapter two reports on a study that sought to establish a realistic highway usecase for studying human-automation interaction, as well as a methodology to probe drivers' ability to respond to critical road events following the resumption of control from automation. To vary driver workload during the transition while maintaining the same use-case, drivers were given directional cues for a lane change manoeuvre, based on the colour of the lead vehicle.
- Chapter three details the refinement of the use-case, and reports on the development of a series of experimental conditions designed to induce varying degrees of driver engagement and interaction with the driving task (OoTL manipulations). Using analysis of eye gaze dispersion, it goes on to discuss how each condition affects driver information needs during automation and the transition of control.
- **Chapter four** presents the analysis of driver eye-gaze dispersion during automation and in the transition, to assess the effect of the OoTL manipulations on visual attention allocation, comparing results to manual driving.
- Chapter five presents the analysis of driver eye-fixations to assess driver visual attention allocation before and during the transition and finds a different pattern of visual attention distribution for drivers who crash compared to those who do not.
- **Chapter six** reports on an analysis of drivers' perceptual-motor performance during critical events in automated driving and finds that drivers respond to the kinematic urgency of the scenario.
- **Chapter seven** summarises and discusses the work presented in this thesis, and provides some questions and directions for further work.

## 1.9 References

- Abbink, D. A., Mulder, M., and Boer, E. R. (2012). Haptic shared control: smoothly shifting control authority? Cognition, Technology and Work, 14(1), 19-28.
- Acura (2014). 2017 Acura MDX Press Kit Safety and Driver Assistance. Retrieved from http://www.acura.com/PressReleaseArticle.aspx?year=2016&id=9105-en.
- AdaptIVe project (2014). Available at: https://www.adaptive-ip.eu/.
- Anderson, J.M., Kalra, N., Stanley, K.D., Sorensen, P., Samaras, C., and Oluwatola, O. A.
  (2014). Autonomous Vehicle Technology: A Guide for Policymakers. Publication
  RR-443-RC. RAND Corporation, Santa Monica, CA.
- Bagheri, N., and Jamieson, G. A. (2004). Considering subjective trust and monitoring behavior in assessing automation-induced "complacency." Human performance, situation awareness, and automation: Current research and trends, 54-59.
- Bainbridge, L. (1983). Ironies of Automation. Automatica, 19(6), 875-779.
- Banks, V. and Stanton, N. (2014). Hands and feet free driving: Ready or Not? In N. Stanton, S. Landry G.D. Bucchianico and A Vallicell (Eds.), Advances in Human Aspects of Transportation: Part II. Danvers, MA: AHFE Conference.
- Beggiato, M., and Krems, J. F. (2013). The evolution of mental model, trust and acceptance of adaptive cruise control in relation to initial information. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 18, 47-57.
- Beller, J., Heesen, M. and Vollrath, M. (2013). Improving the Driver-Automation Interaction: An Approach Using Automation Uncertainty. Human Factors, 55(6), 1130-1141.
- Bibby, K. S., Margulies, F., Rijnsdorp, J. E., Withers, R. M. J., and Makarow, I. M. (1975, August). Man's role in control systems. In 6th IFAC Congress Boston.
- Billings, C. E. (1997). Aviation Automation: The Search for a Human-Centered Approach. Mahwah, NJ: Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Biondi, F., Strayer, D.L., and Drews, F. (2014). Autonomous vehicle: are you aware of them? In: Proceedings Human Factors and Ergonomics Society conference. Lisbon, Portugal.

- BMW (2013). BMW ConnectedDrive from A to Z [Company website]. Retrieved from http://www.bmw.com/com/en/insights/technology/connecteddrive/2013 /ato\_z/index.html.
- Boer, E. R., and Hoedemaeker, M. (1998). Modeling driver behavior with different degrees of automation. In 17 th European Annual Conference on Human Decision Making and Manual Control.
- Broadbent, D.E. (1958). Perception and communication. CL: Pergamon Press.
- Buehler, M., Iagnemma, K., and Singh, S. (2007). The 2005 darpa grand challenge: The great robot race (Vol. v. 36). Berlin: Springer.
- Buehler, M., Iagnemma, K., and Singh, S. (2009). The darpa urban challenge: Autonomous vehicles in city traffic (Vol. v. 56). Berlin: Springer.
- Carsten, O. and Nilsson, L. (2001). Safety assessment of driver assistance systems. European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research, 1(3), 225-243.
- Carsten, O., Lai, F. C. H., Barnard, Y., Jamson, A. H. and Merat, N. (2012). Control task substitution in semi-automated driving: Does it matter what aspects are automated? Human Factors, 54, 847-761.
- Chaparro, A., Groff, L., Tabor, K., Sifrit, K., and Gugerty, L. J. (1999, September). Maintaining situational awareness: The role of visual attention. In Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting (Vol. 43, No. 23, pp. 1343-1347). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Chiappe, D. L., Strybel, T. Z., and Vu, K. P. L. (2011). Mechanisms for the acquistion of situation awareness in situated agents. Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science, 13(6), 625-647.
- Christoffersen, K., and Woods, D. D. (2002). How to make automated systems team players. Advances in human performance and cognitive engineering research, 2, 1-12.
- Collet, C., Petit, C., Champely, S. and Dittmar, A. (2003). Assessing workload through physiological measurements in bus drivers using an automated system during docking. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 45, 539-548.
- Crundall, D.E., Shenton, C, and Underwood, G. (2004). Eye movements during intentional car following. Perception; 33(8), 975-986.

- Damböck, D., Farid, M., Tönert, L. and Bengler, K. (2012). Übernahmezeiten beim hochautomatisierten Fahren. Paper presented at 5. Tagung Fahrerassistenz, Munchen.
- Damböck, D., Weissgerber, T., Kienle, M., and Bengler, K. (2013). Requirements for cooperative vehicle guidance. In Proceedings of the 16th International IEEE Annual Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, The Hague, The Netherlands (pp. 1656-1661).
- Davis, J., Animashaun, A., Schoenherr, E., and McDowell, K. (2008). Evaluation of semi-autonomous convoy driving. Journal of Field Robotics, 25, 880-897.
- De Waard, D. (1996). The measurement of drivers' mental workload. PhD thesis. University of Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands.
- De Winter, J. C. F., Happee, R., Martens, M. H. and Stanton, N. A. (2014). Effects of adaptive cruise control and highly automated driving on workload and situation awareness: A review of the empirical evidence. Transportation Research Part F, 27 Part B, 196-217.
- Dekker, S., and Hollnagel, E. (2004). Human factors and folk models. Cognition, Technology and Work, 6(2), 89-86.
- Dieckmanns, E. (1989). Vehicle guidance by computer vision. In K. Linkwitz and U. Hangleiter (Eds.), High precision navigation (pp. 86-96). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Electronic Chauffeurs. (1959). Electronic chauffeurs are possibility on tomorrow's highways. Electrical Engineering, 88(8), 875-876.
- Endsley, M.R. (1988) Design and evaluation for situation awareness enhancement. In Proceedings of the Human Factors Society 32nd Annual Meeting, Human Factors Society, Santa Monica, CA, 97-101.
- Endsley, M.R. (1995a). Toward a theory of situation awareness in dynamic systems. Human Factors, 37(1), 32-64.
- Endsley, M.R. (1995b). Measurement of Situation Awareness in Dynamic Systems, Human Factors, Vol. 37, pp. 65-84.
- Endsley, M. R., Sollenberger, R., and Stein, E. (2000). Situation awareness: A comparison of measures. Proceedings of the human performance, situation awareness and automation: user-centered design for the new millennium, 15-19.

- Endsley, M. R. (2015). Situation awareness misconceptions and misunderstandings. Journal of Cognitive Engineering and Decision Making, 9(1), 4-32.
- Endsley, M.R. and Kaber, D. B. (1999). Level of automation effects on performance, situation awareness and workload in a dynamic control task. Ergonomics, 42(3), 462-492.
- Endsley, M.R. and Kiris, O.E. (1995). The out-of-the-loop performance problem and the level of control in automation. Human Factors, 37, 381-394.
- Fagnant, D. and Kockelman, K. (2013). Preparing a Nation for Autonomous Vehicles, 1st ed. Texas: Eno Center for Transportation, 8-9. [Online] Available: https://www.enotrans.org/wp- content/uploads/wpsc/downloadables/AVpaper.pdf [Jun. 14, 2015].
- Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) (2013). Manual flight operations (SAFO 13002). Washington, DC: FAA.
- Flach, J. M. (1995). Situation awareness: Proceed with caution. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 37(1), 149-157.
- Flemisch, F., Kelsch, J., Löper, C., Schieben, A., and Schindler, J. (2008). Automation spectrum, inner / outer compatibility and other potentially useful human factors concepts for assistance and automation. In de Waard et al.: Human Factors for Assistance and Automation. Maastricht: Shaker Publishing.
- Flemisch, F., Heesen, M., Hesse, T., Kelsch, J., Schieben, A. and Beller, J. (2012). Towards a dynamic balance between humans and automation: Authority, ability, responsibility and control in cooperative control situations. Cognition, Technology and Work, 14, 3-18.
- Fletcher., L. (2008) An Automated Co-driver for Advanced Driver Assistance Systems: The next step in road safety. PhD Thesis: Australian National University.
- Fracker, M. L. (1991). Measures of situation awareness: Review and future directions (No. AL-TR-1991-0128). LOGUE (GEORGE E) INC MONTOURSVILLE PA.
- Gartenberg, D., Breslow, L., McCurry, J. M. and Trafton J. G. (2013). Situation awareness recovery. Human Factors, 55, 1-18.
- Gasser, T. M., and Westhoff, D. (2012). BASt-study: Definitions of automation and legal issues in Germany. Presented at the TRB Road Vehicle Automation Workshop, Irvine, CA.

Geddes, N. B. (1940). Magic motorways. New York: Random House.

- Gold, C., Damböck, D., Lorenz, L., and Bengler, K. (2013). "Take over!" How long does it take to get the driver back into the loop? In Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting; 57, 1938-1942.
- Gold, C., Lorenz, L., and Bengler, K. (2014). Influence of automated brake application on take-over situations in highly automated driving scenarios. Proceedings of FISITA World Automotive Congress. Maastricht, Netherlands.
- Gold, C., Körber, M., Lechner, D., and Bengler, K. (2016). Taking Over Control From Highly Automated Vehicles in Complex Traffic Situations The Role of Traffic Density. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 0018720816634226.
- Goodrich M.A. and Boer E.R. (1999). Multiple mental models, automation strategies, and intelligent vehicle systems. In Proceedings IEEE/ IEEJ/JSAI conference on intelligent transportation systems: October 5-8, 1999, Tokyo Japan: Tokyo, Japan
- Goto, Y., and Stentz, A. (1987). The cmu system for mobile robot navigation. IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), 4, 99-105.
- Grandjean, E. (1979). Fatigue in industry. British Journal of Internal Medicine, 36, 175-186.
- Green, P. (1999). Visual and task demands of driver information systems (No. UMTRI-98-16). Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute.
- Guang Lu, and Tomizuka, M. (2002). Vehicle lateral control with combined use of a laser scanning radar sensor and rear magnetometers. Proceedings of the 2002 American Control Conference, 5, 3702-3707.
- Hale, A. R., Stoop, J., and Hommels, J. (1990). Human error models as predictors of accident scenarios for designers in road transport systems. Ergonomics, 33(10-11), 1377-1387.
- Hancock, P. A. (1989). A dynamic model of stress and sustained attention. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 31(5), 519-537.
- Hancock, P.A. and Verwey, W.B. (1997). Fatigue, workload and adaptive driver systems. Accident Analysis & prevention, 29(4): 495-506.

- Hergeth, S., Lorenz, L., and Krems, J. (2016). What did you expect? effects of prior familiarization with take-over requests during conditional automated driving on takeover performance and automation trust. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Hoc, J.-M. (2000). From human-machine interaction to human-machine cooperation. Ergonomics, 43(7), 833-843.
- Hoeger, R., Amditis, A., Kunert, M., Hoess, A., Flemisch, F., Krüger, H.-P.,... Beutner, A. (2008). Highly automated vehicles for intelligent transport: Have-IT approach. ITS World Congress. New York, United States.
- Hogg, D.N., Folleso, K., Strand-Volden, F., and Torralba, B., 1995. Development of a situation awareness measure to evaluate advanced alarm systems in nuclear powerplant control rooms. Ergonomics, Vol 38 (11), pp 2394-2413.
- Jamson, A. H., Merat, N., Carsten, O. M. J. and Lai, F. C. H. (2013). Behavioural changes in drivers experiencing highly-automated vehicle control in varying traffic conditions. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 116-125.
- Jersild, A. T. (1927). Mental set and shift. Archives of Psychology, Whole No. 89.
- Jin, S. (2008). The Effect of Driver Cognitive Abilities and Distraction on Situation Awareness and Performance under Hazard Conditions. Master's Thesis. North Carolina State University, USA.
- Johnson-Laird, P. N. (1980). Mental Models in Cognitive Science. Cognitive Science, 4(1), 81-115.
- Kaber., D.B. and Endsley, M.R. (2003). The Effects of Level of Automation and Adaptive Automation on Human Performance, Situation Awareness and Workload in a Dynamic Control Task. Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science, 5(2): 113-153.
- Kahneman, D. (1973). Attention and effort. Englewood Cliffs and N.J: Prentice-Hall. K
- Kesting, A., Treiber, M., Schoönhof, M., and Helbing. B. (2008). Adaptive cruise control design for active congestion avoidance. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 16(6), pp. 668-683.
- Kienle, M., Damböck, D., Kelsch, J., Flemisch, F., and Bengler, K. (2009). Towards an H-Mode for highly automated vehicles: driving with side sticks. In Proceedings

of the First International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications (AutomotiveUI 2009), September 21-22 2009, Essen, Germany, p. 19-23.

- Kircher, K., Larsson, A. and Hultgren, J. A. (2014). Tactical Driving Behavior With Different Levels of Automation. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems, 15(1), 158-167.
- Klein., G.K. and Crandall, B.W. (1995). The role of mental simulation in naturalistic decision making. In: Local Applications of the Ecological Approach to Human-Machine System, vol. 2, P. Hancock, J. Flach, J. Caird, and K. Vicente, Eds. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum, pp. 324-358.
- Langenberg, J., Bartels, A., and Etemad, A. (2014). Eu-projekt adaptive: Ansätze für hochautomatisches fahren. 30. VDI/VW Gemeinschaftstagung Fahrerassistenz und Integrierte Sicherheit. Wolfsburg, Germany, 30.
- Larsson, A. F. (2013). Automation and the nature of driving. The effect of adaptive cruise control on drivers' tactical driving decisions [Dissertation]. Lund, Lund University.
- Lee, J. D., and See, K. A. (2004). Trust in automation: Designing for appropriate reliance. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 46(1), 50-80.
- Lee, J. D., McGehee, D. V., Brown, T. L., and Reyes, M. L. (2002). Driver distraction, warning algorithm parameters, and driver response to imminent rear-end collisions in a high-fidelity driving simulator (No. DOT-HS-809-448). Chicago
- Lincoln (2014). Lincoln MKS technology features. Retrieved from: http://www.lincoln. com/cars/mks/features/FeatureCategory4.
- Llaneras, R. E., Salinger, J., and Green, C. A. (2013). Human factors issues associated with limited ability autonomous driving systems: Drivers' allocation of visual attention to the forward roadway. In Proceedings of the 7th International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design (pp. 92-98).
- Lorenz, L, Kerschbaum P. and Schumann, J. (2014). Designing take over scenarios for automated driving: How does augmented reality support the driver to get back into the loop? Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society

Annual Meeting September 2014 58: 1681-1685, doi:10.1177/1541931214581351

- Louw, T. (2013). An Investigation into Control Mechanisms of Driving Performance: Resource Depletion and Effort-Regulation. Master's Thesis. Rhodes University.
- Lu, Z., and De Winter, J. C. (2015). A review and framework of control authority transitions in automated driving. Procedia Manufacturing, *3*, 2510-2517.
- Lyons, J.N. (2013). Being transparent about transparency: a model for human-robot interaction. Trust and Autonomous Systems: Papers from the 2013 AAAI Spring Symposium, pp. 48-53.
- Mackworth, N. H. (1950). Researches on the measurement of human performance. Reprinted in H. W. Sinaiko (Ed.), Selected Papers on Human Factors in the Design and Use of Control Systems (1961). Dover Publications, New York, pp. 174-331.
- Manca, L., De Winter, J., and Happee, R. (2015). Visual displays for automated driving: A survey. In Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications (AutoUI 2015) (pp. 1-5). New York, NY: ACM.
- Manzey, D., and Bahner, J. E. (2005). Vertrauen in Automation als Aspekt der Verlaesslichkeit von Mensch-Maschine-Systemen [Trust in automation as an aspect of dependability of human machine-systems]. In K. Karrer, B. Gauss, and C. Steffens (Eds.), Mensch-Maschine-Systemtechnik aus Forschung und Praxis (pp. 93-109). Duesseldorf, Germany: Symposion.
- Markoff, J. (2010). Google cars drive themselves, in traffic. The New York Times, 10(A1), 9.
- Mars, F., Deroo, M., and Hoc, J. M. (2014). Analysis of human-machine cooperation when driving with different degrees of haptic shared control. IEEE Transactions on Haptics, 8(3), 324-333.
- Martens, M. H. (2011). Change detection in traffic: Where do we look and what do we perceive? Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 14(3), 240-250.
- Martens., M. H. (2007). The failure to act upon important information: Where do things go wrong? PhD Thesis: Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam

- Matthews, M. D., Pleban, R. J., Endsley, M. R., and Strater, L. D. (2000, October).Measures of infantry situation awareness for a virtual MOUT environment. InProceedings of the Human Performance, Situation Awareness and Automation:User Centred Design for the New Millennium Conference.
- Matthews, G., Davies, D.R., Westerman, S.J. and Stammers, R.B. (2000). Human Performance: Cognition, Stress and Individual Differences. London: Psychology Press.
- Matthews, G., Zeidner, M., and Roberts, R. D. (2004). Emotional intelligence: Science and myth. MIT press.
- McCall, R., McGee, F., Meschtscherjakov, A., Louveton, N., and Engel, T. (2016). Towards A Taxonomy of Autonomous Vehicle Handover Situations. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications (pp. 193-200). ACM.
- McDowell, K., Nunez, P., Hutchins, S., and Metcalfe, J. S. (2008). Secure mobility and the autonomous driver. IEEE Transactions on Robotics, 24, 688-697.
- Merat, N. and Jamson, A. H. (2008). How do drivers behave in a highly automated car? In Proceedings of the Fifth International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design (pp. 514-521). Big Sky, MT.
- Merat, N. and Jamson, A. H. (2009). Is drivers' situation awareness influenced by a fully automated driving scenario? In D. de Waard, J. Godthelp, F. L. Kooi, and K. A. Brookhuis (Eds.), Human factors, security and safety. Maastricht, the Netherlands: Shaker Publishing.
- Merat, N. and Lee, J. D. (2012). Preface to the special section on human factors and automation in vehicles designing highly automated vehicles with the driver in mind. Human Factors, 54, 681-686.
- Merat, N., Jamson, A. H., Lai, F. C. and Carsten, O. (2012). Highly automated driving, secondary task performance, and driver state. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 54(5), 862-771.
- Merat, N., Jamson, A. H., Lai, F. C. H., Daly, M., and Carsten, O. M. (2014). Transition to manual: Driver behaviour when resuming control from a highly automated vehicle. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 27,

274-282.

- Michon, J. A. (1985). A critical view of driver behavior models: What do we know, what should we do? In L. Evans and R. Schwing (Eds.), Human Behavior and Traffic Safety. New York, NY, USA: Plenum Press.
- Moray, N. (1990). Designing for transportation safety in the light of perception, attention, and mental models. Ergonomics, 33(10), 1201-1213.
- Naujoks, F., Mai, C. and Neukum, A. (2014). The effect of urgency of take-over requests during highly automated driving under distraction conditions. In T. Ahram, W. Karowski and T. Marek (Eds.), Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics AHFE 2014 (pp. 2099-2106). Krakau: AHFE Conference.
- Neubauer, C., Matthews, G., and Saxby, D. (2012). The effects of cell phone use and automation on driver performance and subjective state in simulated driving. Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, 56(1), 1987-1991.
- New York Times. (1925). Houdini subpoenaed waiting to broadcast: Magician must appear in court on charge that he was disorderly in plaintiff's office. The New York Times, July 23.
- NHTSA National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2013). Preliminary statement of policy concerning automated vehicles. Retrieved from: www.nhtsa.gov/ staticfiles/rulemaking/pdf/Automated\_Vehicles\_Policy.pdf
- Norman, D. A. (1983). Some observations on mental models. Mental Models, 8(112), 8-14.
- Norman, D. A. (1990) The 'problem' with automation: Inappropriate feedback and interaction, not 'over-automation'. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, B 327.
- Norman, D. A., and Bobrow, D. G. (1975). On data-limited and resource-limited processes. Cognitive psychology, 8(1), 44-64.
- Ntousakis, I., Nikolos, I., and Papageorgiou, M. (2015). On Microscopic Modelling of Adaptive Cruise Control Systems. Transportation Research Procedia, 6, 111-127.
- Onnasch, L., Wickens, C.D., Li, H. and Manzey, D. (2013). Human Performance Consequences of Stages and Levels of Automation: An Integrated Meta-Analysis.

Human Factors, 56 (3): 476-488.

- Parasuraman, R., and Manzey, D. H. (2010). Complacency and bias in human use of automation: An attentional integration. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 52(3), 381-410.
- Parasuraman, R., and Riley, V. (1997). Humans and automation: Use, misuse, disuse, abuse. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 39(2), 230-253.
- Parasuraman, R., Mouloua, M., Molloy, R. and Hilburn, B. (1996). Monitoring of automated systems. In R. Parasuraman and M. Mouloua (Eds.), Automation and human performance: Theory and applications. (pp. 91-115). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Parasuraman, R., Sheridan, T.B. and Wickens, C.D. (2000). A model for types and levels of human interaction with automation. IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics. Part A: Systems and Humans, 30, 286-297.
- Pauwelussen, J., and Feenstra, P. J. (2011). Driver behavior analysis during ACC activation and deactivation in a real traffic environment. IEEE Transaction on Intelligent Transportation Systems, 11, 329-338.
- Bazilinskyy, P., and de Winter, J. (2015). Auditory interfaces in automated driving: an international survey. PeerJ Computer Science, 1, e13.
- Payre, W., Cestac, J., and Delhomme, P. (2016). Fully Automated Driving Impact of Trust and Practice on Manual Control Recovery. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 58(2), 229-241.
- Petermeijer, S., De Winter, J. C., and Bengler, K. (2015). Vibrotactile displays: A survey with a view on highly automated driving. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems, 1-11.
- Posner, M.I. (1980). Orienting of attention. Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology, 32, 3-25.
- Radlmayr, J., Gold, C., Lorenz, L., Farid, M. and Benlger, K. (2014). How Traffic Situations and Non-Driving Related Tasks Affect the Take-Over Quality in Highly Automated Driving. In Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society (HFES) 2014. Annual Meeting (Vol. 58, pp. 2063-2067).

- Rasmussen, R. (1983). Skills, rules and knowledge: Signals, signs, and symbols, and other distinctions in human performance models. IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, 13(3), 257-266.
- Rasmussen, R. (1986). Information Processing and Human-machine Interaction, Elsevier Science Inc. North-Holland, New York.
- Rauch, N. (2009). Ein verhaltensbasiertes messmodell zur erfassung von situationsbewusstsein im fahrkontext (doctoral dissertation). Psychologisches Institut der Universität Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany.
- Reason, J. T. (1990). Human error. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Riley, V. (1989). A general model of mixed-initiative human-machine systems. In Proceedings of the Human Factors Society, 33, 124-128.
- Rogers, R. D., and Monsell, S. (1995). Costs of a predictable switch between simple cognitive tasks. Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 124, 207-231.
- Rojo, J., Rojas, P., et al. (2007). Spirit of Berlin: An autonomous car for the DARPA urban challenge hardware and software architecture. Freie Universität Berlin.
- Sabey, B. E., and Taylor, H. (1980). The known risks we run: the highway. In Societal risk assessment (pp. 43-70). Springer US.
- SAE International. (2014). Sae surface vehicle information report: Taxonomy and definitions for terms related to on-road motor vehicle automated driving systems (No. J3016). SAE International.
- Saffarian, M., De Winter, J. and Happee, R. (2012). Automated driving: human-factors issues and design solutions. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting.
- Sarter, N. B. and Woods, D.D. (1991). Situation awareness: A critical but ill-defined phenomenon. International Journal of Aviation Psychology, 1, 45-57.
- Sarter, N.B., Mumaw, R.J., and Wickens, C.D. (2007). Pilots' monitoring strategies and performance on automated flight decks: An empirical study combining behavioral and eye-tracking data. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 49(3), 347-357.
- Schömig, N., Hargutt, V., Neukum, A., Petermann-Stock, I., and Othersen, I. (2015). The interaction between highly automated driving and the development of drowsiness. Procedia Manufacturing, 3, 6652-6659.

Schefter, J. (1985). Look, ma! no driver. Popular Science, 227(HS-039 355), 4.

- Schlick, C., Bruder, R., and Luczak, H. (2010). Arbeitswissenschaft (3., überarb. und erw. Aufl ed.). Berlin and Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.
- Senders, J.W. (1997), Distribution of visual attention in static and dynamic displays. In Electronic Imaging'97 (pp. 186-194). International Society for Optics and Photonics.
- Seppelt, B. D., and Victor, T. W. (2016). Potential solutions to human factors challenges in road vehicle automation. In: Road Vehicle Automation 3 (pp. 131-148). Springer International Publishing.
- Sheridan, T. B., and Parasuraman, R. (2005). Human-automation interaction. Reviews of human factors and ergonomics, 1(1), 89-129.
- Sheridan, T.B. (2002). Human and Automation: System Design and Research Issues. Wiley, New York, 31-55.
- Sheridan, T.B., and Verplank, W.L. (1978). Human and computer control of undersea teleoperators. Arlington: Office of Naval Research.
- Shladover, S. (2006). Path at 20 history and major milestones. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems, 8(4), 584-592.
- Singh, I. L., Molloy, R., and Parasuraman, R. (1993a). Automation induced "complacency": Development of the complacency potential rating scale. International Journal of Aviation Psychology, 3, 111-121.
- Singh, I. L., Molloy, R., and Parasuraman, R. (1993b). Individual differences in monitoring failures of automation. Journal of General Psychology, 120, 357-373.
- Stanton, N. A. (2016). Distributed situation awareness. Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science, 17(1), 1-7.
- Stanton, N. A., and Young, M. S. (2000). A proposed psychological model of driving automation. Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science, 1(4), 315-331.
- Stanton, N. A., and Young, M. S. (2005). Driver behaviour with adaptive cruise control. Ergonomics, 48(10), 1294-1313.
- Strayer, D. L., Drews, F. A., and Johnston, W. A. (2003). Cell phone-induced failures of visual attention during simulated driving. Journal of experimental psychology: Applied, 9(1), 23.
- Sumwalt, R.L., Thomas, R.J. and Dismukes, K. (2002). Enhancing flight-crew monitoring skills can increase safety. Paper presented at the 55th International Air Safety Seminar. Dublin, Ireland.
- Taylor, R.M. (1989). Situational awareness rating technique (SART): the development of a tool for aircrew systems design. In: Situational Awareness in Aerospace Operations (AGARD-CP-478). NATO-AGARD, Neuilly Sur Seine, France, pp. 3/1 -3/17.
- Templeton, B. (2014). A Critique of NHTSA and SAE "Levels" of self-driving. Brad Templeton Robocar Blog. Retrieved from: http://www.templetons.com/brad/ \\robocars/levels/
- Tesla Motors (2015). Your Autopilot has arrived. Retrieved 28 November, 2015, from https://www.teslamotors.com/blog/your-autopilot-has-arrived
- Thorpe, C., Herbert, M., Kanade, T., and Shafer, S. (1991). Toward autonomous driving: the cmu navlab. i. perception. IEEE expert, 6(4), 31-42.
- Toffetti, A., Wilschut, E., Martens, M., Schieben, A., Rambaldini, A., Merat, N., and Flemisch, F. (2009). Citymobil: Human factor issues regarding highlyautomated vehicles on an elane. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, 2110, 1-8.
- Toyota (2013). 2013 Lexus LS Advanced Active Safety Features/2013 Consumer Electronics Show. Retrieved from http://www.toyota.com/esq/pdf/The\_202013 %20LS%20Advanced%20Active%20Safety%20(2).pdf.
- Treat, J., Tumbas, N., McDonald, S., Shinar, D., Hume, R., Mayer, R., . . . Castellan, N. (1979). Tri-level study of the causes of traffic accidents: Executive summary (No. DOT HS-034-3-535). U.S. Department of Transportation.
- U.S. Department of Transportation (2016). Federal Automated Vehicles Policy: Accelerating the Next Revolution In Roadway Safety. Retrieved from https://www.transportation.gov/sites/dot.gov/files/docs/AV\_20policy \_20guidance\_20PDF.pdf
- van den Beukel, A. P., and van der Voort, M. C. (2013, October). The influence of timecriticality on situation awareness when retrieving human control after automated driving. In Intelligent Transportation Systems-(ITSC), 2013 16th International IEEE Conference on (pp. 2000-2005). IEEE.

- Volvo (2013) (July 5). Volvo Car Group reveals world-class safety and support features that will be introduced in the all-new XC90 in 2014 [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.media.volvocars.com/global/en-gb/media/pressreleases 49875/volvo-cars-reveals-world-class-safety-and-supportfeaturesto-be-introduced-in-the-all-new-xc90-in-2.
- Walker, G. H., Stanton, N. A., Salmon, P. M., and Green, D. (2004). Measuring and predicting situation awareness in C4i: development and testing of a refined SA measurement technique, and a new concept for SA prediction. Human Performance, Situation Awareness and Automation: Current research and trends, Volume 1, 78-82.
- Ward, N.J., (2000). Automation of task processed: an example of intelligent transportation systems. Human Factors and Ergonomics in Manufacturing and Service Industries, 10 (4), 395-408.
- Weller, G., Schlag, B., Gatti, G., Jorna, R. and Van De Leur, M. (2006). Human factors in road design. State of the art and empirical evidence. Internal report 8.1 RIPCORD-iSEREST -URL: http://ripcord.bast.de/pdf/ri\_tud\_wp8\_r1\_v5\_ human\_factors\_final.pdf
- Wickens, C. D. (1992). Workload and situation awareness: An analogy of history and implications. Insight: The Visual Performance Technical Group Newsletter, 14(4), 1-3.
- Wickens, C.D. (1984). Processing resources in attention. In R. Parasuraman and D.R. Davies (eds). Varieties of attention, London: Academic Press, pp. 63-102.
- Wiener, E. L. (1988). Cockpit automation. In E. L. Wiener and D. C. Nagal (Eds.), Human Factors in Aviation (pp. 433-461). San Diego. CA: Academic Press, Inc.
- Wiener, E. L., and Curry, R. E. (1980). Flight-deck automation: Promises and problems. Ergonomics, 23(10), 995-1011.
- Wille, J. M., Saust, F., and Maurer, M. (2010). Stadtpilot: Driving autonomously on braunschweig's inner ring road. IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), 506511.
- Williams, M., and Preston, N. C. (1987). The prometheus project. 6th International Conference on Automotive Electronics, 6(280), 36-39.
- Yantis, S. (1998). Control of visual attention. Attention, 1(1), 223-256.

- Yerkes, R. M., and Dodson, J. D. (1908). The relation of strength of stimulus to rapidity of habit-formation. Journal of comparative neurology and psychology, 18(5), 459482.
- Young, M. S. and Stanton, N. A. (1997). Automotive automation: Investigating the impact on drivers' mental workload. Interna- tional Journal of Cognitive Ergonomics, 1, 325-336.
- Young, M. S., and Stanton, N. A. (2002). Malleable attentional resources theory: a new explanation for the effects of mental underload on performance. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 44(3), 365-375.
- Young, M. S., and Stanton, N. A. (2004). Taking the load off: investigations of how adaptive cruise control affects mental workload. Ergonomics, 47(9), 1014-1035.
- Zeeb, K., Buchner, A., and Schrauf, M. (2015). What determines the take-over time? An integrated model approach of driver take-over after automated driving. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 88, 212-221.
- ZENTEC GmbH. (2015). Start des bmwi leuchtturmprojekts ko-haf. Retrieved from: http://www.zentec.de/presse/newsdetailseite/article/start-desbmwileuchtturmprojekts-ko-haf-kooperatives-hochautomatisiertesfahren.html.
- Zimmermann, M., and Bengler, K. (2013). A multimodal interaction concept for cooperative driving. IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), 1285-1290.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

# ENGAGING WITH HIGHLY AUTOMATED DRIVING: TO BE OR NOT TO BE IN THE LOOP?

ABSTRACT This desktop driving simulator study investigated the effect of engagement in a reading task during vehicle automation on drivers' ability to resume manual control and successfully avoid an impending collision. To avoid collision with the stationary vehicle, drivers were required to regain control of the automated vehicle and change lane. The decision-making element of this lane change was manipulated by asking drivers to move into the lane they saw fit (left or right) or to use the colour of the stationary vehicle as a rule (blue left, red - right). Drivers' reaction to the stationary vehicle in manual control was compared to two automation conditions: (i) when drivers were engaged and observing the road during automation, and (ii) when they were reading a piece of text on an iPad during automation. Overall, findings suggest that drivers experiencing automation were slower to identify the potential collision scenario, but once identified the collision was evaded more erratically and at a faster pace than when drivers were in manual control of the vehicle. Short (1-minute) periods of automation used in this study did not appear to impede drivers' ability to complete simple operational and tactical-level driving tasks, following a system initiated take-over request. Results suggest that until there is an effective strategy to help drivers regain SA during resumption of control from Highly Automated Driving, they should be encouraged to remain in the driving loop.

# 2.1 Introduction

The promise of 'driverless vehicles' is slowly being realised, with testing under way by a number of major manufactures who have committed to bringing the first generation of such systems to market by 2020 (Merat et al., 2014). Current Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS), such as Adaptive Cruise Control (ACC), still require the driver to be in the control loop. These Level 1, function-specific automation systems (see SAE, 2014), are evolving into Level 2, combined-function automation and on to more intelligent Level 3, limited self-driving automation, or Highly Automated Driving (HAD), which will see necessary driver intervention only in certain situations that cannot be managed by the system. The concern from a human factors perspective is that this limited driver-state interaction may take drivers out-of-the-loop (OoTL), which Endsley and Kiris (1996) argue is a state induced by limited human-system interaction, causing an operator to lose awareness of the system state. The deleterious performance effects of the OoTL state have led some from cognate disciplines (Parasuraman and Riley, 2007) to suggest that HAD should be designed such that drivers are kept engaged and in the-loop for best performance and able to resume control of automation when system limitations are reached (Merat and Lee, 2012; de Waard et al., 1999), while others have argued that drivers should not be expected to continuously monitor the road (Jacoby and Schuster, 1997).

These opposing views may be due in part to the lack of a clear definition of what constitutes an OoTL state. Also, it is not currently clear what the 'loop' refers to, an information processing control loop (attentive to the driving task) or a sensory-motor control loop (vehicle control), or both. Previous investigations into drivers' ability to respond to Level 2 automation failures have explored the effects of workload and situation awareness (Jamson et al., 2013; Merat et al., 2012) and time budgets for resuming control (Gold and Bengler, 2014; Damböck et al., 2012), but none have compared the above distinction, or considered possible effects of different degrees of driver engagement with the driving task during HAD. It is important to have a sound theoretical basis for the OoTL concept, as it is frequently referred to in studies on HAD to explain drivers' ability to safely resume control from automation.

Another concern is the impact of scenario difficulty on drivers' return-to-manual performance, following system disengagement. With a few exceptions (e.g. Kircher, Larsson and Hultgren, 2013), studies have tended to examine take-overs for scenarios requiring operational-level responses, which are driving tasks that only require immediate longitudinal and lateral control by the driver (see Michon's levels of driving tasks, Michon, 1985). Given that the system limits which enforce a manual take-over are likely to be derived from more difficult scenarios than just those at an operational-level (e.g. road works, exiting a busy motor way), it is relevant to examine how drivers respond to higher, more tactical-level scenarios, which involve an element of rule-based decision making processing. However, there is only a very limited understanding of drivers' behavioural response to these levels in the context of HAD. The objective of this study was therefore to investigate the effect of varying degrees of engagement with the driving task, on behavioural responses to a potential collision scenario, introducing rule-based scenarios of varying workload to assess whether there were any behavioural differences between operational and tactical-level driving tasks. As a result, two hypotheses are evaluated: (a) the further drivers are disengaged from the driving task the worse their ability to respond appropriately to a potential collision scenario; (b) the greater the workload imposed on the driver during automation disengagement the worse their ability to resume control.

# 2.2 Methodology

### 2.2.1 Participants

Following approval from the University of Leeds Research Ethics Committee, 16 participants (8 male) between the ages of 19 and 26 (M = 21, SD = 1.54) were recruited via the driving simulator database and were paid £10 for taking part. No other particular criteria were used for recruiting participants, but they were required to have had a driving licence for at least one year and drive at least 500 miles per year.

## 2.2.2 Apparatus

This study was performed using the University of Leeds portable simulator (Figure 2.1, which was operated on a HP Z400 workstation running Windows 7, using custom made software. The visual simulation imagery was displayed on a Samsung 40" wide-screen 1920x1080 monitor, rendered at 60 Hz. Vehicle control inputs were via a Logitech G27 dual-motor force feedback steering wheel and pedals.

During manual driving, participants were entirely responsible for the manipulation of standard longitudinal (accelerator and brake pedals) and lateral (steering wheel)



**Figure 2.1:** Driving simulator set-up. Central display unit (inset) indicated automation status. A 'beep' tone alerted drivers when automation was turned on/off.



-------Engaged Automation ----- Distracted Automation-------Manual Driving

Figure 2.2: Schematic representation of the driving scenario.

controls. During HAD, the longitudinal controller was effectively an ACC with a default target speed of 67mph (108 km/h) with target headway fixed at 1.5 seconds, which could not be adjusted by the driver. The lateral controller resembled a Lane Keeping System (LKS) and, on activation, attempted to maintain the vehicle in the centre of the current lane occupied. HAD was activated and deactivated automatically by the simulation. Drivers were notified of changes to automation state with a non-intrusive 'beep' tone.

## 2.2.3 Design and Procedure

A within-subjects 3x3 repeated-measures design was used, with all participants completing all conditions. The independent variables were Drive (manual, engaged automated, distracted automated) and Load (no rule, congruent rule, incongruent rule).

Upon arrival, participants were briefed on the requirements of the study and their ethical rights. After completion of informed consent, participants were given the opportunity to practice manual driving and HAD within a free-flowing 3-lane motorway. Drivers were asked to ensure safe operation of the vehicle, including timely take-over from HAD, if necessary.

In the experimental session, drivers initiated a trial by depressing the accelerator pedal. All trials began in manual driving behind a lead vehicle travelling in the middle lane at 67mph (108km/h). As shown in Figure 2.2, after 30 seconds of manual driving, one of three 60 second conditions was presented in a counter-balanced order: In the manual condition, drivers had full manual control of the vehicle. This corresponded to an Active & In-the-loop state. In the engaged automation condition, participants observed the driving scene but took their hands away from the steering wheel and foot off the accelerator pedal while the automation was active. This aligned with a Passive & In-the-loop state. In the distracted automation condition, drivers were asked to read aloud a selection of text that was displayed on an iPad located to the bottom left of the steering wheel (Figure 2.1). This trial was designed to induce a Passive & Out-of-the-loop state.

After this 60 second period, the lead vehicle changed lane (to the right or left) to reveal a stationary vehicle obstructing the middle lane. Participants were instructed to change lane to avoid colliding with this stranded vehicle. When automation was activated, this manoeuvre of the lead vehicle coincided with the deactivation of automation. Four 'ghost' trials were also randomly assigned during the experiment, where a stranded vehicle did not exist in the middle lane.

To induce different loads after the lead vehicle changed lanes, drivers' lane changing manoeuvre was governed by one of three rules. In the no rule condition, participants were free to choose the direction of travel to avoid collision with the stranded vehicle. This only entailed a control element and was therefore considered



Figure 2.3: Representation of the congruous and incongruous rule conditions.

an operational-level driving task. In the congruous and incongruous rule conditions, participants were required to change lane in a particular direction, depending on the colour of the stationary vehicle (green = left, red = right). These were therefore considered to be tactical-level driving tasks. In the congruous rule condition, the direction in which the lead vehicle changed lane was the same as the direction instructed by the rule, while in the incongruous rule condition the opposite was true (Figure 2.3). After passing the stranded vehicle, manual driving continued for a further 30 seconds, after which the driving scene faded out and the trial was over. The next trial then began as soon as drivers depressed the accelerator pedal. All participants completed the trials involving the no rule condition first, followed by those involving the two rule conditions. This was to ensure that the rules for the congruous and incongruous rule conditions did not confuse participants during the no rule condition. Based on estimations of future sensor ranges, and results from previous studies (Gold and Bengler, 2014; Damböck et al., 2012) the Time To Collision (TTC) between the stationary vehicle and the simulator vehicle was 6.5 seconds. In order to control for TTC in manual driving, drivers were required to maintain a set headway of 42m, using chevron markings on the roadway as a guide. Participants completed 18 trials in total and the time taken to complete the experiment was around 1.5 hours.

A number of dependent variables were used to study performance; maximum lateral and longitudinal acceleration, time to first steer and time to lane change. A distribution of how drivers reacted to avoid the collision: steering, braking, steering and braking, was also noted. Measures of maximum lateral and longitudinal acceleration were taken from when the stationary vehicle was revealed, until the end of the trial, and were used as indicators of stability of control. Time to first steer considered the time from when the stationary vehicle was revealed, until the first steering input greater than 2° was applied. Time to lane change refers to the time from when the stationary vehicle was revealed until all four corners of a driver's vehicle were in an adjacent lane.

# 2.3 Results and Discussion

A 3x3 repeated measures Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was conducted on maximum lateral and longitudinal acceleration comparing the values in the three Drives (manual, engaged automation, and distracted automation) and at the three Load levels (no rule, congruous rule and incongruous rule). Results showed a significant main effect of Drive on maximum lateral acceleration [F(2,14) =15.71, P<.001,  $\eta_{\rm P}^2$ = .51; Figure 2.4] and post-hoc Bonferroni tests showed higher maximum lateral accelerations for both engaged automation and distracted automation drives, compared to the manual drive (p=.008 and p<.001, respectively). Vehicle control, as revealed by lateral acceleration, was, therefore, more erratic the further drivers were out-of-the-loop. Comparison between automation drives was not significant. There were no main effects of maximum longitudinal acceleration and also no interaction effects.



**Figure 2.4:** Maximum lateral acceleration for Drive (Error bars = SE, \* = significant difference between conditions).

To observe how drivers responded to a potential collision, time to first steer and time to lane change were subjected to a 3x3 ANOVA, with the same factors as above. There was a significant effect of Drive on time to first steer [F(2,14) =9.98, p=.001,  $\eta_p^2$ = .39; Figure 2.5] with post-hoc Bonferroni tests showing that, compared to manual

	Manual	Engaged Automation	Distracted Automation
Steer Only	72.9 %	81.25 %	70.8 %
Steer and Brake	27.1 %	18.75 %	29.2 %

 Table 2.1: Brake and Steer combinations for Drive.

driving, drivers took significantly longer to generate their first steering manoeuvre during both engaged automation (p=.002) and distracted automation (p=.037). There was no significant effect of Load and there was also no interaction effect present between Drive and Load on time to first steer.



**Figure 2.5:** Time to first steer for Drive (Error bars = SE, \* = significant difference between conditions).

The effect of Drive on time to lane change approached significance  $[F(2,14) = 3.60, p=.058, \eta_p^2 = .19;$  Figure 2.6]. There was no significant effect of Load on time to lane change was no interaction between Drive and Load. Taken together, these results suggest that, regardless of whether they were distracted or not, automation delayed drivers' first steering input. However, when observing the scene during automation, drivers' response to the collision seems to have been more calculated and more under their control, taking time to steer to the adjacent lane, with less lateral acceleration. When engaged in the reading task, drivers seem to have simply responded to the beep denoting the disengagement of automation, changing lane quickly and more erratically, as indicated by their maximum lateral deviation.



**Figure 2.6:** Time to lane change for Drive (Error bars = SE, \* = significant difference between conditions).

This difference in tactic between engaged and distracted automation is also shown in the steering and braking behaviour (Table 2.1), where similar results were seen between engaged automation and manual driving, different to that of distracted automation. Whilst in 70.8% and 72.9% of cases in the manual and distracted automation drives participants avoided the obstacle by only steering into the next lane, for engaged automation the proportion of cases where participants steered increased to 81.28%. Chi square tests revealed that these differences were not significant, however. There were no collisions with the stationary vehicle across all trials. In terms of decision-making behaviour based on the condition rules, for the no rule condition, in 95.83% of cases drivers chose to follow the lead vehicle to avoid a collision, in line with similar findings by Malaterre et al. (1988). Drivers managed to adhere to the rule in 100% and 98% of cases for the congruent and incongruent rule conditions, respectively.

# 2.4 Conclusions

There has been a great deal of interest regarding how to safely re-engage drivers in manual driving following a period of HAD (Merat et al., 2014), with the out-of-theloop phenomenon cited as a primary contributor to impaired performance. The main objective of the current study was to investigate the behavioural differences that might exist between different levels of engagement with a driving task, and whether and to what extent these interact with operational and tactical-level driving tasks (Michon, 1985).

Apart from drivers braking less often in the engaged automation than in distracted automation and manual conditions, which showed similar response profiles, our results showed that there was no difference between the manual and engaged automation conditions, across all variables. Though, since the trials were rather stereotypical, it is likely that, with repeated exposure, drivers increasingly learned how to deal with the critical events. However, as found in previous studies (Merat et al., 2012), compared to manual driving, drivers' response was significantly slower following brief 1-minute periods of automated driving, even during engaged automation, where drivers were focused on the road scene immediately prior to the critical event. In addition, automation seems also to have impacted on the speed and quality of lane changes, with lane changes completed at a faster rate once initiated, and also with significantly higher maximal lateral accelerations for both automation conditions, compared to manual. This demonstrates that the key factor affecting the response is whether the driver is actively engaged in vehicle control (i.e., an active part of the sensory-motor control loop).

The OoTL concept seems, therefore, to encompass a strong element of physical control, with the effects of cognitive control possibly a more subtle addition. Certainly, the possible priming of the repeated-measures design suggests that any observed effects of being out of the cognitive control loop are conservative and, therefore, deserve more focused investigation. To assist in this, future studies on HAD making reference to the OoTL phenomenon should attempt to distinguish which loop is being addressed. Our results show that what is most important is whether the driver is in vehicle control and that this aspect should form the basis for any strategies to re-engage the driver in manual control. Nevertheless, humans are poor supervisors (Parasuraman and Riley, 2007) and therefore aspects of information processing control in HAD needs to be scrutinised by further studies to establish whether the observed behaviour is valid for more difficult scenarios, under shorter TTCs and after longer periods of HAD. Finally, in the same way that steering entropy has benefited our understanding of driver distraction, there is a pressing need to develop an objective measure of the quality and safety of a take-over, rather than relying on a series of reaction times, which would fall short of capturing the difficulty inherent in more

strategic-level driving tasks.

# 2.5 References

- Carsten, O., Lai, F. C. H., Barnard, Y., Jamson, A. H. and Merat, N. (2012). Control task substitution in semi-automated driving: Does it matter what aspects are automated? Human Factors, 54, 747-761.
- Damböck, D., Farid, M., Tönert, L. and Bengler, K. (2012). Übernahmezeiten beim hochautomatisierten Fahren. Paper presented at 5. Tagung Fahrerassistenz, Munchen.
- de Waard, D., Van der Hulst, M., Hoedemaeker, M. and Brookhuis, K. A. (1999). Driver behavior in an emergency situation in the Automated Highway System. Transportation Human Factors, 1, 67-82.
- Endsley, M.R. and Kiris, O.E. (1995). The out-of-the-loop performance problem and the level of control in automation. Human Factors, 37, 381-394.
- Gold, C. and Bengler, K. (2014). Taking Over Control from Highly Automated Vehicles. Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics AHFE 2014, Kraków, Poland 19-23 July.
- Jacoby, C. C. and Schuster, S. K. (1997). Issues of automated vehicles operating in mixed traffic. In IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation System 1997 (pp. 607-612). Boston, MA.
- Jamson, A. H., Merat, N., Carsten, O. M. J. and Lai, F. C. H. (2013). Behavioural changes in drivers experiencing highly-automated vehicle control in varying traffic conditions. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 116-125.
- Kircher, K., Larsson, A. and Hultgren, J. A. (2014). Tactical Driving Behavior With Different Levels of Automation. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems, 15(1), 158-167.
- Malaterre, B., Ferrandez, F., Fleury, D., and Lechner, D. (1988). Decision Making in Emergency Situations. Ergonomics, 3 1(4), 643-655.
- Merat, N., Jamson, A. H., Lai, F. F. C. H., Daly, M. and Carsten, O. M. J. (2014). Transition to manual: Driver behaviour when resuming control from a highly

automated vehicle. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 26, 1-9.

- Merat, N., Jamson, H., Lai, F., and Carsten, O. (2012). Highly automated driving, secondary task performance and driver state. Human Factors, 54, 762-771.
- Merat, N. and Lee, J. D. (2012). Preface to the special section on human factors and automation in vehicles designing highly automated vehicles with the driver in mind. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 54, 681-686.
- Michon, J. A. (1985). "A critical view of driver behavior models: What do we know, what should we do?" In L. Evans and R. Schwing (Eds.), Human Behavior and Traffic Safety. New York, NY, USA: Plenum Press.
- Parasuraman, R. and Riley, V. (1997). Humans and automation: Use, misuse, disuse, abuse. Human Factors, 39, 230-253.
- SAE J3016 (2014). Taxonomy and Definitions for Terms Related to On-Road Motor Vehicle Automated Driving Systems. Society of Automotive Engineers.

#### **CHAPTER 3**

# DRIVER INATTENTION AND VEHICLE AUTOMATION: HOW DOES ENGAGEMENT AFFECT RESUMPTION OF CONTROL?

ABSTRACT This driving simulator study, conducted as part of the EC-funded AdaptIVe project, investigated the effect of level of distraction during automation (Level 2 SAE) on drivers' ability to assess automation uncertainty and react to a potential collision scenario. Drivers' attention to the road was varied during automation in one of two driving screen manipulation conditions: occlusion by light fog and occlusion by heavy fog. Vehicle-based measures, drivers' eye movements and response profiles to events after an automation uncertainty period were measured during a highly automated drive containing one of these manipulations, and compared to manual driving. In two of seven uncertainty events, a lead vehicle braked, causing a critical situation. Drivers' reactions to these critical events were compared in a between-subjects design, where the driving scene was manipulated for 1.5 minutes. Results showed that, during automation, drivers' response profile to a potential collision scenario was less controlled and more aggressive immediately after the transition, compared to when they were in manual control. With respect to screen manipulation in particular, drivers in the heavy fog condition collided with the lead vehicle more often and also had a lower minimum headway compared to those in the light fog condition.

# 3.1 Introduction

The emergence of vehicle automation presents a radical shift in the way that drivers interact with their vehicles and the driving task itself. Extensive research has been carried out on the human factors issues relating to lower levels (SAE Level 1 and 2) of vehicle automation (such as Adaptive Cruise Control (ACC); for a review see De Winter et al. 2014). However, investigating the human factors implications of higher levels of automation up to SAE Level 5 have been somewhat constrained by the fact that the development and implementation of this technology are still some way off. It is argued that as automation advances, it will increasingly relieve drivers of the moment-to-moment demands of driving (Lee, 2013). However, as these systems will likely be fallible for some time to come the driver will, on occasions, be required to intervene and resume control from automation.

Understanding the factors that influence driver distraction is underpinned by a strong theoretical orientation with multiple definitions. Amongst these, Lee et al.'s (2008, p. 38) is widely used: "Driver distraction is a diversion of attention away from activities critical for safe driving towards a competing activity." A key assumption here is the competition for attentional resources between the driving task and another secondary - activity. For the early generations of automation (Level 1-3; SAE, 2014), however, the "activities critical for safe driving" will be some combination of the driver monitoring the environment and being the fall-back operator. However, increasing automation is likely to encourage driver engagement in secondary tasks, because drivers are no longer required to participate in the driving task at all times (Merat and Lee, 2012). Indeed, previous work conducted in our laboratories has found that during Highly Automated Driving (HAD), drivers are more likely to engage in tasks unrelated to driving (Carsten et al., 2012). The nature of this distraction during automation can be both driver-initiated and stimulus-oriented, whilst drivers are also susceptible to stimulus-independent thought or mind-wandering. Such shifts in attention can interfere with processing of or reaction to safety-critical events and stimuli, such as roadway hazards (Li et al., 2012). As the level of vehicle automation increases, drivers are likely to further disengage from driving and may, for example, fail to recognise and act upon a hazard when faced with a take-over-request (TOR, Gold et al., 2013).

Therefore, less effective driving performance during the transition is likely unless drivers are given the correct information for resumption of control in an appropriate and timely manner. For example, drivers' reaction time to critical events can be markedly reduced during distraction with a secondary task (Merat et al., 2012). Driver distraction research has traditionally employed a dual-task paradigm to explain performance via competition for attentional resources where driving is the primary task (Strayer and Johnston, 2001). During automation, however, the driver is not in control of the vehicle, which means that a dual-task paradigm is not possible in the study of transitions. Therefore, to study the effects of stimulus-independent thought that may occur before, during and/or after a transition, there is need for the development of a suitable methodology to establish what mechanisms contribute to how a driver might go from being engaged with the driving task during automation to being disengaged, or prone to mind-wandering, a process also referred to as passive fatigue (see Neubauer, Langheim, Matthews and Saxby, 2011). It is also important to establish whether and how the effect of such states can be easily measured.

Many of the studies on transitions have rather loosely attributed less effective driving after return-to-manual control to phenomena such as out-of-the-loop (OoTL) or having lost situation awareness (SA). Unhelpfully, however, there is some confusion around the distinction between the OoTL state and SA in terms of what the two concepts encompass; for example, whether they engage specific attentional domains or whether they are somewhat analogous. From a purely theoretical perspective, Endsley (1995) suggests a loss of SA is related to elements within the environment while being OoTL is specifically linked to elements of the automation status itself. To further complicate the matter, there is some debate around the usefulness or validity of each concept (Carsten and Vanderhaegen, 2015). One could draw a distinction between attentional aspects and physical aspects of control. For example, in a recent driving simulator study, we attempted to isolate the effects of the attentional and physical aspects of driving on a driver's ability to resume manual control and respond to an impending collision scenario after 60 s of automation (Louw, Merat, and Jamson, 2015). In the first automation condition, participants were asked to keep their eyes on the road, while in the second they were distracted by a secondary task (reading on a PDA, which forced their visual attention away from the driving scene).

To assess the physical aspect of resuming control, we compared driver responses

in both automation conditions to a manual condition. Our results showed that simply having to regain physical control is an important factor in these contexts, but the extent to which cognitive disengagement alone influences performance is yet to be established. It seems, therefore, that the difference between a driver who has lost SA and a driver who is OoTL is that the latter state also accounts for the effect of not being in physical control of performance. In addition, the definition of the OoTL concept is more descriptive about how the loss of SA arises. Endsley (1995) argues that the passive monitoring of automation, as a result of not being in physical control, leads to decreased vigilance and a lower understanding, which leads to a loss of SA. Our proposed schematic representation of the OoTL phenomenon, shown in Figure 3.1, suggests that the loss of physical control and the loss of SA can arise independently as a result of vehicle automation and can lead to less effective return-to-manual performance. Importantly, the loss of physical control can also act on SA, which can result in less effective performance.



Figure 3.1: Schematic representation of the out-of-the-loop (OoTL) phenomenon

Based on studies of OoTL problems in human-automation-interaction in cognate domains, such as aviation (Molloy and Parasuraman, 1996), it can be argued that the further drivers are removed from the driving loop, the worse their return-to-manual performance. This stresses the need to investigate the effect of automation as a distraction, and in particular how stimulus-independent thought brought about by automation affects drivers resumption of manual control. However, while investigating the effects of stimulus-oriented thought simply requires engagement in a secondary task, inducing stimulus-independent thought is more challenging. Therefore, the main aim of this study was to develop a means of simulating various degrees of the driver OoTL states during HAD. To do this, we worked back from Endsley's (1995) definition of SA and OoTL state. We argued that simply adding lateral and longitudinal assistance (Level2/3 automation) induced the physical aspect of being OoTL. To induce loss of SA, we progressively limited the driver's ability to perceive information about the status of the automated system and the driving environment itself, by overlaying a fog-like occlusion screen onto the driving scene. We reasoned that, by partially blocking the road scene (light fog, see below), drivers would be somewhat aware of their surroundings, whilst blocking the road scene completely (heavy fog) would completely remove drivers' awareness of their surroundings.

With a few notable exceptions (e.g. Beller et al., 2014), most previous studies on transitions (e.g. Gold and Bengler, 2014; Hergeth et al., 2015) have investigated responses to take-over-requests (TOR) brought on by an automation system's failure or limitation. These studies have mostly incorporated mandatory transitions (Goodrich and Boer, 1999) or TORs, which effectively instruct the driver to resume control. It is likely, therefore, that such methods simply assess drivers' ability to react to an alarm or take over message. Although investigating how drivers perform when they take back control is an important consideration, the ability to process information and make decisions in the face of an automated system with limited capabilities is also valuable. Therefore, in this study, we used the concept of automation uncertainty (or system limitation) not only to improve understanding of the driver-automation-interaction, but also as a means of assessing whether drivers could recognise the unfolding of a potentially critical event (which is an important element of SA). We argue that the more drivers were taken OoTL, the worse their ability to recognise and respond to road-related hazards.

While the driver's role in monitoring the system varies according to the level of automation, the driver is largely removed from vehicle control when automation increases beyond SAE level 2 (SAE, 2014). Jamson et al. (2013) suggest that this then limits the usefulness of many of the metrics traditionally used to assess driver behaviour, such as Standard Deviation of Lateral Position (SDLP). There is, therefore, a need to develop a set of objective, formative measures of the quality and safety implications of the transition (Louw et al., 2015), rather than relying on systemdependant evaluative measures. Therefore, another aim of this study was to consider alternative measures to assess the transition to manual control from automation.

## 3.2 Methods

## 3.2.1 Participants

Following approval from the University of Leeds Research Ethics Committee, 30 participants (20 male) between the ages of 22 and 69 (M=39.2, SD=14.45) were recruited via the driving simulator database and were paid £20 for taking part. Participants had normal or corrected-to-normal vision, were required to have had a driving licence for at least five years (M=20.17 SD=15.26) and drive at least twice a week (mean annual mileage was 8,616 miles).

### 3.2.2 Design and Procedure

#### Materials

The experiment was conducted in the University of Leeds Driving Simulator, which consists of a Jaguar S-type cab with all driver controls operational. The vehicle is housed within a 4m spherical projection dome and has a 300° field-of-view projection system. A v4.5 Seeing Machines faceLAB eye-tracker was used to record eye movements at 60Hz.

#### Design

A repeated measures mixed design was used for this study, with a between-participant factor of Condition (no fog, light fog, heavy fog, heavy fog + task) and within-participant factors of Drive (manual, automated) and Event (critical event 1, critical event 2).

The experimental session consisted of two drives (manual and automated) lasting about 20 minutes each, and to alleviate symptoms of fatigue, participants were given a short break between drives. Participants drove exactly the same road in both drives, but a screen manipulation was applied to the automated drive only. The order of drives was counterbalanced across participants, with half of the participants performing the manual drive first and the automated drive second, or vice versa. As shown in Figure 3.2, within each drive there were seven discrete events, each lasting approximately 150s. Events 1,3,4,5 and 7 were non-critical while events 2 and 6 were critical. During the non-critical events, the lead vehicle would either speed up or change lane while in the critical events the lead vehicle would brake, resulting in an impending collision scenario (2,6). The time-to-collision (TTC) at the point of the lead vehicle braking was 5s.

To induce the OoTL state during the automated drives we employed two screen manipulation techniques. In the light fog condition, a translucent grey filter was overlaid onto the road scene. Here, drivers were able to distinguish elements of the road environment and movements of the surrounding vehicles, the aim of the manipulation was to simulate a process whereby limited visual attention was directed towards the screen, for example when drivers are engaged in reading an email but partly aware of the driving scene in their peripheral vision. In the heavy fog condition, an opaque grey filter overlaid the road scene. This manipulation effectively blocked all visual information from the road environment. For both manipulations, drivers were also unable to see the HMI which portrayed the status of the automated system.



**Figure 3.2:** Schematic representation of each discrete event, with events two and six shown as critical.

#### Procedure

Upon arrival, participants were briefed on the description of the study and were asked to sign a consent form, with an opportunity to ask any questions, if required. They were then given the opportunity to practice manual driving and Highly Automated Driving (HAD) within a free-flowing 3-lane motorway. During the practice session, participants were talked through the various aspects of the vehicle HMI (Figure 3.3) were shown how to engage and disengage the automation, and were also shown the screen manipulation they would encounter during the experimental automated drive. The road contained ambient traffic, but participants did not experience the critical events during the practice drives.



**Figure 3.3:** Example of the in-vehicle HMI with the FCW symbol on the left and the Automation Status Symbol on the right.

In terms of automation uncertainty, participants were told that, should the automation become uncertain during the drive (see below for how this was portrayed), they should monitor the driving environment and determine for themselves whether or not to intervene. Participants were instructed to drive in lane 2 of the motorway for the duration of the drive but were permitted to change lane in critical situations, and were told to move back into lane 2 as soon as possible. Drivers were asked to obey the normal rules of the road and to ensure safe operation of the vehicle.

To engage the highly automated driving system, participants pressed a button on the steering wheel. To disengage automation, participants would either press the same button, turn the steering wheel more than 2° or press the brake pedal. During the automated drive, participants were asked to move to the centre of the middle lane as soon as convenient and then activate automated driving as soon as it was available (see Figure 3.2) which typically occurred 30 s after the drive began. If drivers did not engage automation, after 60 s the system engaged automatically. The activation of automation constituted the start of an event. After 30 s of automated driving, one of two 90 s screen manipulations began. It is important to note that the vehicle dynamics, as well as all auditory cues, remained active during the screen manipulations. To ensure drivers were able to disengage from the driving task during automation without experiencing a high level of fatigue, we chose a screen manipulation duration of 90 s. After each screen manipulation, the presence of a lead vehicle triggered an uncertainty scenario. At this point, the screen manipulation concluded, the driving scene was again visible, and simultaneously the automation status changed from "Engaged" to "Uncertain". Drivers were notified of this change by an auditory 'beep' and the automation status symbol, which was now visible, changed from green to flashing yellow. The driver was then expected to monitor the situation and intervene if necessary. After 3 s, the lead vehicle would make one of three manoeuvres: In the non-critical event (1,3,4,6) the lead vehicle either moved out of lane 2 or sped up, while in the critical events (2,6) the lead vehicle braked sharply with a maximum deceleration of  $5.0 \text{ m/s}^2$ .

#### Human-Machine Interface (HMI)

The status of the vehicle's automated system was indicated by the colour of a steering wheel symbol that was located on the left panel of the central display unit (See Figure 3.3). There were four possible combinations of this status, as outlined in Table 3.1. Any change to the automation state, whether driver- or system-initiated, was accompanied by a non-intrusive 'beep' tone.

In addition to the automation status, a Forward Collision Warning (FCW) symbol was included in the left panel of the central display unit Figure (3.3). Active only when automation was engaged, this system provided a visual approximation of the headway of the lead vehicle in seconds. A continuous alarm alerted drivers of an imminent collision whenever TTC with the lead vehicle was below a threshold of 2 s. To further deprive drivers of system information during automation, the automation status (steering wheel) and the FCW status were also hidden. However, participants were able to reveal the HMI at any point by pulling the left indicator stick towards them. This action illuminated the HMI for 2 s. Participants were able to do this as often as they wanted.

Steering W Colour	Vheel	Automation status	Description
Grey		Unavailable	Indicates that automation is not available to be engaged by the driver. Appears during the first 30 s of the automated drive and when the vehi- cle is not in the middle of the middle lane.
Flashing green		Available	Indicates that the driver is able to engage automation. Appears when the vehicle is in the middle of the middle lane.
Green		Engaged	Indicates that the vehicle is being controlled by the automated system, which manages gentle manoeuvres and is not designed to respond to critical and unexpected incidents.
Flashing yellow	v	Uncertain	Indicates that the automated system, while currently functioning nor- mally, thinks that in the near future there may be a situation on the road that it cannot deal with and, therefore, requires the driver to monitor the road and intervene where necessary.
Red		Disengaged	Indicates that the automation is temporarily unavailable. Appears im- mediately after automation is disengaged.

 Table 3.1: Description of the automation status HMI.

# 3.3 Results and Discussion

In this experiment, we attempted to simulate the feeling of being OoTL during HAD by limiting system and environmental information, and examined drivers' assessment of the criticality of automation uncertainty warnings and their ability to respond to critical situations. We hypothesised that as drivers are further removed from the loop their ability to assess and respond to critical situations would be degraded. Additionally, we expected that drivers' ability to recognise and respond to these critical situations would be worse in automation, compared to manual driving and that response in heavy fog conditions would be worse than light fog, which has some visibility of the driving environment.

## 3.3.1 Validating the OoTL state

To assess the validity of the screen manipulation technique for inducing a state of being OOTL, we considered drivers' visual attention to the road scene and driving task by observing its distribution across five spatial regions as illustrated in Figure 3.4,

similar to a technique used by Hughes and Cole (1988) and Carsten et al. (2012). We used Percentage Road Centre (PRC; Victor, 2005) all seven events, and during both manual and automated driving. PRC was defined as the mode of gaze fixations that fell within the road centre area, a 6° circular region within a 60 s moving window. As described in Carsten et al. (2012), the left region covered fixations to the centre console (e.g., radio controls) as well as the left side mirror, door window, and passing traffic in the adjacent lane. The right region covered the right side mirror, door window, and passing traffic in the adjacent lane. The bottom region covered mainly the dashboard, where the speedometer, automation HMI, and a variety of gauges were located. The top region covered mainly the sky. We reasoned that automation would reduce drivers' attention to the road and, therefore, reduce PRC values in the central region, in particular.



Figure 3.4: Visual attention regions (Carsten et al., 2012).

To understand what information may be useful to drivers when they are required to re-engage in the driving task, we also calculated the point of first gaze fixation after each screen manipulation ended in the two automation conditions. Finally, we counted the frequency of occasions drivers used the indicator stick to glimpse at the HMI, in order to understand whether and to what extent drivers were engaging with the driving task during the periods of screen manipulation when automation was on.

## 3.3.2 Distribution of visual attention

The drivers' gaze behaviour was analysed across Screen Manipulation conditions. PRC during periods of Screen Manipulation for all seven periods of automation was compared using a one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA), with Drive (*automation*, *manual*) as a within-subjects factor. Figure 3.5 shows that when compared to those in the heavy fog condition, participants in the light fog condition, fixated on the road ahead (depicted by the Centre bar) significantly more often than any other visible sections of the driving environment (F(1,26) = 31.984, p<.001,  $\eta_p^2$  = .417). These can be compared to the central PRC values in the manual drive, which were 73.77% for the light fog group and 73.50% for the heavy fog group. By the same token, for the same period, less fixations were observed towards the bottom of the screen (including the side mirrors) (F(1,26) = 4.480, p=.044,  $\eta_p^2$ = .147).



**Figure 3.5:** Percentage Road Centre during Light Fog and Heavy Fog automation drives. Error bars = SEM. \* indicates significant difference.

## 3.3.3 Engagement with the system

Data were analysed using a mixed-design ANOVA with a within-subjects factor of Events (7) and a between-subject factor of Condition (*lightfog,heavyfog*). Mauchly's test indicated that the assumption of sphericity had been violated ( $\chi^2(20) = 151.86, p < .001$ ), and therefore degrees of freedom were corrected using Greenhouse-Geisser estimates of sphericity ( $\epsilon = 0.26$ ). There was a main effect of Events [F(1.557, 42.027) = 5.185, p=.015,  $\eta_p^2$ .161], where drivers glimpsed at the automation status less often as the drive progressed over the seven events (Figure 3.6). This suggests that, over time, participants were more disengaged from the driving task, possibly either because they

trusted the system more or because the system status was always the same when they checked. There was no main effect of Condition, however, which indicates that drivers' engagement was not influenced by whether or not they could see what was happening in the road environment during light fog versus heavy fog conditions. There were also no significant interactions between Condition and Event.



**Figure 3.6:** Average number of 'peeks' at the hidden automation status throughout the light fog and heavy fog automated drives.

## 3.3.4 First gaze fixation

When the screen manipulation was turned off, more of the participants driving in the light fog condition looked at the road centre first (M=76.53% vs. M=66.67%) compared to the central display area, which contained the dashboard (M=8.16% vs. M=15.24%). However, a chi-squared test indicated that these differences were not statistically significant.

## 3.3.5 Driver response to critical events

Driver response measures during the critical events included automation disengagement time, a count of the process by which participants disengaged automation, as well as how many lane changes and collisions were experienced.

Automation disengagement time was analysed with a mixed-design ANOVA, with Event (*critical event 1, critical event 2*) as a within-subjects factor and Condition (*light* 

	Critical Events (2,6)		Non-Critical Events (1,3,4,5)	
	Light Fog	Heavy Fog	Light Fog	Heavy Fog
Brake	18/30	23/30	2/60	8/60
Steer	9/30	7/30	9/60	6/60
Button	3/30	0/30	4/60	0/60
Automation Remained Engaged	0/30	0/30	45/60	46/60

**Table 3.2:** Disengagement methods for all cases in the critical and non-critical events.

*fog, heavy fog*) as a between-subjects factor. Chi-squared tests were conducted on lane change and collision counts.

There was no effect of Condition on automation disengagement time [F(1,27) = .991, p=.328,  $\eta_p^2$ = .034], suggesting that being OoTL prior to the critical event did not impede drivers' ability to react to the lead vehicle braking. There was also no effect of Event and no interactions between Event and Condition. However, as argued earlier, drivers' disengagement times might be considered less informative than whether and how they reacted. Results from Table 3.2 show that, for the non-critical events, in both the light fog and heavy fog conditions, automation was only disengaged in a quarter of cases, while for the critical event disengagements occurred before the lead vehicle braked, suggesting that, during the automation uncertainty even drivers were able to regain sufficient SA to recognise the criticality of the situation (lead vehicle braking, reduced TTC and the likelihood of a collision). Drivers were not explicitly told how the system would behave in a critical situation, which suggests that when drivers do not know the limitations of their automated systems, they trust their own abilities over those of the system or they could be suspicious until they trust it.

To assess associations for lane changes, a chi-squared analysis was conducted. Table 3.3 shows that, drivers made fewer lane changes in the automation condition compared to manual. However, even though drivers were able to recognise the criticality of the event following automation, they were still unable to avoid a collision, with a chi-squared test revealing that significantly more collisions with the lead vehicle occurred in the automation than manual drives (p=.01). During automation, however, there was a marked increase in collisions when the heavy fog manipulation was on,

	Automation		Manual	
	Critical Event 1	Critical Event 2	Critical Event 1	Critical Event 2
Light Fog	7 (2)	10 (1)	11 (1)	12 (0)
Heavy Fog	9 (7)	9 (3)	11 (2)	11 (1)

Table 3.3: Lane Changes and collision counts (in brackets).

compared to the light fog condition, with the trend more prominent in the first critical event. These results suggest that, compared to manual driving, automation reduced drivers' ability to avoid a collision, and particularly so when drivers were further out of the loop in the heavy fog condition.

## 3.3.6 Vehicle measures

To examine driver's overall vehicle control during the transition in critical events (2,6), longitudinal driving performance was measured using maximum deceleration from the point of resumption of manual control to the end of the critical event, which was 10 seconds after the lead vehicle's brake light illuminated. Taken in the same time frame, lateral driving performance was measured using maximum lateral acceleration, which has also been used previously as a measure of vehicle control (Gold et al., 2014; Louw et al., 2015). Minimum distance headway was also calculated and was a measure of how close a driver came to the rear of the lead vehicle.

A mixed-design ANOVA was conducted on Drive (*automation, manual*) and Event (*critical event 1, critical event 2*) as within-subjects factors and Condition (*light fog, heavy fog*) as a between-subjects factor, for maximum lateral acceleration, maximum deceleration and minimum headway.

#### Maximum lateral acceleration

Maximum lateral acceleration was significantly higher in the automated drives, compared to the manual drives (M=1.99m/s<sup>2</sup>; SE=0.19 m/s<sup>2</sup>, vs. M=1.13 m/s<sup>2</sup>; SE=0.12 m/s<sup>2</sup>) [F(1,28) = 9.382, p=.005,  $\eta_p^2$ = .251), suggesting that following re-entry into manual control drivers displayed less stable vehicle control in response to a potential collision scenario, compared to manual driving. However, there was no effect of Condition or Event and also no interactions.

#### Maximum deceleration

There was also a significant effect of Drive on maximum deceleration [F(1,25)=13.774, p=.001,  $\eta_p^2$ =.355], with participants reducing their speed at a higher rate in the automated drive (M=-5.94 m/s<sup>2</sup>; SE=0.45 m/s<sup>2</sup>, vs. M=-4.25 m/s<sup>2</sup>; SE=0.46 m/s<sup>2</sup>). As shown in Figure 3.7, this effect was qualified by the interaction between Drive and Condition, [F(1,28)=9.382, p=.005,  $\eta_p^2$ =.251], where the difference in maximum deceleration between the automation and manual drives was significantly greater in the light fog condition. There was no effect of Condition or Event and no other interactions.



**Figure 3.7:** Maximum deceleration for the two Drives and for the two Conditions. Error bars = SEM.

#### Headway

There was a main effect of Drive on minimum headway [F(1,28)=7.343, p=.011,  $\eta_p^2$ = .208], being significantly shorter in the automated drive (M=15.31m, SE=2.72) than in the manual drive (M=22.75m, SE=3.47m). The result of this lower headway is also demonstrated by the higher collision count in the automated drives (Table 3). There was an effect of Condition for headway [F(1,28) = 5.679, p=.024,  $\eta_p^2$ = .169], with drivers in the heavy fog condition having a significantly shorter headway (M=12.96, SE=2.63m) compared to the light fog condition (M=17.66m, SE=2.81m), but this result needs to be interpreted cautiously because of the inter-group variance in headway in this between-subjects design. This is further supported by the differences in collision counts between the light fog and heavy fog conditions. There was a significant effect of Event for headway [F(1,28)=10.513, p=.003,  $\eta_p^2$ =.273] with shorter headway

in the second critical event (M=15.27m, SE=2.98m), compared to the first (M=22.75m, SE=3.20m).

# 3.4 Summary and Conclusions

Previous studies on the human factors of the transition from HAD to manual driving have attributed less effective return-to-manual performance to the rather poorly understood human OoTL problem. To investigate the relative contribution of the driver OoTL state to driving performance during this transition, the current study attempted to simulate the driver OoTL state, and to examine whether it affected drivers' ability to recognise and respond to a critical situation.

We hypothesised that, by limiting system and environmental information during automation and prior to an automation uncertainty event, drivers would have a reduced ability to recognise and respond to a critical scenario. Eye glance data showed that during automation, when the screen was manipulated by a heavy fog condition, drivers were less engaged with the driving task and reduced their attention to the road centre. However, drivers were able to determine the criticality of the impending collision (critical events), disengaging automation after the lead vehicle braked in all but 8 of 60 cases. Yet, simply recognising the hazard did not seem sufficient, as drivers collided with the lead vehicle in 13 of 60 critical event cases. Drivers seemed to be more out of the loop in the heavy fog condition, with more collisions after this manipulation than the light fog condition (although differences were not significantly different).

In the study reported by Beller et al. (2013), communicating automation uncertainty was found to improve driver-automation interaction, such as an improved time to collision in the case of automation failure. They also report higher trust ratings and increased acceptance of the system. This study extends the work of Beller et al. (2013) by investigating the effect of such uncertainty on a higher range of vehicle control measures.

We found that when drivers were not in physical control of the vehicle and had an artificially reduced situation awareness during automated driving, their response to an impending collision after an uncertainty message in critical events involved greater maximum deceleration and higher maximum lateral accelerations, whilst they also maintained a shorter headway with the lead vehicle, when results were compared to manual driving performance. The response profile of drivers to a potential collision scenario was, therefore, less controlled and more aggressive immediately after the transition. Given that the uncertainty alarm was not a take-over-request but rather a request to monitor the system and intervene if they deemed necessary, it is difficult to accurately assess response time to an event. Nevertheless, taken together these differences suggest that following automation, drivers have a diminished capacity to respond as they would under normal manual control. Apart from the higher collision count in the heavy fog automation drive, driver response after the transition was found to be similar between the two screen manipulation conditions. However, it is not currently clear whether this lack of difference between the two levels of screen manipulation, aimed at taking drivers further OoTL, was an inappropriate application of the methodology, or whether the vehicle-based measures used to test this hypothesis were not robust enough to highlight any possible differences.

One of the challenges of using the screen manipulation technique to induce the OoTL state is that drivers are likely aware that they are losing information. In reality, when drivers are OoTL as a result of a distracting non-driving task or, indeed, vehicle automation, they may not know the extent to which they are OoTL. Therefore, the technique used in this study, may well be underestimating the effects of being OoTL in automation, on a driver's ability to respond in critical situations. In addition, as Dekker (2004) points out, the loss of situation awareness or deficient situation awareness is explained by reference to an "ideal", potential state of situation awareness, where one notices things that turn out to be critical. In the context of vehicle automation, this "ideal" is likely closely linked to drivers' understanding of the functionality and behaviour of the automated system. Before higher levels of vehicle automation become ubiquitous it is important for us to understand how drivers interact with their vehicle's automation system in dynamic environments, such that the design of these systems augment the limitations of the driver in this new context. Future studies on driver-automation interaction should, therefore, strive to integrate deeper context and meaning into the design of experiments and scenarios.

It is also pertinent to acknowledge that the measures used may be more meaningful when analysed according to the nature of the driver's response to a critical event. For example, measures of lateral acceleration will be different for those who steer compared to those who only brake. Further studies are currently in progress in our laboratories to investigate these ideas in more detail by comparing the results from this study with other types of screen manipulation including the use of distracting tasks.

# 3.5 References

- Beller, J., Heesen, M. and Vollrath, M. (2013). Improving the Driver-Automation Interaction: An Approach Using Automation Uncertainty. Human Factors, 55(6), 1130-1141.
- Carsten, O. and Vanderhaegen, F. (2015). Situation awareness: Valid or fallacious? Cognition, Technology and Work, 17 (2), 157-158.
- Carsten, O., Lai, F. C. H., Barnard, Y., Jamson, A. H. and Merat, N. (2012). Control task substitution in semi-automated driving: Does it matter what aspects are automated? Human Factors, 54, 747-761.
- De Winter, J. C. F., Happee, R., Martens, M. H. and Stanton, N. A. (2014). Effects of adaptive cruise control and highly automated driving on workload and situation awareness: A review of the empirical evidence. Transportation Research Part F, 27 Part B, 196-217.
- Endsley, M. R. (1995). Toward a theory of situation awareness in dynamic systems. Human Factors, 37, 65-84.
- Gold, C. and Bengler, K. (2014). Taking Over Control from Highly Automated Vehicles. Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics AHFE 2014, Krakow, Poland 19-23 July.
- Gold, C., Damböck, D., Lorenz, L. and Bengler, K. (2013). "Take over!" How long does it take to get the driver back into the loop? Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting September 2013, 57, 1938-1942.
- Goodrich M.A. and Boer E.R. (1999). Multiple mental models, automation strategies, and intelligent vehicle systems. Proceedings IEEE/ IEEJ/JSAI conference on intelligent transportation systems: October 5-8, 1999, Tokio Japan: Tokyo, Japan.

- Hergeth, S., Lorenz, L., Krems, J. and Toenert, L. (2015). Effects of Take-Over Requests and Cultural Background on Automation Trust in Highly Automated Driving. In Proceedings of the 8th International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design (pp. 331-337). Snowbird, Utah.
- Jamson, A. H., Merat, N., Carsten, O. M. J. and Lai, F. C. H. (2013). Behavioural changes in drivers experiencing highly-automated vehicle control in varying traffic conditions. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 116-125.
- Lee, J. D. (2014). Dynamics of Driver Distraction: The process of engaging and disengaging. Annals of Advances in Automotive Medicine, 58: 24-32.
- Lee, J. D., Regan, M. A. and Young, K. L. (2008). Defining driver distraction. In M. A. Regan, J. D. Lee, and K. L. Young (Eds.), Driver Distraction: Theory, Effects, and Mitigation (pp. 31-40). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Li, S. Y. W., Magrabi, F. and Coiera, E. (2012). A systematic review of the psychological literature on interruption and its patient safety implications. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association: JAMIA, 19(1), 6-12. doi:10.1136/amiajnl-2010-000024
- Louw, T., Merat, N. and Jamson A. H. (2015). Engaging with Highly Automated Driving: To be or not to be in the loop? In Proceedings of the 8th International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design (pp. 190-196). Snowbird, Utah. doi:10.13140/RG.2.1.2788.9760
- Merat, N. and Lee, J. D. (2012). Preface to the special section on human factors and automation in vehicles designing highly automated vehicles with the driver in mind. Human Factors, 54, 681-686.
- Merat, N., Jamson, A. H., Lai, F. C. and Carsten, O. (2012). Highly automated driving, secondary task performance, and driver state. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 54(5), 762-771.
- Molloy, R. and Parasuraman, R. (1996). Monitoring an automated system for a single failure: Vigilance and task complexity effects. Human Factors, 38(2), 311-322.
- Neubauer, C., Matthews, G., Langheim, L. and Saxby, D. (2011). Fatigue and voluntary utilization of automation in simulated driving. Human Factors, 54(5), 734-746.
- SAE J3016 (2014). Taxonomy and Definitions for Terms Related to On-Road Motor Vehicle Automated Driving Systems. Society of Automotive Engineers.
- Strayer, D. L. and Johnston, W. A. (2001). Driven to distraction: Dual-task studies of simulated driving and conversing on a cellular phone. Psychological Science, 12, 462-466.
- Victor, T. W. (2005). Keeping eye and mind on the road. Doctoral thesis, Uppsala University, Uppsala.

#### **CHAPTER 4**

# ARE YOU IN THE LOOP? USING GAZE DISPERSION TO UNDERSTAND DRIVER VISUAL ATTENTION DURING VEHICLE AUTOMATION

ABSTRACT This driving simulator study, conducted as part of the ECfunded AdaptIVe project, assessed drivers' visual attention distribution during automation and on approach to a critical event, and whether such attention changes following repeated exposure to an impending collision. Measures of drivers' horizontal and vertical gaze dispersion during both conventional and automated (SAE Level 2) driving were compared on approach to such critical events. Using a between-participant design, 60 drivers (15 in each group) experienced automation with one of four screen manipulations: 1) no manipulation, 2) manipulation by light fog, 3) manipulation by heavy fog, and 4) manipulation by heavy fog with a secondary task, which were used to induce varying levels of engagement with the driving task. Results showed that, during automation, drivers' horizontal gaze was generally more dispersed than that observed during manual driving. Drivers clearly looked around more when their view of the driving scene was completely blocked by an opaque screen in the heavy fog condition. By contrast, horizontal gaze dispersion was (unsurprisingly) more concentrated when drivers performed a visual secondary task, which was overlaid on the opaque screen. However, once they ceased and an uncertainty alert captures drivers' attention towards an impending incident, a similar gaze pattern is seen for all drivers, with no carry-over effects observed after the screen manipulations. This pattern was also seen for this period of manual driving. Results showed that drivers' understanding of the automated system increased as time progressed

and that scenarios that encourage driver gaze towards the road centre are more likely to increase situation awareness during high levels of automation.

## 4.1 Introduction

The past decade has seen a rapid development of vehicles equipped with Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS), culminating in multiple vehicle manufacturers releasing first-generation automated driving functionalities such as Lane Keeping Assist (LKA) and Adaptive Cruise Control (Level 2, partial automation; SAE, 2014). These include the Volvo XC90 (Volvo Cars, 2015), Tesla Model S (Tesla Motors, 2015), and Infinity Q50 (Infinity, 2015). While vehicle automation promises a number of social and individual benefits, including increased mobility (Rosenbloom, 2012), safety and efficiency (Anderson et al., 2014), it also shifts the driver's role, from that of an active operator to that of a passive supervisor (Merat et al., 2012). Some authors have suggested that this supervisory role takes drivers "out-of-the-loop" (OoTL) and impairs their ability to manage critical situations when performance after automation failure/limitations is compared to manual driving (Rudwin-Brown and Parker, 2004; Gold et al., 2013; Strand et al., 2014; Merat et al., 2014). While the origin of this OoTL concept is based on the effect of automation on performance within other domains (Weiner and Curry, 1980; Bainbridge, 1987; Norman and Orlady, 1989; Endsley and Kiris, 1995; Rasmussen and Rouse, 2013), the term is not yet currently well-defined when addressing the impact of vehicle automation on driving performance. Yet, from a human factors and road safety perspective, it is important to investigate the nature and consequences of this OoTL state and understand, for example, how it influences drivers' distribution of attention during high levels of automation, or how it affects their ability to resume control from automation in an appropriate and timely manner, should a system limit be reached. This paper, therefore, describes a driving simulator study that attempted to simulate the OoTL concept in vehicle automation and reports on the distribution of drivers' visual attention during SAE level 2 automation as a means of assessing this methodology.

According to Kienle et al. (2009), a driver is considered OoTL when they are "not immediately aware of the vehicle and the road traffic situation because they are not actively monitoring, making decisions or providing input to the driving task". Norman (1990) attributes causality not to automation per se but rather to a lack of continual feedback. The concept seems, therefore, to include two elements; one, which relates to the awareness of elements in the environment, and another, which relates to the

awareness of elements regarding vehicle status and its automated system(s).

Seeking to expand on the mechanisms underlying the OoTL problem, Louw et al. (2015) presented a schematic representation of this concept, which proposes that, as a result of vehicle automation, drivers are removed from a physical control loop, because they are no longer physically interacting with the vehicle's mechanisms such as the steering wheel and pedals (see also Stanton and Young, 1998). Drivers can also be removed from a 'cognitive control loop' and lose situation awareness, either because they are looking away from the driving scene during automation and interacting with a distracting task, or due to boredom/mind-wandering (Lerner et al., 2015). Clearly, both loops are important for contributing to safe driving performance, since, for instance, physical neuromuscular control gives drivers feedback of steering torque and helps contribute to corrections of heading errors (Pick and Cole, 2006), whilst good situation awareness contributes to effective attentional control and decision-making and improves hazard perception, for instance, in response to critical events (Endsley, 2006; Horswill and McKenna, 2004). Accordingly, Louw et al. (2015) hypothesise that reductions in either or both aspects of control, brought about by automation, can contribute to less effective return-to-manual performance, but that not being in physical control can also act to impair situation awareness, which consequently can reduce driving performance.

To further investigate this concept, the current study sought to induce a range of OoTL states by removing driving-relevant information during automation and explored whether these affected drivers' ability to regain situation awareness in response to a potentially critical event. Based on the Kienle et al. (2009) definition, being in the loop involves three distinct elements: drivers must (i) be aware of the vehicle (ii) be aware of the road traffic situation and (iii) make decisions or provide input to the driving task (when resuming control). We, therefore, designed a study where we examined how drivers' ability to respond to potentially critical situations which followed a system-initiated automation disengagement, was affected by the systematic removal of the three elements mentioned above, thereby inducing an artificial OoTL state. This was achieved by developing a screen manipulation technique, introduced in Louw et al. (2015) and Louw et al. (2016), which uses a fog-like display to vary the degree of visual information available to drivers during automation, both in terms of the dashboard displays in the vehicle and also the road environment itself (see Figure 2, and Methods section for a more detailed outline). This approach broadly resembles a visual occlusion technique, first used by Senders et al. (1967) to model driver behaviour based on information theory, and then others to quantify the visual demand of in-vehicle information systems (Foley, 2008).

Extended durations of automated driving have been shown to take drivers further OoTL (Körber et al., 2015). However, here, we were simply interested in assessing whether removing driving-relevant information, with short periods of such screen manipulations, would take drivers OoTL, and what the effects of such manipulations would be on drivers' visual attention. Of course, one simple method for taking drivers OoTL (both physical and cognitive) is to allow interaction with a secondary task during automation. However, our rationale for using screen manipulations was to reduce the complications associated with the physical demand of engaging in a secondary task (Zeeb, Buchner, and Schrauf, 2015), which can take drivers' head, hands and eyes away from the driving scene (Carsten, Lai, Barnard, Jamson, and Merat, 2012; Louw, Merat, and Jamson, 2015) and adds considerable individual variability during the return to manual control.

Traditionally, analysis of drivers' performance in the transition period from automation to manual control has relied on the use of vehicle-based metrics and reaction time measures, following a mandatory resumption of control from a failing or limited automation system (Gold, Damböck, Lorenz, and Bengler, 2013; Louw et al., 2015; Merat and Jamson, 2008). However, while it is relevant to establish the minimum time required for drivers to resume control of the vehicle after automation disengagement (termed a take-over-response or TOR; see Beller et al., 2014; and Helldin et al., 2013), we argue that such instructions to resume control may simply be in response to alarms and experimenter commands, and not a reflection of drivers' recognition of, and ability to manage, an emerging critical situation. This argument is supported by Gold and colleagues' finding that while a relatively rapid resumption of control from automation is possible, where the first braking input can be as fast as 2.06 s, and steering input is around 2.27 s, it is at the cost of safe vehicle control (Gold et al., 2013). Therefore, our aim was to investigate drivers' assessment of the environment following a period of screen manipulation using an uncertainty alert, which declared the automation might not be able to handle the unfolding situation, and investigated how each screen manipulation condition affected drivers' ability to evaluate the criticality of events

and decide whether resumption of control was necessary. We also assessed whether repeated exposure to such events influenced drivers' visual attention.

To assess drivers' attention to the driving scene and vehicle controls during, before and after each screen manipulation, we considered their visual attention to different areas of interest, using eye gaze dispersion. Psychophysiological research using eye gaze data has been a popular method for measuring drivers' attention allocation (Posner, 1980), situation awareness (Gugerty, 2011; Gartenberg et al., 2013) and hazard perception (Endsley and Jones, 2004; Horswill and McKenna, 2004). However, while gaze concentration has been used successfully in manual driving to distinguish between the effects of visual and cognitive load (Engström et al., 2005), it has been scarcely applied in automated driving (see for example Damböck et al., 2013, who report greater horizontal gaze dispersion for highly automated driving as compared to manual driving). A review of the literature by de Winter, Happee, Martens, and Stanton (2014), found that drivers in highly automated driving gaze on the road less often than when in manual control, which therefore could result in lower workload, but also poor situation awareness. However, most of the studies reviewed by de Winter et al. (2014) have used fixation-based Percentage Road Centre (PRC) measures (e.g. Carsten et al., 2012), rather than raw gaze data. According to Wang et al. (2014), fixation-based PRC is less sensitive to demand-induced changes in visual behaviour than measures of gaze-based PRC and gaze dispersion. Therefore, in this study, we chose to explore the use of horizontal and vertical gaze dispersion as a means of evaluating drivers' OoTL state during automated driving, as well as during the resumption of control from automation. The screen manipulation technique was used to induce varying levels of the OoTL state, by systematically removing information from drivers during automation. The study then considered the following questions:

- 1. What gaze pattern do drivers exhibit during each of the different screen manipulation conditions?
- 2. When resumption of manual control is required, is drivers' visual attention to the scene and vehicle controls affected differently by the different screen manipulations?
- 3. Can we infer drivers are taken out of the loop by the screen manipulations, and does this depend on the particular manipulations applied?

4. Does drivers' visual attention change after repeated exposure to the same events?

# 4.2 Methods

## 4.2.1 Participants

Following approval from the University of Leeds Research Ethics Committee (Reference Number: LTTRAN-054), four groups of 15 drivers were recruited via the driving simulator database and were paid £20 for taking part in the experiment. The average age of the participants was  $36.16 \pm 12.38$  years, and out of 60 participants, 32 were male. Average mean annual mileage was  $8290.46 \pm 6723.08$  miles. Participants had normal or corrected-to-normal vision, were required to have had a driving licence for at least one year (M = 16.22, SD = 12.92) and drive at least twice a week. Data from one participant was excluded from the analysis due to abnormal values from their eye-tracking data ( $\pm 3$  SD from the mean).

## 4.2.2 Design and Procedure

#### Materials

The experiment was conducted in the University of Leeds Driving Simulator, which consists of a Jaguar S-type cab with all driver controls operational. The vehicle is housed within a 4m spherical projection dome and has a 300° field-of-view projection system. A v4.5 Seeing Machines faceLAB eye-tracker was used to record eye movements at 60Hz.

#### Design

A repeated measures mixed design was used for this study, with a between-participant factor of Screen Manipulation (no fog, light fog, heavy fog, heavy fog + task) and within-participant factors of Drive Type (manual, automated) and Event Number (1-6).

The experimental session consisted of two drives for each group (manual, automated) which lasted about 20 minutes each, and participants experienced a short break between drives, to alleviate the symptoms of fatigue. Participants drove the



**Figure 4.1:** Schematic representation of each discrete event in the automated (left) and manual (right) drives. (a) to (g) represent various phases of the drive, as follows: (a) Event start, (b) Automation on, (c) Screen Manipulation on, (d) Drone moves into lane, (e) Screen Manipulations off + uncertainty alert, (f) Drone action, (g) Event end.

same road in both drives, but the screen manipulation was only used during the automated drives. For each Screen Manipulation group, the order of drives was counterbalanced across participants, with half of the participants performing the manual drive first and the automated drive second, and vice versa. As shown in Figure 1, within each automation and manual drive, there were six discrete car-following events, each lasting approximately 150 s. Our main aim here was to study drivers' response to critical events after they were taken OoTL with a screen manipulation. However, to assess situation awareness after the uncertainty events (see below), and to reduce priming, each drive contained only two critical events (events 2 and 6), interspersed with four non-critical events (events 1, 3, 4 and 5). During the non-critical events, the lead vehicle would either speed up or change lane, while during the critical events the lead vehicle decelerated at a rate of 5 m/s<sup>2</sup>, resulting in an impending collision scenario. The time-to-collision (TTC) at the start of this deceleration was 3 s.

As outlined in the Introduction, to induce varying levels of the OoTL state during the automated drives, we employed four screen manipulation techniques (Figure 4.2). In the no fog condition, there was no manipulation of the road scene, and drivers could observed all aspects of the road and traffic environment. In the light fog condition, a translucent grey filter superimposed the road scene. The aim of this manipulation was to simulate a process whereby drivers were able to distinguish only basic elements of the road environment and the movement of vehicles in the immediate vicinity. In the heavy fog condition, an opaque grey filter overlaid the road scene. This manipulation sought to effectively blocked all visual information from the



(a) No Fog





(c) Heavy Fog

(d) Heavy Fog + Task

**Figure 4.2:** Example of a drivers' view in the a) no fog, b) light fog, c) heavy fog, and d) heavy fog + task conditions.

road environment such that drivers were unaware of the traffic conditions. During the heavy fog + task condition the road was blocked with the same opaque grey filter used in the heavy fog condition but overlaid with a series of visually presented secondary tasks. Here, participants were required to complete a number of multiplechoice questions involving visuo-spatial shape-matching, general knowledge, and moderately challenging mathematics, which were sourced from various web-based IQ tests and were presented in a random order. All responses to this task were verbal. The aim of this manipulation was to assess how engagement in a secondary task affected performance, but since we were keen not to remove drivers' eyes and head away from the screen (keeping physical position as similar as possible to the other experiments) the secondary task was displayed on the driving scene, akin to a Head-Up Display. Participants were told that they would not be penalised for incorrect answers, but that their response would be recorded. We hypothesised that less visual information about the scene would take drivers further OoTL and that drivers, therefore, would be most OoTL during the heavy fog condition, followed by light fog and no fog conditions.

4.2 METHODS

#### Procedure

Upon arrival, participants were briefed on the description of the study and were asked to sign a consent form, with an opportunity to ask any questions, if required. They were then given the opportunity to practice manual driving and Highly Automated Driving (HAD) within a free-flowing 3-lane motorway. During the practice session, participants were talked through the various aspects of the vehicle HMI Figure 4.3 were shown how to engage and disengage the automation and were also shown the screen manipulation they would encounter during the experimental automated drive. The road contained ambient traffic, but participants did not experience the critical events during the practice drives.

Regarding automation uncertainty, participants were told that should the automation become uncertain during the drive (see below for how this was portrayed) they should monitor the driving environment and determine for themselves whether or not to intervene. Participants were instructed to drive in the middle lane of the three-lane motorway for the duration of the drive (automation was only possible in this lane) but were permitted to change lane in critical situations, and were told to move back into the middle lane as soon as possible. Drivers were asked to obey the standard rules of the road and to ensure safe operation of the vehicle.

To engage the highly automated driving system, participants pressed a button on the steering wheel. To disengage automation, participants would either press the same button, turn the steering wheel more than 2° or press the brake pedal. During the automated drive, participants were asked to move to the centre of the middle lane as soon as convenient and then activate automated driving as soon as it was available. If drivers did not engage automation, the system engaged automatically after 5 s. The activation of automation constituted the start of an event. After 30 s of automated driving, one of four 90 s screen manipulations began. It is important to note that the vehicle dynamics, as well as all auditory cues, remained active during the screen manipulations. After each screen manipulation, the presence of a lead vehicle triggered an uncertainty scenario (for both critical and non-critical events). At this point, the screen manipulation concluded, the driving scene was again visible, and the automation status changed from "Engaged" to "Uncertain". Drivers were notified of this change by a short duration auditory tone (1000Hz, lasting 0.2 s), and the automation status symbol, which was now visible, changed from green to flashing yellow. The driver was expected to monitor the driving situation and intervene, if necessary. After 3 s, the lead vehicle completed one of three manoeuvres: In the non-critical event (1, 3, 4, 5) the lead vehicle either moved out of lane 2 or sped up, while in the critical events (2, 6) the lead vehicle braked sharply with a maximum deceleration of 5.0 m/s<sup>2</sup>.

#### Human-Machine Interface (HMI)

The status of the vehicle's automated system was indicated by the colour of a steering wheel symbol that was located on the left panel of the central display unit (Figure 4.3). During the automated drives, the steering wheel symbol was solid green when automation was engaged, flashing yellow when it was uncertain and solid grey when it was unavailable. Any change to the automation state, whether driver- or system-initiated, was accompanied by the same non-intrusive auditory tone described above.



**Figure 4.3:** An example of the in-vehicle HMI with the Forward Collision Warning symbol on the left and the Automation Status Symbol on the right (flashing green in this example).

In addition to the automation status, a Forward Collision Warning (FCW) symbol was included in the left panel of the central display unit. Active only when automation was engaged, this system provided a visual approximation of the headway of the lead vehicle in seconds. In the automated drives, a continuous alarm alerted drivers of an imminent collision whenever TTC with the lead vehicle was below a 2 s threshold. However, this only occurred during the critical events. To further deprive drivers of system information during automation, the automation status (steering wheel) and

the FCW were also hidden during the screen manipulation conditions. However, participants were able to reveal the HMI at any point by pulling the left indicator stick towards them. This action illuminated the HMI for 2 s. Participants were able to move this stick as often as they wished.

#### **Research** aim

Gaze dispersion was used to assess how drivers' visual attention was distributed in each of the four screen manipulation conditions and to study how visual attention to the vehicle and driving scene was affected by vehicle automation in each screen manipulation condition. We hypothesised that less visual information about the scene would take drivers further OoTL and that therefore drivers were most OoTL during the heavy fog condition, followed by light fog and no fog. To take drivers one stage further OoTL from the heavy fog condition, we distracted drivers by introducing a secondary task on the heavy fog screen. This was done in preference to using an in-vehicle display as we were keen not to dramatically change the position of the drivers' eyes, head and hand compared to the other conditions.

### 4.2.3 Statistical analyses

All data were analysed with IBM SPSS v21 (IBM Corp., 2012). Shapiro Wilk's test showed that not all estimates were normally distributed. As the data were moderately positively skewed, square root transformations were used for analyses (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2007). ANOVA results reported below are on the transformed responses, while the graphs represent estimates in the original units, to facilitate interpretation (Neter et al., 1990). An  $\alpha$ -value of .05 was used as the criterion for statistical significance and partial eta-squared was computed as effect size statistics. Degrees of freedom were Greenhouse-Geiser corrected when Mauchly's test showed a violation of sphericity. Unless otherwise stated, variances of the data were homogenous, as assessed by Levene's test of equality of error variances (Field, 2009). Similarly, covariance matrices, unless otherwise stated. LSD pairwise comparisons ( $\alpha = .05$ ) were used to determine the difference between levels of Screen Manipulation and Event Number.

As highlighted in the Introduction, we used drivers' gaze dispersion to establish

Time Window	Start	End	Rationale	Comparisons
1	Automation On (b)	Screen Manipulation On (c)	Assess visual attention during uninterrupted driving	2 X 6 X 4 ANOVA: Drive Type ( <i>automated, manual</i> ) and Event Number (1-6) as within-participant factors and Screen Manipulation ( <i>No Fog,</i> <i>Light Fog, Heavy Fog, Heavy Fog + Task</i> ) as a between-participant factor
2	Screen Manipulation On (c)	Drone Moves Into Lane (d)	Assess the effect of the screen manipulations on visual attention	6 X 4 ANOVA: Event Number (1-6) as within-participant factors and Screen Manipulation ( <i>No Fog, Light Fog, Heavy Fog, Heavy Fog +</i> <i>Task</i> ) as a between-participant factor
3	Drone Moves Into Lane (d)	Screen Manipulation Off (e)	Not used for analysis	-
4	Screen Manipulation	Lead Vehicle	Assess the carry- over effect of the screen	2 X 6 X 4 ANOVA: Drive Type ( <i>automated, manual</i> ) and Event Number (1-6) as within-participant factors and Screen Manipulation ( <i>No Fog, Light Fog, Heavy Fog, Heavy Fog + Task</i> ) as a between-participant factor
	Off (e)	Action (f)	manipulations on visual attention	6 X 4 ANOVA: Event Number (1-6) as within-participant factors and Screen Manipulation ( <i>No Fog, Light Fog, Heavy Fog, Heavy Fog +</i> <i>Task</i> ) as a between-participant factor
5	Lead Vehicle Action (f)	Lead Vehicle Action (f) + 3 s	Assess the effect of a lead vehicle braking on visual attention	2 X 4 ANOVA: Critical Event (2, 6) as within-participant factors and Screen Manipulation ( <i>No Fog, Light Fog, Heavy Fog, Heavy Fog +</i> <i>Task</i> ) as a between-participant factor

 Table 4.1: Time windows used for statistical analyses.

how visual attention was distributed before and during each of the different screen manipulations. In addition, to understand how each manipulation affected this dispersion on approach to the six events, we considered how gaze dispersion varied just after the screen manipulations. To compare across the groups, we, therefore, divided each event into five Time Windows (TW), as in Figure 4.4. The rationale for these divisions and analyses are summarised in Table 4.1. Full statistical results are included in Table 4.2.



**Figure 4.4:** Schematic representation of the Time Windows used for the analyses. (a) to (g) represent various phases of the drive, as follows: (a) Event start, (b) Automation on, (c) Screen Manipulation on, (d) Drone moves into lane, (e) Screen Manipulations off + uncertainty alert, (f) Drone action, (g) Event end.

# 4.3 Results and Discussion

### 4.3.1 Gaze patterns during uninterrupted driving

Time Window 1 (TW1) was the only period in the automated drive where all drivers were able to see the road environment, which therefore allowed a comparison of performance with manual driving, and provided a reference point for the four screen manipulation conditions. For SD of Gaze Yaw, a three-way ANOVA showed a significant effect of Drive Type, where horizontal scanning was higher during automated driving compared to manual driving (M =  $8.35^\circ$ , SEM =  $.39^\circ$  vs. M =  $6.92^\circ$ , SEM = .29°, respectively; Table 4.2). Our results are in line with findings from Damböck et al. (2013) and multiple other studies, which have used gaze PRC (de Winter et al., 2014) and find higher horizontal scanning by drivers during automation. This pattern of increased horizontal scanning can be seen in Figure 4.5(a)-4.5(b), which shows an example of density contour plots of gaze dispersion for the automated and manual drives during TW1, on approach to a non-critical event (Event 5). Analyses of variance did not find a significant effect of Screen Manipulation or Event Number for SD of Gaze Yaw, or any significant interactions. The primary plots illustrate a  $40^{\circ}$ vertical and horizontal field of view, where darker areas represent more concentrated gaze areas, while the histograms depict two-dimensional views of horizontal gaze concentration and the histograms to the right depict two-dimensional views of vertical gaze concentrations.

For SD of Gaze Pitch, a three-way ANOVA revealed no effect of Screen Manipulation or Drive Type (Table 4.2). There was a significant effect of Event Number for SD of Gaze Pitch, with Figure 4.6 showing that there was a gradual decrease across the experiment for both drives. However, the significant interaction of Drive Type and Event Number, also shown in Figure 4.6, suggests that the effect of Event Number is mainly due to the automated drives, as post-hoc tests showed that vertical gaze was significantly more dispersed in Event 1 compared to Events 2-5 (p<.001). This higher SD of Gaze Pitch for the first Event in automation was likely due to a familiarisation period, as drivers tried to assess their environment, looking ahead at the driving scene and back at the vehicle dashboard, which is then significantly reduced after the first Event. Also, whereas in the automated drive SD of Gaze Pitch continues to



(b) Manual drives

**Figure 4.5**: Example density contour plots of gaze dispersion in Time Window 1 (from "Automation On" to "Screen Manipulation On") for Event 5.

fluctuate over the course of the six events, in the manual drive the decrease is relatively consistent, which is likely due to the fact that, across all time windows, the manual drive was far less interrupted. Therefore, drivers seem to be looking between the lead vehicle and dashboard less during automation, perhaps attempting to assess the environment they do not control. In manual driving, drivers divided their attention between the lead vehicle and dashboard more, which could be because they were asked to maintain a speed of 70mph.

The slight increase in SD of Gaze Pitch in Event 3 for both the automated and manual drives is likely due to drivers' propensity to engage further in the driving task and glance more regularly between the road and vehicle console after experiencing the first critical event (Event 2).



**Figure 4.6:** Mean SD of Gaze Pitch in Time Window 1 (from "Automation On" to "Screen Manipulation On") for each Event Number for the automated and manual drives.

## 4.3.2 Gaze patterns during the screen manipulations

Time Window 2 (TW2) represents the period where the various screen manipulations were applied during the automated drives. Here, we expected changes to visual attention distribution as a result of these manipulations, and as a direct consequence of the degree of visual information available to drivers. To provide an overview of gaze distribution for the four Screen Manipulation conditions, Figure 4.7(a) to Figure 4.8(b) displays density contour plots for all participants during TW2 for each Manipulation. Whereas these figures show raw gaze distribution, analysis was conducted on the

mean standard deviation of gaze (e.g., Figure 4.9). Therefore, while the patterns in Figure 4.9 loosely correspond to the patterns in Figure 4.7(a) to Figure 4.8(b), the latter are intended only as a visual guide.

A two-way ANOVA was conducted on the SD of Gaze Yaw to assess the effect of each screen manipulation during automation (Table 4.2). Results showed a significant main effect of Screen Manipulation, as shown in Figure 4.9. Post-hoc analyses revealed this was due to the different horizontal scanning pattern of drivers during the No Fog and Heavy Fog + Task conditions (p < .05). This reduction of horizontal gaze because of the secondary task engagement is not surprising and cannot in itself be used as a direct indication of how much drivers were OoTL. Figure 4.9 also shows similar horizontal scanning when drivers were able to see the driving scene in the No Fog condition and when the scene was fully occluded during the Heavy Fog condition. There was no effect of Event Number (p = .664) for SD of Gaze Yaw and no interaction between Event Number and Screen Manipulation, suggesting that the screen manipulations had a consistent effect on horizontal scanning throughout the six Events for all screen manipulations (p = .92).

A two-way ANOVA for SD of Gaze Pitch also showed a main effect of Screen Manipulation, with the greatest vertical gaze dispersion seen for drivers in the Heavy Fog condition. Post-hoc analyses found significant differences between this condition and all other screen manipulation conditions (Figure 4.10), suggesting that when drivers were taken OoTL by not being able to see the the road, their primary vertical gaze activity focused on looking between the road ahead and the vehicle dashboard, presumably awaiting the end of the screen manipulation. There was also a main effect of Event Number for SD of Gaze Pitch. As can be seen in Figure 4.11, pairwise comparisons revealed that this effect was due to an increased concentration of vertical scanning after Event 1, which is significantly higher than all but the last Event (p<.05). As with TW1, the higher SD of Gaze Pitch for Event 1 is likely due to a familiarisation period by drivers, at the start of the drive. There was no interaction between Event Number and Screen Manipulation for SD of Gaze Pitch.



(b) Light Fog

**Figure 4.7**: Density contour plots of gaze for the No Fog and Light Fog groups in Time Window 2 (from "Screen Manipulation On" to "Drone Moves into Lane") for all events in the automated drive.



(b) Heavy Fog + Task

**Figure 4.8:** Density contour plots of gaze for the Heavy Fog and Heavy Fog + Task groups in Time Window 2 (from "Screen Manipulation On" to "Drone Moves into Lane") for all events in the automated drive.



**Figure 4.9:** Mean SD of Yaw during Time Window 2 (from "Screen Manipulation On" to "Drone Moves into Lane") for each of the four automated drives (\*p<.05).



**Figure 4.10:** Mean SD of Pitch during Time Window 2 (from "Screen Manipulation On" to "Drone Moves into Lane") for each of the four automated drives (\*p<.05, \*\*p<.001).



**Figure 4.11:** SD of Gaze Pitch across all events in the automated drive for Time Window 2 (from "Screen Manipulation On" to "Drone Moves into Lane"). Asterisks indicate that, for SD of Gaze Pitch in the automated drive, Event 1 is significantly different to Events 2-5 (\*p<.05).

### 4.3.3 Gaze patterns pre-screen manipulations

Time Window 3 (TW3) constituted an 8 s period where the manipulations in TW2 continued in the automated drives, but where surrounding vehicles began to move into place to trigger an uncertainty event. TW3 was excluded from the analyses, since drivers' eye movements were likely to be affected by the movement of surrounding vehicles when the road scene was visible.

#### 4.3.4 Gaze patterns post-screen manipulations

Time Window 4 (TW4) constituted a 3 s period from the end of the screen manipulations (which coincided with the start of the uncertainty alert in automation) up to the moment before the lead vehicle either braked, changed lane, or sped up. This period allowed for the assessment of drivers' gaze patterns during a Situation Awareness Recovery period (SAR; Gartenburg et al., 2013), defined as the process of restoring SA after SA has been reduced. A 3-way ANOVA revealed no differences between the automated and manual drives for either SD of Gaze Yaw (p = .130) or SD of Gaze Pitch (p = .160), suggesting that regardless of the screen manipulation, drivers recovered quite quickly, at least as indicated by their visual attention to the road ahead.

To investigate any carry-over effects of the four screen manipulations on gaze

patterns, a 2-way ANOVA was conducted on SD of Gaze Yaw and Pitch for the automated drives only. Results showed that horizontal and vertical gaze dispersion was the same for all Screen Manipulations, in the three seconds immediately after screen manipulation was removed. These results suggest that when drivers' attention was captured by the uncertainty alert, their visual attention to the road ahead was not affected by the previous screen manipulation. Therefore, regardless of the degree of visual information available to drivers during each screen manipulation the same pattern of horizontal and vertical gaze scanning was observed in preparation for response to the lead vehicle.

Analyses of variance also showed that while there was no effect of Event Number for SD of Gaze Yaw in the automated drives (p = .450), there was a significant effect of Event Number for SD of Gaze Pitch (p < .05). Patterns were similar to that seen during Time Windows 1 and 2 and likely due to drivers' familiarisation with the driving scenarios, after Event 1.

## 4.3.5 Gaze patterns post-Brake light

Time Window 5 (TW5) constituted a 3 s period after first onset of the lead vehicle's brake light. Only gaze patterns for the two Critical Events were considered for this analyses, as these events required direct intervention by drivers, which would otherwise result in a collision.

A 3-way ANOVA showed that, there was no effect of Drive Type (p = .225) or Screen Manipulation (p = .067) on SD of Gaze Yaw (Table 4.2). There was, however, a significant difference in horizontal scanning between the two critical events, with lower SD of Gaze Yaw in the first (M =  $5.26^{\circ}$ , SEM = .403°) compared to the second (M =  $6.30^{\circ}$ , SEM =  $.51^{\circ}$ ) critical event. The ANOVA also revealed a significant interaction between Drive Type and Event Number for SD of Gaze Yaw. Although horizontal scanning was relatively high for both events in the manual conditions, in the automated drive it increased from  $4.03^{\circ}$  (SEM =  $.47^{\circ}$ ) in Critical Event 1 to  $6.83^{\circ}$  (SEM =  $.51^{\circ}$ ) in Critical Event 2 (Figure 4.12). This suggests a learning effect in the automated drives, where drivers understood the significance of a potential collision in the first critical event and scanned the environment and particularly the adjacent lane more extensively on approach to the second critical event to prepare for a suitable response, such as changing lane. Clearly, the same degree of horizontal scanning occurred for both Events in manual driver, when drivers were in control of the vehicle and responsible for lane changing.

For SD of Gaze Pitch, there was no effect of Drive Type (p = .064) or Screen Manipulation (p = .095), suggesting that drivers' vertical gaze distributions just before response to the braking lead vehicle were the same in the manual and automated drives and across the four conditions. There was also no effect of Event Number for SD of Gaze Pitch, suggesting that the screen manipulations did not have a carry-over effect on vertical gaze patterns, once the lead vehicle braked in the Critical Incidents.



**Figure 4.12:** Mean SD of Gaze Yaw for Critical Event 1 and Critical Event 2 in the Automated and Manual drives, for Time Window 5 (from "Drone Action" to "Event End".)

Effect		Drive Type		Event Number		Screen Manipulation		Drive Type*Event Vumber		Drive Type*Screen Manipulation	Event Number*S Manipulation	creen
		F(df1, df2)	$\eta_p^{2}$	F(df1, df2)	$\eta_p^2$	$F(df1, df2)$ $\eta$	, <sup>2</sup> I	⁻(df1, df2)	$\eta_p^2$	$F(df1, df2)$ $\eta_{\rm P}^2$	F(df1, df2)	$\eta_{P}^{2}$
TW1 - 3-way Vaw	Gaze	19.9(1,55)**	0.27	n.s.		n.s.		n.s.		n.s.	2.0(15,275)*	0.10
ANOVA SD of	Gaze	n.s.		20.2(4.12,234.8 $1)^{**}$	0.27	n.s.		2.7(5,280)*	0.05	n.s.	n.s.	
TW2 - 2-way	Gaze	N/A		n.s.		4.6(3,56)* 0	.19	N/A		N/A	n.s.	
ANOVA SD of Pitch	Gaze	N/A		6.6(3.73,208.79) **	0.11	7.6(3,56)** 0	.30	N/A		N/A	n.s.	
SD of TW4 - 3-way Yaw	Gaze	n.s.		$2.3(5,280)^{*}$	0.04	n.s.		n.s.		n.s.	n.s.	
ANOVA SD of Pitch	Gaze	n.s.		5.7(5,280)**	0.09	n.s.		2.9(5,280)*	0.05	n.s.	n.s.	
TW4 - 2-way Yaw	Gaze	N/A		n.s.		n.s.		N/A		N/A	n.s.	
ANOVA SD of Pitch	Gaze	N/A		$9.4(5,280)^{**}$	0.14	n.s.		N/A		N/A	n.s.	
TW5 - 3-way Yaw	Gaze	n.s.		$5.1(1,55)^{*}$	0.09	n.s.		$5.9(1,55)^{*}$ <sup>1</sup>	0.10	n.s.	n.s.	
ANOVA SD of Pitch	Gaze	n.s.		n.s.		n.s.		n.s.		n.s.	n.s.	
* $p < .05$ ** $p < .01$	<sup>1</sup> Critical Ev	rents only (2, 6)										

**Table 4.2:** Results for ANOVAs conducted for each Time Window for SD of GazeYaw and SD of Gaze Pitch.

# 4.4 Conclusions

Previous studies have suggested that drivers' inability to respond effectively to critical scenarios following limitations or failures of highly automated driving (SAE Level 2) is because they are 'out-of-the-loop' (OoTL). In these studies, when performance in automated driving is compared to manual driving, reaction time to critical incidents is slower, sometimes leading to crashes, and drivers are generally less aware of their surroundings, presumably taking some time to reorient their attention to the driving scene after automation is disengaged. However, there is currently no consensus as to what constitutes an OoTL driver, how this state is measured, and what information drivers use to remain engaged with the driving task. To address these issues, we manipulated the simulated driving scene in a series of conditions, by removing driving-relevant visual information for short periods, and investigating driver behaviour and gaze patterns before, during and after such manipulations. Drivers' visual attention to unfolding critical and non-critical events after such manipulations were also studied and findings were compared to driving with manual control.

Results showed that, during automation, drivers' vertical gaze was most dispersed when the road scene and dashboard were completely occluded during automation (heavy fog condition). Here, drivers systematically moved their gaze between the road ahead and the vehicle dashboard, presumably in preparation for the resumption of control. Horizontal gaze dispersion was also highest in this drive. In contrast, and against our expectations, when the road scene was partially occluded during the light fog condition, drivers' gaze was almost entirely on the road centre, and they seemed to ignore the vehicle HMI. Therefore, by withholding only some information, drivers were seen to remain more engaged in the driving task, compared to if all information was removed. Focus of gaze towards the road scene and infrequent gaze towards the HMI was also high when a secondary task was present on the driving scene during automation.

These gaze dispersion patterns provide some understanding of what information drivers use to keep themselves engaged in the driving task during automation, and what information they use to keep in the loop when they have access to only some driving-relevant information. In other words, when they can see the scene for themselves, drivers distribute their gaze towards a larger area of the driving scene and surrounding environment, presumably, because they can easily see any unfolding events and believe they can rapidly resume control from automation, if required. Perhaps they can afford to trust the automation more in this condition as resumption of control is easier, in the event of a failure. When this information is completely removed, attention is also spread horizontally across the driving scene but also heavily between the vehicle HMI and the road. This increase in vertical gaze, especially, is likely to allow drivers access to maximum information from all relevant sources, for resumption of control. Taken together, these results may suggest that, if relevant vehicle information is presented in the dashboard area, then vertical dispersion of gaze is likely to be higher when drivers are OoTL.

When the road scene was only partially visible, drivers clearly believed visual attention was best placed towards the area of the likely incident, the road centre, and that less valuable information was available from the HMI. Here, drivers probably trusted the automated system least and wished to rely on their own skills for resumption of control. Finally, when required to engage in a secondary task, drivers prioritised this task, perhaps to the detriment of driving, also taking their attention away from the HMI - when the road scene was not visible.

Perhaps fortunately, this study revealed that regardless of these screen manipulations, when an uncertainty alert captures drivers' attention towards an impending incident, a similar gaze pattern is seen for all drivers, with no carry-over effects observed after the screen manipulations, and similar gaze patterns also seen for this period of manual driving. Therefore, while these short periods of screen manipulation may well disperse drivers' visual attention away from the road centre, they do not have a long lasting effect on visual attention to the point of danger, when response is required before a potentially critical event.

While the focus of this paper was to induce varying degrees of being OoTL and assess their concomitant effect on drivers' gaze dispersion, the effect of such gaze patterns on ensuing performance is perhaps worth considering. Although not reported here, an analysis of driving performance suggests that those screen manipulations which caused the most gaze dispersion (no fog and heavy fog) were followed by the highest number of collisions (Louw et al., 2016). These results illustrate, therefore, that scenarios that encourage driver gaze towards the road centre are likely to bring drivers back into the loop more efficiently by facilitating better situation awareness/hazard

perception during the transfer of control from highly automated driving. Although further work is required to validate this proposal, these findings suggest that any information presented to drivers during automation should be placed near the centre of the road, akin to a Head Up Display. Clearly, the interaction between presenting such information towards the road centre during automation, and the consequent effect on driver distraction, needs further investigation.

An encouraging finding from these studies was that, regardless of screen manipulation, drivers' understanding of the automated system and uncertainty events increased as time progressed. This was illustrated by observations in vertical gaze dispersion, which was significantly reduced after the first event. There was also an increase in horizontal dispersion of gaze upon approach to the second critical event in automation; suggesting drivers prepared themselves, for instance by looking towards the adjacent lane before a lane change, to avoid collision with the lead vehicle.

It is important to note that the manipulations used in this study do not provide a complete assessment of the OoTL state. As disengagement from the driving task was involuntary and experimenter-induced, the effects are likely underestimated. Under normal automated driving conditions, drivers' withdrawal of attention, and therefore disengagement from feedback of driving relevant information, is generally self-induced and voluntary. Maintaining consistent and voluntary disengagement from all aspects of the driving task in a controlled setting highlights a key challenge in attempting to investigate the OoTL state. Moreover, gaze dispersion is only one of several measures that should be examined to investigate whether automation unduly impedes drivers' abilities to regain full cognitive and physical control. Therefore, natural progressions of this work are to analyse how drivers' visually process road hazards in critical takeover scenarios, and to establish how well calibrated drivers' vehicle control is to the criticality of an unfolding scenario, following a takeover. Future studies should also consider the effect of longer periods of placing drivers OoTL on such measures, as well as HMI solutions that provide informative, yet non-intrusive system feedback.

## 4.5 Acknowledgements

This research was conducted as part of the AdaptIVe project, co-funded by the European Union under the 7th Framework Programme, grant agreement number 610428. The authors would like to thank Oliver Carsten, Georgios Kountouriotis, Ruth Madigan and Gustav Markkula for their helpful comments and discussions, and Michael Daly and Andrew Tomlinson for their assistance in implementing the simulator scenarios.

## 4.6 References

- Anderson, J. M., Kalra, N., Stanley, K. D., Sorensen, P., Samaras, C., & Oluwatola, O. A. (2014). Autonomous Vehicle Technology: A Guide for Policymakers. Publication RR-443-RC. RAND Corporation, Santa Monica, CA.
- Beller, J., Heesen, M., & Vollrath, M. (2013). Improving the Driver-Automation Interaction: An Approach Using Automation Uncertainty. Human Factors, 55(6), 1130-1141.
- Carsten, O., Lai, F. C. H., Barnard, Y., Jamson, A. H., & Merat, N. (2012). Control task substitution in semi-automated driving: Does it matter what aspects are automated? Human Factors, 54, 747-761.
- Damböck, D., Weissgerber, T., Kienle, M., & Bengler, K. (2013). Requirements for cooperative vehicle guidance. In Proceedings of the 16th International IEEE Annual Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, The Hague, The Netherlands (pp. 1656-1661).
- de Winter, J. C. F., Happee, R., Martens, M. H., & Stanton, N. A. (2014). Effects of adaptive cruise control and highly automated driving on workload and situation awareness: A review of the empirical evidence. Transportation Research Part F, 27 Part B, 196-217.
- Endsley, M. R. (2006). Situation awareness. In G. Salvendy (Ed.), Handbook of human factors and ergonomics (3rd ed., pp. 528-542). New York: Wiley.
- Endsley, M. R., & Kiris, E. O. (1995). The out-of-the-loop performance problem and level of control in automation. Human Factors, 37(2), 381-394.

- Endsley, M. R., & Jones, D. G. (2004). Designing for situation awareness: An approach to user centered design. New York: Taylor & Francis.
- Engström, J., Johansson, E., & Ostlund, J. (2005). Effects of visual and cognitive load in real and simulated motorway driving. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 8, 97-120.
- Field, A. P. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS: And sex and drugs and rock 'n' roll (3rd ed.). London: Sage.
- Gartenberg, D., Breslow, L. J., McCurry, M., & Trafton, G. J. (2013). Situation awareness recovery. Human Factors, 56, 710-727.
- Gold, C., Damböck, D., Lorenz, L., & Bengler, K. (2013). "Take over!" How long does it take to get the driver back into the loop? Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting September 2013, 57, 1938-1942.
- Gugerty, L. (2011). Situation awareness in driving. In J. Lee, M. Rizzo, D. Fischer, & J. Caird (Eds.), Handbook for driving simulation in engineering, medicine and psychology. Boca Roca, FL: CRC Press.
- Helldin, T., Falkman, G., Riveiro, M., & Davidsson, S. (2013). Presenting system uncertainty in automotive UIs for supporting trust calibration in autonomous driving. In proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications.
- Horswill, M. S., & McKenna, F. P. (2004). Drivers' hazard perception ability: Situation awareness on the road. In S. Banbury & S. Tremblay (Eds.), A Cognitive Approach to Situation Awareness: Theory and Application (pp. 155-175). Hampshire, England: Ashgate.
- IBM Corp. (2012). IBM SPSS statistics (Version 21.0) [Computer software]. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- IHRA ITS Working Group (2010). Design Principles for Advanced Driver Assistance Systems: Keeping Drivers In-the-Loop. Retrieved from: www.unece.org/\-fileadmin/ DAM/trans/doc/2011/wp29/ITS-19-07e.pdf
- Infinity Motors (2015). 2015 Infiniti Q50 Press Kit. Retrieved 28 November, 2015. Retrieved from http://infinitinews.com/en-US/infiniti/usa/presskits/us-2015\ -infiniti-q50-press-kit

- Körber, M., Cingel, A., Zimmermann, M., & Bengler, K. (2015). Vigilance Decrement and Passive Fatigue Caused by Monotony in Automated Driving. Procedia Manufacturing, 3, 2403-2409.
- Lerner, N., Baldwin, C., Stephen Higgins, J., Lee, J.D., & Schrooler, J. (2015). Mind wandering while driving: What does it mean and what do we do about it? In Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society 59th Annual Meeting, 1686-1690.
- Louw, T., Kountouriotis, G., Carsten, O., & Merat, N. (2015). Driver Inattention During Vehicle Automation: How Does Driver Engagement Affect Resumption of Control? In Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Driver Distraction and Inattention.
- Louw, T., Merat, N., & Jamson, A. H. (2015). Engaging with Highly Automated Driving: To be or not to be in the loop? In Proceedings of the 8th International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design (pp. 190-196). Snowbird, Utah.
- Louw, T., Madigan, R., Carsten, O., and Merat, N. (2016). Were they in the loop during automated driving? Links between visual attention and crash potential. Injury prevention.
- Merat, N., & Jamson, A. H. (2008). How do drivers behave in a highly automated car? In Proceedings of the Fifth International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design (pp. 514-521). Big Sky, MT.
- Merat, N., Jamson, A. H., Lai, F. C., & Carsten, O. (2012). Highly automated driving, secondary task performance, and driver state. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 54, 762-771.
- Merat, N., Jamson, A. H., Lai, F., Daly, M., & Carsten, O. M. (2014). Transition to manual: Driver behaviour when resuming control from a highly automated vehicle. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 26, 1-9.
- Neter, J., Wasserman, W., & Kutner, M.H. (1990). Applied Linear Statistical Models, (3rd edn). (Homewood, IL: Irwin).
- Pick, A.J., & Cole, D.J. (2006). Neuromuscular dynamics in the driver-vehicle system. Vehicle System Dynamics, 44, 624-631.

- Posner, M.I. (1980). Orienting of attention. Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology, 32, 3-25.
- Rosenbloom, S. (2012). "The Travel and Mobility Needs of Older People Now and in the Future," in Joseph F. Coughlin and Lisa A. D'Ambrosio, eds., Aging America and Transportation: Personal Choices and Public Policy, New York: Springer, pp. 39-56.
- Rudin-Brown, C.M., & Parker, H.A. (2004). Behavioural adaptation to adaptive cruise control (ACC): implications for preventive strategies. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 7(2), 59-76.
- Society of Automotive Engineers [SAE] (2014). Taxonomy and definitions for terms related to on-road motor vehicle automated driving systems (Standard No. J3016). SAE International. Retrieved from: http://standards.sae.org/j3016\_201401/
- Stanton, N. A., & Young, M. S. (1998). Vehicle automation and driving performance. Ergonomics, 41(7), 1014-1028. DOI: 10.1080/001401398186568
- Strand, N., Nilsson, J., Karlsson, I.M. and Nilsson, L., Semi-automated versus highly automated driving in critical situations caused by automation failures. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour 27, 218-228, 2014.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). Using multivariate statistics. Boston: Pearson/Allyn & Bacon.
- Tesla Motors (2015. Your Autopilot has arrived. Retrieved 28 November, 2015, from <a href="https://www.teslamotors.com/blog/your-autopilot-has-arrived">https://www.teslamotors.com/blog/your-autopilot-has-arrived</a>>
- Volvo Cars (2015). This is autopilot. Retrieved from http://www.volvocars.com/intl /about/our-innovation-brands-intellisafe/intellisafeautopilot/this-is-autopilot/semi-autonomous-tech
- Wang, Y., Reimer, B., Dobres, J., & Mehler, B. (2014). The sensitivity of different methodologies for characterizing drivers' gaze concentration under increased cognitive demand. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 26, 227-237.
- Zeeb, K., Buchner, A., & Schrauf, M. (2015). What determines the take-over time? An integrated model approach of driver take-over after automated driving. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 78, 212-221.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

# WERE THEY IN THE LOOP DURING AUTOMATED DRIVING? LINKS BETWEEN VISUAL ATTENTION AND CRASH POTENTIAL

**ABSTRACT** A proposed advantage of vehicle automation is that it relieves drivers from the moment-to-moment demands of driving, to engage in other, non-driving related, tasks. However, it is important to gain an understanding of drivers' capacity to resume manual control, should such a need arise. As automation removes vehicle control-based measures as a performance indicator, other metrics must be explored. This driving simulator study, conducted under the EC-funded AdaptIVe project, assessed drivers' gaze fixations during partially-automated (SAE Level 2) driving, on approach to critical and non-critical events. Using a between-participant design, 75 drivers experienced automation with one of five out-of-the-loop (OoTL) manipulations, which used different levels of screen visibility and secondary tasks to induce varying levels of engagement with the driving task: 1) no manipulation, 2) manipulation by light fog, 3) manipulation by heavy fog, 4) manipulation by heavy fog plus a visual task, 5) no manipulation plus an n-back task. The OoTL manipulations influenced drivers' first point of gaze fixation after they were asked to attend to an evolving event. Differences resolved within one second and visual attention allocation adapted with repeated events, yet crash outcome was not different between OoTL manipulation groups. Drivers who crashed in the first critical event showed an inconsistent pattern of eye fixations towards the road centre on approach to the event, while those who did not demonstrated a more stable pattern. Automated driving systems should be able to direct drivers' attention to hazards no less than 6 seconds in advance of an adverse outcome.

5.1 INTRODUCTION

# 5.1 Introduction

The first generation of partially-automated vehicles (SAE Level 2; SAE, 2014) is already on our roads. The Volvo XC90, for example, combines Lane Keeping Assist (LKA) and Adaptive Cruise Control (ACC) in 'IntelliSafe Autopilot' mode (Volvo Cars, 2016). However, drivers are still required to supervise the system and resume control, for instance due to system limitations. Studies suggest that prolonged monitoring of an automated system can take drivers out of the loop (Merat et al., 2014), inducing passive fatigue (Desmond and Hancock, 2001), thereby reducing drivers' attentional capacity (Desmond and Matthews, 1997) and ability to detect, evaluate and respond to critical events thus increasing the likelihood of crashes (Endsley, 1995; Hollnagel and Woods, 2005; de Winter et al., 2015). Concomitantly, drivers may choose to engage in non-driving related activities (Carsten et al., 2012), which distract from the supposed primary task of monitoring the vehicle. Therefore, passive fatigue and task disengagement are two factors that may hamper drivers' ability to safely resume control from an automated system in driving (Neubauer et al., 2014; Merat et al., 2012).

Previously, in a series of studies designed to investigate this concept, we used various OoTL manipulation techniques, including altering drivers' visibility of the road scene during automation while they completed visual and non-visual tasks, thereby varying drivers' level of awareness and engagement in the driving task (Louw et al., 2015; Louw and Merat, 2017). We found a differential effect of OoTL manipulation on the standard deviation of horizontal gaze position, where drivers looked around more when their view of the driving scene was completely blocked, and horizontal gaze was more concentrated when drivers performed a visual secondary task presented on the road scene, but these differences actually resolved within three seconds after removal of the OoTL manipulation. However, while gaze dispersion provides an overview of drivers' visual attention, it is not as informative as point and duration of eye fixations for identifying the focus of drivers' visual attention. That is, where and for how long drivers are fixating in the driving scene or car cabin.

Previous studies have shown that sudden changes to the road environment capture drivers' attention, resulting in reduced visual scanning of the scene and increased fixations towards changes therein (Chapman and Underwood, 1998; Velichkovsky
et al., 2002) which link directly to an increase in crashes (Crundall, Shenton, and Underwood, 2004). Therefore, this study considered drivers' eye fixations in the seconds after removal of the OoTL manipulations, to assess how each manipulation affected the pattern of visual attention allocation, and whether this was predictive of drivers' ability to avoid crashes in critical scenarios. Finally, although many studies have considered driver behaviour after take-over from automation in response to a take-over request (Gold et al., 2013; Louw, Merat, and Jamson, 2015) we introduced an 'uncertainty alert' in this study to portray potential system limitation, which required drivers to assess the need to resume manual control, allowing us to evaluate drivers' trust in the system, assessing their visual attention on approach to each of the six events.

# 5.2 Methods

## 5.2.1 Participants

75 drivers (41 male), aged 21-69 years (M=36.16, SD=12.38) were recruited via the participant database of the fully motion-based University of Leeds Driving Simulator (UoLDS) and were reimbursed £20 for partaking. Participants had normal or corrected-to-normal vision, an average annual mileage of 8290.46 (SD=6723.08), a full driving licence for at least three years (M=16.22, SD=12.92), and drove at least twice a week.

### 5.2.2 Design and Procedure

### Materials

The experiment was conducted in the UoLDS, which consists of a Jaguar S-type cab housed in a 4m spherical projection dome with a 300° field-of-view projection system. A v4.5 Seeing Machines faceLAB eye-tracker was used to record eye movements at 60Hz.

### Design

A 5 X 2 repeated measures mixed design was used, with OoTL Manipulation (No Fog, Light Fog, Heavy Fog, Heavy Fog+Quiz, No Fog+n-back) as between-participant factor and Event Number (1-6) as within-participant factor. The automated drive lasted about 20 minutes and encompassed six discrete car-following events, within a free-flowing three-lane motorway with ambient traffic. As shown in Figure 6.3, the drive contained two critical events (2,6), where the lead vehicle decelerated at a rate of  $5.0 \text{ m/s}^2$  with a 3 s time-to-collision (TTC), and four non-critical events (1,3,4,5), where the lead vehicle either sped up or changed lane. Crash with the lead vehicle was inevitable in the critical events, if drivers failed to resume control. Participants completed two experimental drives, a manual drive and an automated drive, which were counterbalanced across participants. As this paper is focused on comparing the effect of different types of OoTL manipulation on performance in automation, results from the manual drive are not included.



**Figure 5.1:** Schematic representation of each discrete event in the experimental drive. (a) to (d) represent various phases of the drive.

### **Automated Driving System**

The partially-automated driving (PAD) system was only available when the vehicle was travelling between 65 and 75 mph in the middle lane. The system was engaged via a button on the steering wheel and disengaged by either pressing the same button, turning the steering wheel more than  $2^{\circ}$ , or depressing the brake pedal. If participants

did not engage automation, the system engaged automatically after 5 s. Once engaged, the system assumed lateral and longitudinal control and adjusted the vehicle's speed to maintain 70mph.

Automation status was indicated by the colour of a steering wheel symbol located in the vehicle's central display unit. It was solid grey when automation was unavailable, flashed green when available, and appeared solid green when active. A flashing yellow symbol indicated automation was 'uncertain', and drivers were expected to monitor the roadway and intervene if they deemed necessary (see Louw and Merat (2017) for further details of the HMI). If the driver deactivated the automation, the symbol appeared solid red for 2 s. Automation activation and deactivation was accompanied by an auditory tone (1000Hz, 0.2 s). A forward crash warning symbol included to the left of the automation status symbol gave drivers a visual estimate of the lead vehicle headway and a continuous alarm sounded if drivers reached a 2 s TTC.

### **OoTL** Manipulations

To vary the level by which drivers were aware of, and engaged with, the driving task during automation, we applied one of five OoTL manipulation techniques to briefly alter their vision of the road scene. In the No Fog condition, the road scene was not manipulated in any way. In the Light Fog condition, a translucent grey filter superimposed the road scene, allowing drivers to perceive elements in the road environment in the immediate vicinity, but not further afield. This manipulation aimed to simulate situations where drivers' primary focus towards the OoTL is partially hindered due to interaction with other non-driving related tasks. In the Heavy Fog condition, an opaque grey filter overlaid the road scene, blocking all visual information from the road environment, with the aim of simulating situations where the driver is completely looking away from the road scene and is unaware of the traffic conditions. In the Heavy Fog+Quiz condition, a visually presented secondary task was overlaid on the opaque grey OoTL, and participants were required to provide verbal answers to a series of multiple-choice questions relating to visuospatial shape-matching, general knowledge questions, and moderately challenging mathematics. These questions were sourced from various web-based IQ tests and were used to assess how a visual secondary task affected performance. In the No Fog+n-back task condition, there was no OoTL manipulation, and participants completed the verbal response delayed digit

recall task (n-back; Mehler et al., 2011; Kirchner, 1958) during automation. Participants were presented with a sequence of single digit numbers and were expected to repeat out loud the last number presented. This was used to assess how engagement in a non-visual task during automation would affect eye-movements, resumption of control and crash avoidance.

### Procedure

Upon arrival, participants read a handout with details of the experiment. After signing consent, participants completed a 15-minute familiarisation drive, consisting of non-critical events only. This began with a short manual drive. Once familiar with the simulator controls, participants practised activating/deactivating the automation, were shown how the HMI communicated automation states, and experienced the OoTL manipulations. Participants then completed the two experimental drives.

### **Data Analysis**

Data were analysed with SPSS V.21 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). A  $\alpha$ -value of .05 was used as the criterion for statistical significance and partial eta-squared ( $\eta_p^2$ ) was computed as an effect size statistic. Least Significance Difference (LSD) pairwise comparisons ( $\alpha$ = .05) were used to determine the difference between levels of OoTL Manipulation and Event Number.

# 5.3 Results and Discussion

Our aim was to explore drivers' visual attention during the resumption of control from PAD, after experiencing different OoTL manipulations designed to vary drivers' awareness of, and engagement with, the road scene. The following research questions were addressed: (i) how does each OoTL Manipulation affect the location of drivers' first fixation after the uncertainty event, (ii) how are drivers' fixations distributed over time, and (iii) what is the relationship between fixations during the uncertainty alerts and crash frequency. Fixations were calculated based on a 200 ms threshold with a standard deviation of gaze position below 1°. Fixation location was based on five spatial areas of interest (AOIs) anchored by the road centre region, which was

defined as the mode of gaze fixations that fell within a 6° circular region of the road centre area (See Percent Road Centre (PRC; Harbluk, Noy, and Eizenman, 2002; Victor, Harbluk, and Engström, 2005). The Top, Left, Bottom and Right regions of this AOI account for an equal division of the remainder of the road scene (for details see Louw et al., 2014).

### 5.3.1 Where do drivers look first?

Our results show that the OoTL manipulations influenced the AOI region first fixated by participants after the manipulations ceased (Figure 5.2). To assess how dispersed the groups' fixations were between the AOIs for each group and across all events, we calculated a dispersion index (D; Hammond, Householder, Castellan, 1970), defined as, "the ratio of the number of pairs in the data which are found to be different to the maximum number of such pairs, given the total number of observations" (Schafer, 1980). This produces a value from zero to one, where zero indicates the observations are concentrated in one category and one indicates the observations are distributed evenly among the categories:

$$D = \frac{(k(N^2 - \sum_{i=1}^{k} N_i^2))}{(N^2(k-1))}$$
(5.1)

Where k = the number of categories, N = number of observations,  $N_i$  = number of observations in the *i*th category.

Since some fixations coincided with the start of the uncertainty event, only those starting 200 ms after the cessation of the OoTL manipulations were analysed. In the Heavy Fog + Quiz and No Fog + n-back group fewer drivers fixated on the central region immediately after the screen was removed, and the dispersion index shows there was more variance in these groups compared to others. The high number of fixations on the top region for the No Fog + Quiz group is likely due to the location of the Quiz on the screen enveloping both the central and top regions. The high number of fixations on the top region for the No Fog + n-back was also expected, as drivers who are engaged in a non-visual cognitive task have been shown to have a

higher vertical gaze angle compared to a baseline drive (Kountouriotis and Merat, 2016). Fixations between participants were least dispersed in the Light Fog and Heavy Fog condition, with the majority of first fixations located in the central region. These results suggest that, irrespective of screen visibility, performing a secondary task during automation caused more variation in drivers' first fixation, when they were required to re-engage in the driving task.



**Figure 5.2:** Location of participants' first fixation after the OoTL manipulations ceased, for all events.

### 5.3.2 Effect of OoTL Manipulations on fixations

To understand how drivers distribute their visual attention while the automated system was in an 'uncertain' state, an index of PRC was calculated for three 1 s time windows, immediately after the OoTL manipulations ended. These were compared using a three-way ANOVA, with Event Number (1-6) and Time (1s-3s) as within-participant factors and OoTL Manipulation (5 Conditions) as between-participant factor.

Results showed an effect of Event Number (F(5,350)=3.179, p<.01,  $\eta_p^2$ =.043), where, as shown in Figure 5.3(a), drivers' visual attention distribution changed with successive events. Post-hoc comparisons revealed that PRC scores for Events 1 and 3 were significantly different. There was also an effect of Time (F(2,140)=10.329, p<.001,  $\eta_p^2$ =.129), and Figure 5.3(b) shows that PRC scores rose significantly from the first to the second and third second after the OoTL manipulations ended. There was an

interaction of Event Number and Time (F(10,700)=19.162, p<.01,  $\eta_p^2$ =.215). However, post-hoc comparisons failed to show any meaningful patterns. Consistent with our previous results (Louw et al., 2015), there was no effect of OoTL Manipulation on fixations to the road centre in the first three seconds, however there was an interaction of Time and OoTL Manipulation (F(8,140)=2.772, p<.05,  $\eta_p^2$ =.137). To investigate this interaction, two-way ANOVAs were conducted for each of the three seconds, with OoTL Manipulation as between-participant factor and Event Number as within-participant factor. A main effect of OoTL Manipulation was observed only for the first second (F(4,70)=2.997, p<.05,  $\eta_p^2$ =.146). Post-hoc comparisons showed that during the first second, PRC scores were significantly lower in the Heavy Fog and Heavy Fog+Quiz group compared to the others. This indicates that drivers were scanning the environment more after not having seen the road beforehand, but at the expense of focusing on the lead vehicle.



**Figure 5.3:** Average Percent Road Centre frequency after the uncertainty alert, for (a) each of the six events, and (b) for the first three seconds after the uncertainty alert (right) \* p<.05, \*\* p<.001.

## 5.3.3 Fixations in the Critical Events

The number of crashes in Critical Event 1 (CE1) and Critical Event 2 (CE2), did not differ significantly between the Conditions (CE1, p=.073; CE2, p=.064), as calculated by 2 chi-squared tests (Table 5.1). This suggests that crash propensity may not necessarily be linked to drivers' first point of fixation. To test for a relationship between fixations during the uncertainty alerts and crash frequency, PRC scores were calculated for six 1 s periods after the OoTL manipulations ceased. We compared PRC scores in CE1 using a two-way ANOVA, with Time Window (1s-6s) as within-participant factor and

	Critical Event 1		Criti	Critical Event 2	
	No Crash	Crash	No Crash	Crash	
No Fog (N=15)	10	5	15	0	
No Fog + n-back (N=15)	11	4	15	0	
Light Fog (N=15)	14	1	14	1	
Heavy Fog + Quiz (N=15)	13	2	15	0	
Heavy Fog (N=15)	8	7	12	3	
Total	56	19	71	4	

**Table 5.1:** Crash counts out of 15 cases for Critical Event 1 (CE1) and CriticalEvent 2 (CE2) for each group in the automated drive.

Event Outcome (crash/no crash) as between-participant factor. We focused on CE1 as there were only four crashes in CE2. Not included in the analysis but important to note is that in the second before the OoTL manipulations ceased there was no difference in PRC scores between participants (Figure 5.4), therefore any changes in PRC can be attributed to drivers' strategies for coming back into the loop.

There was a significant effect of Time Window (F(5,325)=5.287, p<.01,  $\eta_p^2$ =.075), where post-hoc comparisons revealed significantly higher PRC scores in the third to sixth second, and immediately after the brake light, compared to that of the first second. There was no effect of Event Outcome (p=.526), however there was a significant interaction between Time Window and Event Outcome (F(5,325)=5.125, p<.01,  $\eta_p^2$ =.073), where PRC scores over time were clearly different for the event outcome groups (Figure 5.4). This is highlighted by results from independent sample t-tests comparing PRC scores between the Event Outcome groups for each of the six 1 s Time Windows. For the crash group, only 51% of total fixations in the first two seconds were on the road centre region, which compares to 70.5% and 84% in the same periods for those who did not crash, the latter being significantly different (t(73)=3.14, p<.01). However, in the third second, the crash group's PRC score rose to 97%, which was significantly higher compared to the no crash group at 71.3% (t(73)=2.238, p <.05).



**Figure 5.4:** Percent Road Centre scores in Critical Event 1 for the crash (N=19) and no crash group (N=54) for seven 1 s time windows from the second before the OoTL manipulations ceased. Those who did not crash in Critical Event 2 (N=71) are also shown. \*p<.05, \*\*p<.01 (applies to comparisons for Critical Event 1).

In terms of preparation to respond to the hazard, it seems that drivers who crashed, left it too late. They maintained a high PRC score during the fourth and fifth second before dropping in the sixth possibly reflecting a late attempt at avoiding a crash. This was in contrast to the no crash group, whose PRC score rose gradually over the same period. Therefore, drivers with a more consistent frequency of eye fixations towards the point of the potential hazard (the road centre) and were more likely to avoid a crash than those who were late to fixate on the potential hazard. The PRC pattern for the crash group could be a result of these drivers either succumbing to an 'automation surprise' (Hollnagel and Woods, 2005) leading to increased cognitive demand (Engström, Johansson, and Ostlund, 2005), or over-trusting the system to handle the hazard (Lee and See, 2004), which led to them not feeling the need to distribute their attention in preparation for a response until it was too late. As a comparison, Figure 5.4 shows that the PRC trend for non-colliders in CE1 is remarkably similar to that of the 71 non-colliders in CE2.

# 5.4 Conclusions

The aim of this study was to investigate drivers' visual attention patterns during the resumption of manual control from PAD and whether these link to crash potential. Following Louw and Merat (2017), we hypothesised that drivers who crashed would have different patterns of visual attention towards the road centre, compared with those who did not. OoTL manipulations influenced drivers' first point of gaze fixation after they ceased, yet these differences resolved within 2 s, and there was also no association between OoTL manipulation and crash outcome. Key to bringing a driver back into the loop who then responds appropriately is directing their attention as early as possible towards the hazard that may lead to an automation disengagement. This avoids indecisive eye scanning and improves information acquisition and processing, which supports better decision-making and action execution (Parasuraman, Sheridan, and Wickens, 2000).

As vehicle automation evolves from SAE Level 2 to SAE Level 3, so the decisions that drivers will have to take regarding their involvement in the driving task will shift from being about when to intervene to whether to intervene. Considering that we do not have a well-defined understanding of drivers' competence to resume control safely, previous studies argued that drivers should remain engaged with the driving task during automation to intervene quickly if necessary. This justifiably conservative recommendation results in drivers not being relieved of the workload that automated driving promises, highlighting a familiar irony of automation (Bainbridge, 1983). This paper provides two recommendations that might help realise the potential for PAD to reduce workload: (1) automated driving systems needs to be able to direct drivers' attention towards the cause of a system limitation at least 6 s in advance of an adverse outcome and (2) drivers need to possess an accurate and confident understanding of their role and the capabilities of their PAD systems (Vlasic and Boudette, 2016). These are especially relevant for time-critical situations and where drivers are ultimately responsible for safety. A possible limitation of this study is that the automated drive duration used may not have been long enough to induce the out-of-the-loop states. Therefore, and with a view to developing a more complete understanding of drivers' capacity to resume control, a natural progression of this work is to investigate links between longer durations out of the loop, visual attention, takeover times, vehicle

control and crash outcome.

# What is already known on this subject

- In the coming decades, the driving task will become increasingly automated. Irrespective of the level of automation, drivers will likely engage in non-drivingrelated tasks, which may impede their ability to avoid crashes if they are expected to resume manual control, should the vehicle reach a limitation.
- Little is known about drivers' visual attention during such instances, yet this is especially important as automation renders traditional metrics of driver behaviour inadequate.
- 3. The design of safe automated driving systems can and should be informed by a clear understanding of how drivers' visual attention is distributed in the moments after they are expected to resume control.

# What this study adds

- 1. This research improves and expands upon previous research by comparing how varying levels of drivers' awareness of, and engagement with, a partially automated driving system influences their visual attention distribution during critical and non-critical road events.
- 2. A detailed insight into drivers' eye fixation behaviour in these events is presented, and differences in visual attention patterns between those who crashed and those who did not is shown.
- 3. Our results suggest it is imperative that automated driving systems are able to direct drivers' attention no less than 6 s in advance to the cause of a manual take-over request, especially if this is a traffic threat that may lead to a crash. This is a conservative estimate, however, with the threshold likely to rise with increasing road and traffic complexity.

**Acknowledgements** The authors would like to thank Michael Daly, Tony Horrobin and Andrew Tomlinson for their assistance in implementing the simulator scenarios.

**Funding** This research was conducted as part of the AdaptIVe project, co-funded by the European Commission under the 7th Framework Programme, grant agreement number 610428.

**Disclaimer** The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the European Commission.

**Competing interests** None declared.

**Ethics approval** University of Leeds Research Ethics Committee (Reference Number: LTTRAN-054).

# 5.5 References

- Anderson, J. M., Kalra, N., Stanley, K. D., Sorensen, P., Samaras, C., and Oluwatola,O. A. (2014). Autonomous Vehicle Technology: A Guide for Policymakers.Publication RR-443-RC. RAND Corporation, Santa Monica, CA.
- Beller, J., Heesen, M., and Vollrath, M. (2013). Improving the Driver-Automation Interaction: An Approach Using Automation Uncertainty. Human Factors, 55(6), 1130-1141.
- Carsten, O., Lai, F. C. H., Barnard, Y., Jamson, A. H., and Merat, N. (2012). Control task substitution in semi-automated driving: Does it matter what aspects are automated? Human Factors, 54, 747-761.
- Damböck, D., Weißgerber, T., Kienle, M., and Bengler, K. (2013). Requirements for cooperative vehicle guidance. In Proceedings of the 16th International IEEE Annual Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, The Hague, The Netherlands (pp. 1656-1661).
- de Winter, J. C. F., Happee, R., Martens, M. H., and Stanton, N. A. (2014). Effects of adaptive cruise control and highly automated driving on workload and situation

awareness: A review of the empirical evidence. Transportation Research Part F, 27 Part B, 196-217.

- Endsley, M. R. (2006). Situation awareness. In G. Salvendy (Ed.), Handbook of human factors and ergonomics (3rd ed., pp. 528-542). New York: Wiley.
- Endsley, M. R., and Kiris, E. O. (1995). The out-of-the-loop performance problem and level of control in automation. Human Factors, 37(2), 381-394.
- Endsley, M. R., and Jones, D. G. (2004). Designing for situation awareness: An approach to user centered design. New York: Taylor and Francis.
- Engström, J., Johansson, E., and Ostlund, J. (2005). Effects of visual and cognitive load in real and simulated motorway driving. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 8, 97-120.
- Field, A. P. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS: And sex and drugs and rock 'n' roll (3rd ed.). London: Sage.
- Gartenberg, D., Breslow, L. J., McCurry, M., and Trafton, G. J. (2013). Situation awareness recovery. Human Factors, 56, 710-727.
- Gold, C., Damböck, D., Lorenz, L., and Bengler, K. (2013). "Take over!" How long does it take to get the driver back into the loop? Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting September 2013, 57, 1938-1942.
- Gugerty, L. (2011). Situation awareness in driving. In J. Lee, M. Rizzo, D. Fischer, and J. Caird (Eds.), Handbook for driving simulation in engineering, medicine and psychology. Boca Roca, FL: CRC Press.
- Helldin, T., Falkman, G., Riveiro, M., and Davidsson, S. (2013). Presenting system uncertainty in automotive UIs for supporting trust calibration in autonomous driving. In proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications.
- Horswill, M. S., and McKenna, F. P. (2004). Drivers' hazard perception ability: Situation awareness on the road. In S. Banbury and S. Tremblay (Eds.), A Cognitive Approach to Situation Awareness: Theory and Application (pp. 155-175). Hampshire, England: Ashgate. DOI: 10.1109/cogsima.2013.6523837 IBM Corp. (2012). IBM SPSS statistics (Version 21.0) [Computer software]. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- IHRA ITS Working Group (2010). Design Principles for Advanced Driver Assistance Systems: Keeping Drivers In-the-Loop. Retrieved from:

http://tinyurl.com/zqttuy6

- Infinity Motors (2015). 2015 Infiniti Q50 Press Kit. Retrieved 28 November, 2015. Retrieved from http://tinyurl.com/zjn993q
- Körber, M., Cingel, A., Zimmermann, M., and Bengler, K. (2015). Vigilance Decrement and Passive Fatigue Caused by Monotony in Automated Driving. Procedia Manufacturing, 3, 2403-2409.
- Kountouriotis, G. K., and Merat, N. (2016). Leading to distraction: Driver distraction, lead car, and road environment. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 89, 22-30.
- Lerner, N., Baldwin, C., Stephen Higgins, J., Lee, J.D., and Schrooler, J. (2015). Mind wandering while driving: What does it mean and what do we do about it? In Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society 59th Annual Meeting, 1686-1690.
- Louw, T., Kountouriotis, G., Carsten, O., and Merat, N. (2015). Driver Inattention During Vehicle Automation: How Does Driver Engagement Affect Resumption of Control? In Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Driver Distraction and Inattention, 15. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.2017.0089
- Louw, T., Merat, N., and Jamson, A. H. (2015). Engaging with Highly Automated Driving: To be or not to be in the loop? In Proceedings of the 8th International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design (pp. 190-196). Snowbird, Utah. DOI:10.13140/RG.2.1.2788.9760
- Louw, T., Madigan, R., Carsten, O., and Merat, N. (2016). Were they in the loop during automated driving? Links between visual attention and crash potential. Injury prevention.
- Louw, T., and Merat, N. (2017). Are you in the loop? using gaze dispersion to understand driver visual attention during vehicle automation. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 76, 35-50.
- Merat, N., and Jamson, A. H. (2008). How do drivers behave in a highly automated car? In Proceedings of the Fifth International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design (pp. 514-521). Big Sky, MT. DOI:10.1016/J.TRC.2013.02.008
- Merat, N., Jamson, A. H., Lai, F. C., and Carsten, O. (2012). Highly automated driving, secondary task performance, and driver state. Human Factors: The Journal of

the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 54, 762-771.

- Merat, N., Jamson, A. H., Lai, F., Daly, M., and Carsten, O. M. (2014). Transition to manual: Driver behaviour when resuming control from a highly automated vehicle. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 26, 1-9.
- Neter, J., Wasserman, W., and Kutner, M.H. (1990). Applied Linear Statistical Models, (3rd edn). (Homewood, IL: Irwin).
- Pick, A.J., and Cole, D.J. (2006). Neuromuscular dynamics in the driver-vehicle system. Vehicle System Dynamics, 44, 624-631.
- Posner, M.I. (1980). Orienting of attention. Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology, 32, 3-25. DOI: 10.1080/00335558008248231
- Rosenbloom, S. (2012). "The Travel and Mobility Needs of Older People Now and in the Future," in Joseph F. Coughlin and Lisa A. D'Ambrosio, eds., Aging America and Transportation: Personal Choices and Public Policy, New York: Springer, pp. 39-56. DOI: 10.1080/01634372.2013.796221
- Rudin-Brown, C.M., and Parker, H.A. (2004). Behavioural adaptation to adaptive cruise control (ACC): implications for preventive strategies. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 7(2), 59-76.
- Society of Automotive Engineers [SAE] (2014). Taxonomy and definitions for terms related to on-road motor vehicle automated driving systems (Standard No. J3016). SAE International.
- Stanton, N. A., and Young, M. S. (1998). Vehicle automation and driving performance. Ergonomics, 41(7), 1014-1028.
- Strand, N., Nilsson, J., Karlsson, I.M. and Nilsson, L., Semi-automated versus highly automated driving in critical situations caused by automation failures. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour 27, 218-228, 2014.
- Tabachnick, B. G., and Fidell, L. S. (2007). Using multivariate statistics. Boston: Pearson/Allyn and Bacon.
- Tesla Motors (2015. Your Autopilot has arrived. Retrieved 28 November, 2015, from <a href="https://www.teslamotors.com/blog/your-autopilot-has-arrived">https://www.teslamotors.com/blog/your-autopilot-has-arrived</a>
- Volvo Cars (2015). This is autopilot. Retrieved 28 November, 2015, from http://tinyurl.com/jlk54lh

- Wang, Y., Reimer, B., Dobres, J., and Mehler, B. (2014). The sensitivity of different methodologies for characterizing drivers' gaze concentration under increased cognitive demand. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 26, 227-237.
- Zeeb, K., Buchner, A., and Schrauf, M. (2015). What determines the take-over time? An integrated model approach of driver take-over after automated driving. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 78, 212-221.

### **CHAPTER 6**

# COMING BACK INTO THE LOOP: DRIVERS' PERCEPTUAL-MOTOR PERFORMANCE IN CRITICAL EVENTS AFTER AUTOMATED DRIVING

ABSTRACT This driving simulator study, conducted as part of the EU AdaptIVe project, investigated drivers' performance in critical traffic events, during the resumption of control from an automated driving system. Prior to the critical events, using a between-participant design, 75 drivers were exposed to various screen manipulations that varied the amount of available visual information from the road environment and automation state, which aimed to take them progressively further 'out-of-the-loop' (OoTL). The current paper presents analysis of the timing, type, and rate of drivers' collision avoidance response, also investigating how these were influenced by the criticality of the unfolding situation. Results showed that the amount of visual information available to drivers during automation impacted on how quickly they resumed manual control, with less information associated with slower take-over times, however, this did not influence the timing of when drivers began a collision avoidance manoeuvre. Instead, the observed behaviour is in line with recent accounts emphasising the role of scenario kinematics in the timing of driver avoidance response. When considering collision incidents in particular, avoidance manoeuvres were initiated when the situation criticality exceeded an Inverse Time To Collision value of  $\approx 0.3$  $s^{-1}$ . Our results suggest that take-over time and timing and quality of avoidance response appear to be largely independent, and while long take-over time did not predict collision outcome, kinematically late initiation of avoidance did. Hence, system design should focus on achieving kinematically early avoidance initiation, rather than short take-over times.

# 6.1 Introduction

The advent of automated vehicles promises a number of benefits, including an increase in the flow and capacity of the road network (Kesting *et al.*, 2008, Ntousakis *et al.*, 2015), a wide range of economic benefits (Fagnant and Kockelman, 2015), an increase in shared mobility (Fagnant and Kockelman, 2015), and a reduction in energy consumption (Anderson *et al.*, 2014). Many of these forecasts have received a great deal of attention in recent years, including those predicting that vehicle automation will result in a reduction in road traffic accidents (Bertoncello and Wee, 2015).

The aim of partial (SAE, 2016; Level 2; L2) automated driving systems is to relieve drivers of the moment-to-moment demands of the control (lateral and longitudinal), yet not supervision, of the driving task. In conditional (SAE Level 3; L3) automated driving systems, drivers are able to relinquish both control and supervision of the driving task. However, drivers are still expected to be responsible for the safety of the vehicle when operating these systems, and should be available to resume manual control, should the system reach some limit, for example, due to poorly marked lane boundaries. During automated driving, drivers may shift their attention away from information relevant to the driving task, for example, the traffic environment or the status of the automated driving system, to one of a range of non-driving related activities (Carsten et al., 2012). This shift in attention potentially impairs drivers' ability to perceive, comprehend, and predict events in the road scene, diminishing their situation awareness (SA) (Endsley, 1995, De Winter et al., 2014). A key human factors concern regarding L2 and L3 systems is that drivers with deteriorated SA may be ill-prepared to regain the attention and motor-control necessary to safely navigate the vehicle, if a system limit is reached and manual intervention (or 'take-over') is required; an issue often referred to as the out-of-the-loop (OoTL) performance problem (Endsley and Kiris, 1995).

There is evidence to suggest that the non-driving related task drivers engage in during automation may affect how quickly and safely they can resume control (Gold et al., 2013; Zeeb et al., 2015; Radlmayr et al., 2014; Merat et al., 2014; Louw et al., 2015), though there is little consensus. For instance, Merat et al. (2012) compared drivers' responses to critical incident scenarios, while engaging in a verbal "20 Questions Task" (TQT). Compared to when drivers were not engaging in the TQT, the TQT had

no effect on how long it took drivers to start the lane change, but it did affect their ability to quickly reduce the vehicle's speed to a safe level. In contrast, Neubauer et al. (2012) found that drivers engaging in a mobile phone conversation during a take-over, had shorter brake reaction times to a lead vehicle, compared to those who were not engaging in a mobile phone conversation. This lack of consensus is not surprising as studies have employed different experimental traffic scenarios (Naujoks et al., 2014, Radlmayr et al., 2014), with varying time-budgets (Gold et al., 2013; Damböck et al., 2012; van den Beukel and van der Voort, 2013), and human-machine interfaces (HMI), and in simulators of varying degrees of fidelity. As non-driving related tasks demand different levels of drivers' visual attention, it is important to compare the effect of a range of tasks.

In this study, conducted as part of the EU AdaptIVe project, we aimed to systematically take drives OoTL, by applying a number of screen manipulations that, to varying degrees, limited the amount of system and environmental information available to drivers during automation, before presenting critical and non-critical take-over events. During these events, instead of a 'take-over request', we used an 'uncertainty' alert, which required drivers to monitor the road scene and determine whether there was a need to resume control from automation. These manipulations were introduced by Louw et al. (2015, 2016) and Louw and Merat (2017), and are detailed further below. Previously, we showed that, during automated driving, drivers' eye-gaze concentration was differentially affected by the OoTL manipulations (Louw and Merat, 2017), as was the location of drivers' first eye-fixations in the road scene, after the manipulations ceased (Louw et al., 2016). However, these differences resolved within 2 s of the manipulations ceasing. While these studies have illustrated how vehicle automation affects drivers' visual attention when 'coming back into the loop', precisely whether and how the degree of visual information available to drivers during automation affects their perceptual-motor performance during the take-over is not clear, nor is what constitutes 'good' performance, in this context. This study aimed to investigate these issues.

A number of measures and metrics have been used to study drivers' performance in the take-over, including take-over time from automation (Damboöck et al., 2014; Gold et al., 2014), minimum Time To Collision (TTC; Gold et al., 2013, Louw et al., 2015), reaction time to an obstacle (Neubauer et al., 2012), minimum time headway to an obstacle (Merat and Jamson, 2009; Merat et al., 2014; Louw et al., 2015), and maximum accelerations during vehicle control in the transition (Zeeb et al., 2015; Hergeth et al., 2016). In particular, take-over time has been used most widely to judge driver performance during the resumption of control (for a review see Eriksson and Stanton, 2017). However, we have previously argued that take-over time may not be the most appropriate indicator of drivers' preparedness for, or appreciation of the unfolding situation (Louw et al., 2015), as drivers could simply be reacting to take-over requests (TOR) from the system. Indeed, as reported in studies on braking behaviours in manual driving, there exists a driver-related delay between initial brake application and full emergency braking (Ising et al., 2012; Hirose et al., 2008; Perron et al., 2001; Kiesewetter et al., 1999; Yoshida et al., 1998). Therefore, the current study analysed, not only drivers' take-over time, but also, the time it takes for them to react to a threat in the road environment.

There is also a need to understand whether, and how, automation affects the *quality* of drivers' vehicle control following a take-over, as drivers do not mitigate all risk just by resuming control or initiating a manoeuvre. While the quality of vehicle control can be described, in part, by vehicle-based measures, such as lateral acceleration or standard deviation of lane position (SDLP), their interpretation is often constrained to the particular scenario under investigation. To provide scenario-independent measures of vehicle control, and thus take-over quality, a possible solution is to analyse drivers' responses in relation to the kinematics of an unfolding situation. Inverse Time To Collision (invTTC), for example, is a measure that accounts for the visual looming effect of a braking lead vehicle (Lee, 1976; Summala et al., 1998; Groeger, 2000; Kiefer et al., 2003, 2005), and is an important crash risk indicator (Kondoh et al., 2008).

Victor et al. (2015) and Markkula et al. (2016) used this measure to show that a majority of drivers involved in naturalistic crash and near-crash scenarios during manual driving, reacted within 1 s of the kinematic urgency of the scenario, reaching values of invTTC  $\approx 0.2 \text{ s}^{-1}$ , which suggests that the *timing* and *response rate* of drivers' initial response appears to be anchored to the criticality of the unfolding event. Based on their findings, Markkula et al. (2016) proposed that how drivers make use of and act on visual looming information from a lead vehicle in manual driving may also explain drivers' response processes when suddenly brought back into the control loop in automated driving. If not being in physical vehicle control due to automation

6.2 METHODS

causes a mismatch between drivers' internal model of a vehicle's dynamics and the actual vehicle dynamics (Macadam, 2003; Russell et al., 2016), then their ability to respond in manner that is appropriate for the criticality of the situation in hand may be impaired (cf. Fajen and Devaney, 2006; Fajen, 2008; Markkula et al., 2016).

The current study sought to evaluate this hypothesis, by analysing the timing and rate of drivers' responses (i.e. how fast they move brake pedal and steering wheel) in relation to the kinematics of the unfolding situation, and how this interacts with the degree of visual information available to drivers pre-take-over.

We hypothesised that drivers deprived of all visual information from the system and road environment would be furthest OoTL and, therefore, take-over control later and have the least consistent perceptual-motor control, than those who performed visual and non-visual tasks pre-take-over. However, drivers who had access to all visual information during automation were hypothesised to be the most in the loop and would, therefore, take-over control the earliest and have the most consistent perceptual-motor control during the transition.

# 6.2 Methods

## 6.2.1 Participants

Following ethical approval from the University of Leeds Research Ethics Committee (Reference Number: LTTRAN-054, seventy-five drivers (41 male), aged 21-69 years (M=36, SD=12) were recruited via the participant database of the University of Leeds Driving Simulator (UoLDS) and were reimbursed £20 for participation. Participants had normal or corrected-to-normal vision. Their average annual mileage was 8290 miles (SD=6723), and all participants had held a full driving licence for at least three years (M=16, SD=12) and drove at least twice a week.

## 6.2.2 Materials

The experiment was conducted in the fully motion-based UoLDS, which consists of a Jaguar S-type cab housed in a 4m spherical projection dome with a 300° field-of-view projection system. A v4.5 Seeing Machines faceLAB eye-tracker was used to record

eye movements at 60Hz.

## 6.2.3 OoTL Manipulations

To vary the degree to which drivers had access to visual information from the system and road environment during automation, we applied one of five OoTL manipulation techniques, which have been described previously in Louw et al. (2015, 2016) and Louw and Merat (2017), but are repeated in Table 6.1 and shown in Figure 6.1. As outlined in Figure 6.1, it was anticipated that drivers in the No Fog conditions would be the most *in the loop* and drivers in the Heavy Fog + Task condition would the most *out of the loop* (See Table 6.1).



**Figure 6.1:** An example of drivers' view in the (a) no fog, no fog + n-back, (b) light fog, (c) heavy fog, and (d) heavy fog + task conditions.

## 6.2.4 Automated driving system

The automated driving system was only available when the vehicle was travelling between 65 and 75 mph in the centre of the middle lane. Drivers could engage the system by pressing a button on the steering wheel. When automation was engaged, and drivers' hands and feet were off the controls, automation could be disengaged by either pressing a button on the steering wheel, turning the steering wheel more than  $2^{\circ}$ , or depressing the brake pedal. If participants did not engage automation within 5 s of maintaining the vehicle position in the centre of the middle lane, the system

Condition	Description	Motivation/Aim
No Fog	The road scene was not manipulated in any way.	This served as a baseline condition, where drivers had access to all visual information from the system and road environment dur- ing automation.
No Fog + n-back	The road scene was not manipulated in any way, but participants completed the 1-back task (Mehler et al., 2011) during automation, where they heard a se- quence of single digit numbers and were expected to repeat out loud the last number presented.	The aim was to simulate situations where drivers had access to all visual information from the system and road, but they were en- gaged in a non-visual task.
Light Fog	A translucent grey filter was superimposed on the road scene.	The aim was to give drivers the opportunity to perceive elements in the immediate vicin- ity of the road environment but not further afield, and to hinder their ability to accu- rately predict how road events might unfold in the future.
Heavy Fog	An opaque grey filter overlaid the road scene block- ing all visual information from the road environ- ment.	The aim was to simulate situations where drivers are completely looking away from the road scene and are unaware of the traf- fic conditions but not engaged in any other activity.
Heavy Fog + Task	An opaque grey filter overlaid the road scene block- ing all visual information from the road environ- ment. A visually presented secondary task was pro- jected onto the front scene, which involved a series of web-based multiple-choice IQ test questions re- quiring verbal answers. Questions related to visuo- spatial shape-matching, general knowledge ques- tions, and moderately challenging mathematics.	The aim was to simulate situations where drivers are not attending to visual informa- tion from the system or road environment, due to interaction with a visual secondary task.

**Table 6.1:** Description of the OoTL conditions.



**Figure 6.2:** An example of the in-vehicle HMI with the Forward Collision Warning symbol on the left and the Automation Status Symbol on the right (flashing green in this example).

engaged automatically. Once engaged, the system assumed lateral and longitudinal control and adjusted the vehicle's speed to maintain 70 mph.

## 6.2.5 Human-machine interface

The human-machine interface (HMI) used for automation status related to the colour of a steering wheel symbol located in the vehicle's central display unit (Figure 6.2). This was solid grey when automation was unavailable, flashed green when available, and appeared solid green when active. For each event (see below), at the end of the OoTL manipulations, instead of a take-over request, drivers were presented with an 'uncertainty alert'. This was indicated by a flashing yellow symbol, which invited drivers to monitor the roadway and intervene, if they deemed necessary. If the driver deactivated the automation, the symbol appeared solid red for 2 s. Automation activation and deactivation were accompanied by an auditory tone (1000Hz, 0.2 s). A Forward Collision Warning (FCW) symbol included to the left of the automation status symbol gave drivers a visual estimate of the lead vehicle headway and a continuous alarm sounded if drivers reached an acceleration-based time-to-collision (TTC) of 2 s.

## 6.2.6 Experimental and Scenario Design

Five groups of 15 participants each were recruited for this study. All participants conducted an automated and manual (without the OoTL manipulations) drive, which were counterbalanced across participants. However, given the scope of this paper,

only results of performance during the automated drive is included here. A 5 X 2 repeated measures mixed design was used, with OoTL Manipulation (No Fog, Light Fog, Heavy Fog, Heavy Fog+Quiz, No Fog+n-back) as a between-participant factor and Event Number (1-6) as a within-participant factor.

Each experimental drive lasted about 20 minutes and encompassed six discrete carfollowing events, within a free-flowing three-lane motorway, with ambient traffic. As shown in Figure 6.3, each drive contained two critical events (2,6) and four non-critical events (1,3,4,5). For all events, 7 s before the uncertainty alert, a vehicle entered the lane ahead, from the right. In the critical events, after 3 s of the OoTL manipulations ending, the lead vehicle decelerated at a rate of  $5.0 \text{ m/s}^2$ . This resulted in a collision if, after 3 s from the lead vehicle brake onset, there was no driver action. In the non-critical events, after 3 s of the OoTL manipulations ending, the lead vehicle either sped up or changed lane to the left, nullifying the event criticality.



**Figure 6.3:** Schematic representation of each discrete event in the experimental drive. (a) to (d) represent various phases of the drive, where (a) denotes automation being engaged, (b) denotes the start of the OoTL manipulations, (c) denotes the end of the OoTL manipulations and the start of the uncertainty alert, and (d) denotes the start of the lead vehicle braking in the critical event.

## 6.2.7 Procedure

Upon arrival, participants read a hand-out which contained details of the experiment, but which did not include information on the critical situations. After signing the consent form, participants completed a 15-minute familiarisation drive, consisting of non-critical events only. This began with a short manual drive. Once familiar with the simulator controls, participants practised activating/deactivating the automation, were shown how the HMI communicated automation states, and experienced the OoTL manipulations. Participants then completed the experimental drive described in the previous section.

### 6.2.8 Analysis of drivers' perceptual-motor performance

### Reaction time measures

Two metrics were adopted for quantifying timing measures during the take-over process: The *first* was take-over time ( $t_{take-over}$ ), which was defined as a measure of the time between the end of the OoTL manipulations and a driver's disengagement of the automated driving system (by either pressing a button on a steering wheel, turning the steering wheel more than 2°, or depressing the brake pedal). We also computed action time ( $t_{action}$ ), which was defined as the time from the end of the OoTL manipulation, to when the driver started a significant deceleration or steering action that was clearly intended to mitigate the impending crash.

During our studies, we have found that, in many cases, drivers touched the steering wheel but did not initiate an evasive steering action, and similarly, they often pressed the brake pedal but did not engage in an evasive braking action. Therefore, we looked for a clear steering or braking action and then searched for the starting point of this committed action. We developed a MATLAB (version R2015b, MathWorks) tool to allow the experimenter to judge when the driver committed to their response action. The following steps were taken to analyse  $t_{action}$  for the braking and steering responses:

- 1. The brake pedal signal and steering wheel signal were each filtered with a 1st order low-pass Butterworth filter, with a cut-off frequency of 0.05 Hz for braking, and 0.1 Hz for steering.
- (a) For braking, the first local maximum brake pedal sample greater than 4 was identified (Red diamond marker in Figure 6.4). The brake pedal sample represented a unit-less value of brake effort, on a scale of 0 to 450.
  - (b) For steering, the local maxima and minima values with an amplitude threshold of  $\pm 2.5^{\circ}$  were first identified, as per Schmidt et al. (2014). Then,



**Figure 6.4:** Example plot from the analysis of a brake signal, to determine  $t_{action}$ . Longitudinal acceleration values are multiplied by 10 for illustration purposes.

the global maximum steering wheel angle amplitude prior to the lane change manoeuvre was identified (Red diamond marker in Figure 6.5).

- 3. To identify the start point of the manoeuvre ( $t_{action}$ ), two criteria were used. First, we identified the end of the plateau in brake or steering signal before the point identified above, such that there was less than a 0.0005 difference in values between consecutive samples (Red square markers in Figures 6.4 and 6.5). Second, to ensure accuracy, each start point was manually confirmed on a case-by-case basis, based on changes to the vehicle's speed and longitudinal acceleration, for braking, and the vehicle's offset and lateral acceleration, for steering. Minor adjustments to the location of the start points were made where necessary.
- 4.  $t_{action}$  was calculated as the time from the end of the OoTL screen manipulations (Figure 6.3) to the time corresponding to the start point identified in the previous step.

### Vehicle control

To determine the quality of drivers' vehicle control after resuming control, we considered whether drivers were able to scale the rate of their collision avoidance response



**Figure 6.5:** Example plot from the analysis of a steering signal, to determine  $t_{action}$ . Lateral acceleration and vehicle offset values are multiplied by 10 for illustration purposes.

to the event criticality. For this, we calculated and correlated two different measures.

The *first* measure was Inverse Time To Collision (invTTC; Kiefer et al., 2003, 2005) at  $t_{action}$ , and was used to quantify the criticality of the unfolding event at the point drivers began their collision avoidance manoeuvre. invTTC was calculated as relative speed divided by distance gap between the ego and lead vehicle, which takes the lead vehicle deceleration into account.

The *second* measure was the maximum derivative ( $D_{max}$ ) of the control input that drivers used to avoid the collision, and was used to assess the rate and force of drivers' response to the critical event (Green circle marker in Figure 6.4 and Figure 6.5).  $D_{max}$  was taken from the time period between the response onset ( $t_{action}$ ) and the maximum value of the respective control input. If drivers changed lane, then steering wheel angle was used, and if they braked, then brake pedal position was used. If drivers braked then steered, then steering wheel angle was used. For both steering avoidance (Markkula et al., 2014) and braking avoidance (Markkula et al., 2016), drivers scale the rate of their avoidance manoeuvre (i.e.  $D_{max}$ ), to looming, as measured by invTTC. By correlating invTTC at  $t_{action}$  and  $D_{max}$ , we aimed to assess (i) whether similar situation-adaptive control behaviour would be present just after a take-over from automated driving, and if so, (ii) whether it would be affected by

the OoTL manipulations. Specifically, as suggested in the Introduction, that drivers who had access to less visual information during automation, would generally have a more scattered correlation between invTTC at  $t_{action}$  and  $D_{max}$ .

As braking and steering inputs are measured in different units, they could not be analysed as a single data set, without first being transformed. To achieve this, separate regression equations were calculated for the steering and braking responses between invTTC and  $t_{action}$ . Next, the  $D_{max}$  values of the braking responses were transformed such that the intercept and slope of the regression equation was the same as that of the steering responses, allowing for the comparison of braking and steering responses.

#### Statistical analyses

The data were not normally distributed. Therefore, Kendall's non-parametric rank correlation test was used on the correlations throughout, which is preferred over Spearman's test, when using smaller sample sizes (Field, 2009). Kendall's *coefficient of determination*  $\tau$ , was used here as a measure of goodness of fit. This was calculated using the *cor.test* R function in the 'MASS' package using the "kendall" method (Venables and Ripley, 2002). For illustration purposes, the approximate slopes and intercepts of the various factors were also calculated using robust linear regression, using the *rlm* R function in the 'MASS' package with default settings (Venables and Ripley, 2002). To test for an effect of the OoTL manipulations on  $t_{take-over}$  and  $t_{action}$ , Kruskal-Wallis H tests were conducted using SPSS V.21 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA).

Included in this study, based on 15 participants in each of the five OoTL manipulation groups and two critical events per participant, there were 150 transition cases considered for the analysis. However, twenty-six cases were excluded for various reasons. In 13 cases, drivers avoided a collision by changing lane but, at the point of automation disengagement, the initial steering wheel angle exceed  $\pm 5^{\circ}$  (which was possible because the steering wheel was not self-correcting) and there were no subsequent salient steering inputs. This indicated the lane change was due to a slow drift and the driver's intentional response could not be determined confidently. In 11 cases, drivers steered while braking hard and thus skidded such that steering had no effect. In 1 case, a driver did not respond at all, and in another the driver's response could not be determined using the method described above.

# 6.3 Results and Discussion

The results from this study will be presented with the aid of two types of graphs: the first graph relates to the timing of drivers' response and shows take-over time (x-axis,  $t_{take-over}$ ) relative to action time (y-axis,  $t_{action}$ ), for example as illustrated in Figure 6.6. If a data point falls on the dashed grey diagonal line, it indicates that the driver began a collision avoidance manoeuvre at the same time as they resumed control. The greater the distance along the y-axis between the data point and the dashed diagonal line, the longer the time between when drivers resumed control and initiated a manoeuvre. The red dashed lines on the x- and y-axes indicate the onset of the vehicle brake light. The second graph relates to vehicle control and shows  $D_{max}$  (y-axis) relative to invTTC at the start of drivers' response (x-axis), for example as presented in Figure 6.7. This figure attempts to demonstrate the rate of drivers' steering or braking input, during their collision avoidance manoeuvre, in relation to the kinematic urgency faced by drivers when they began their manoeuvre (i.e. the visual looming from the lead vehicle).

Results from a Kruskal-Wallis H test showed that, the lower the degree of visual information available to drivers during automation (from left to right in Figure 6.6), the slower they tended to take-over control ( $\chi^2(4) = 9.820$ , p <0.05), with mean rank scores for  $t_{take-over}$  shown in Table 6.2. However, there was no difference between the groups regarding when drivers began their collision avoidance manoeuvre ( $t_{action}$ , p = .784), which suggests that, the further OoTL drivers were, the higher the likelihood of a simultaneous take-over and manoeuvre initiation.

Figure 6.6 also shows that drivers who had access to all visual information pretake-over (No Fog group), were most likely to resume control before the onset of the lead vehicle braking, suggesting more anticipatory responses. However, when drivers were either engaged in a non-driving related task and/or had some or all visual information withheld from them pre-take-over, they were more likely to resume control after the lead vehicle braked. These results suggest that the more OoTL drivers were, the more they reacted to external traffic than to system information, following the cessation of the OoTL manipulations.

Taking the situation kinematics into account, it is clear from Figure 6.7 that the lower the degree of visual information available to drivers, the more likely they were



**Figure 6.6:**  $t_{action}$  relative to  $t_{take-over}$  for the five OoTL conditions in both critical events. Red triangles show collisions and black circles show non-collisions. The blue lines are for illustration purposes only, showing the outcome of robust linear regression. Note how, from leftmost to rightmost panel, the general pattern is that cases group further to the right in the panel, indicating later  $t_{take-over}$  for more OoTL drivers (p <0.05) whereas the scatter in the vertical direction remains largely unchanged (no statistically significant effect of the OoTL manipulations).



**Figure 6.7:**  $D_{max}$  of response relative to invTTC at  $t_{action}$  for the five OoTL conditions in both critical events. Triangles show collisions and circles show non-collisions. The blue lines are for illustration purposes only, showing the outcome of robust linear regression.

	No Fog	No Fog + n back	- Light Fog	Heavy Fog Task	+ Heavy Fog
$t_{\it take-over}$ (s)	3.70 (1.22)	4.11 (1.07)	4.13 (1.11)	4.39 (1.03)	4.53 (.51)
Mean rank scores	46.31	63.96	58.23	68.11	75.39
for $t_{take-over}$					
$t_{action}$ (s)	4.95 (0.91)	4.93 (0.99)	4.68 (0.72)	4.96 (1.02)	5.10 (.87)

**Table 6.2:** Mean (SD) of take-over time and action time for the five OoTL conditions.

to respond at invTTC of over  $0.3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ . It is also evident that the majority of drivers across the groups responded before the criticality of the situation reached a value of invTTC  $\approx 0.3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ . This is consistent with the findings of Victor et al. (2015) and Markkula et al. (2016), who showed that, during manual driving, drivers reacted within 1 s of the kinematic urgency of the scenario, reaching values of invTTC  $\approx 0.2$  $s^{-1}$ . Overall, as the situation became increasingly critical, drivers scaled the rate of their avoidance response to the criticality of the situation, just as in manual driving, both for braking (Markkula et al., 2016) and steering (Markkula et al., 2014). Tau values shown in Figure 6.7 suggest that the rates of drivers' responses were less scattered the lower the degree of available visual information, which goes against our hypotheses. We proposed that Tau may be a good measure of scatter, however, considering the distribution of the data across the groups, Tau may not be the ideal measure, as it is sensitive to how much of the invTTC range is covered. Therefore, larger data sets with better coverage of the invTTC spectrum and/or more detailed analysis methods might clarify this further. Qualitative inspection of the plots in Figure 6.7 suggest that the general nature of the perceptual-motor scaling, in terms of slope and intercept, was rather similar between the OoTL manipulations.

For all cases that resulted in a collision, drivers began their avoidance manoeuvre when the situation criticality exceeded invTTC  $\approx 0.3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ . However, this cannot fully account for why drivers crashed in some cases, as in other cases drivers responded at the same criticality and avoided a collision. Further explanation can be derived from the type of response adopted by drivers after the take-over.

Results showed that, in the majority of cases, drivers mainly steered in response to the lead vehicle (68/124), while in 36/124 cases drivers mainly braked, and in 20/124
cases drivers braked then steered (Figure 6.8). This is consistent with findings of Gold et al. (2013) and Blommer et al. (2017), who also found that a high proportion of drivers steered in crash-imminent situations, following a take-over, despite the fact that previous studies have shown braking to be the more common response in manual driving (Adams, 1994). Figure 6.9 shows that drivers who braked after the situation criticality reached invTTC  $\approx 0.3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ , were unable to avoid a collision, despite clearly scaling the rate of their brake response to the higher criticality of the situation. This is not surprising, as it is a well known aspect of road vehicle dynamics that steering collision avoidance remains a feasible option for a longer time than braking avoidance, during the run-up to a potential collision (Rice and Dell'Amico, 1974; Lechner and Malaterre, 2015).



Figure 6.8: Combined frequency of drivers' responses in CE1 and CE2.



**Figure 6.9:**  $D_{max}$  of response relative to invTTC at  $t_{action}$  for the three response categories. Triangles show collisions and circles show non-collisions. The blue lines are for illustration purposes only, showing the outcome of robust linear regression.

In terms of actual number of collisions with the lead vehicle, Figure 6.10 shows that all collisions occurred in Critical Event 1 (CE1). While there were five cases in Critical Event 2 (CE2) where drivers responded after the criticality reached invTTC  $\approx$  0.3 s<sup>-1</sup>, it is likely that the previous exposure might have helped these drivers make the correct decision to apply steering. In none of the cases that resulted in collisions, did drivers resume control or initiate a response before the onset of the lead vehicle braking, which could indicate increased decision-making time to take-over control. However, in 14 of the 108 non-collision, drivers resumed control (13 cases) or initiated a response (1 case) before the onset of the lead vehicle braking, which could indicate more anticipatory responses. Finally, Figure 6.10 shows that regressions were similar between the CE1 and CE2, which suggests that drivers' motor-control was largely unaffected by whether they had previously experienced a critical event.



**Figure 6.10**:  $D_{max}$  of response relative to invTTC at  $t_{action}$  for Critical Event 1 and Critical Event 2. Triangles show collisions and circles show non-collisions. The blue lines are for illustration purposes only, showing the outcome of robust linear regression.

## 6.4 Conclusions

The analyses presented here provide some novel insights into the importance of visual information for drivers' perceptual-motor performance in critical situations during the resumption of control from automation.

Previously, we reported that the OoTL manipulations influenced the location of drivers' first eye-fixations after the manipulations ended, but that the effects resolved within 2 s (Louw et al., 2016). However, it was not clear whether the effect of the manipulations ended there or if they had an effect on drivers' perceptual-motor control. One important finding from this study is that, despite there being no differences regarding where drivers directed their visual attention, the less visual information available to drivers during automation, the later they took over control.

We hypothesised that the more OoTL drivers were, the less consistent their perceptual-motor performance. However, there was no difference between the groups regarding how long it took drivers to begin a collision avoidance manoeuvre, or, indeed, whether they would experience a collision. In addition, the subsequent kinematic analysis showed that the degree of visual information available to drivers pre-take-over did not influence whether and how drivers scaled the rate of their response to the situation criticality, at least not in any way that could be detected with the present data and analyses. This suggests that the level of drivers' situation awareness during automation has an impact on the timing of their take-over ( $t_{take-over}$ ), but not necessarily on when they began a collision avoidance manoeuvre ( $t_{action}$ ) or the quality of their subsequent vehicle control ( $D_{max}$ ). This brings into question the usefulness of take-over time as a measure of 'good' performance in the take-over.

Another finding is that the majority of drivers responded below invTTC  $\approx 0.3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ , which was common for cases that avoided a collision, while all cases that resulted in a collision shared the following characteristics: *First*, for all collisions, drivers began their evasive manoeuvre when the situation criticality was above invTTC  $\approx 0.3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ . *Second*, drivers who crashed braked instead of steering, or braking then steering. *Third*, all collisions occurred in the first critical event, which is in line with previous findings that drivers' familiarisation with the event and experience with the system, results in fewer interaction errors, and safer outcomes (Engström et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2002; Benderius et al., 2014).

Taken together, our results suggest that it is important that, following a take-over, drivers act on any threat as early as possible in the kinematic scenario. While in the current study the usefulness of take-over time has been questioned, situations giving rise to take-over event will likely vary widely, and what is important is that drivers are able respond to system feedback in a timely manner. Therefore, the fact that the OoTL manipulations influenced how quickly drivers disengaged the automated driving systems has important HMI design implications for automated vehicles. For instance, HMIs that emphasise situation-relevant information before the take-over may facilitate safer take-over situations. With increasing situation criticality, drivers clearly attempted to adjust the rate of their collision avoidance response. Despite this, in many cases drivers were unsuccessful at avoiding a collision. This indicates that, should a system-initiated take-over be required, automated driving systems must support drivers during the transfer of physical vehicle control, by providing either advanced warning or vehicle control that reduces the situation criticality, via, for example, haptic shared control, Collision Mitigation by Braking (CMbB) or Emergency Steer Assist (ESA). A supportive HMI could also encourage drivers who respond late in the kinematic scenario to apply steering avoidance (the situation permitting, such

as the one under investigation here).

The current study sets out some avenues for future work. For example, the scattered gaze-fixations of colliders (Louw et al., 2016), possibly contributed to their braking response starting late in the situation kinematics, and further work is required to ratify this link, which, if found to be true, strengthens the argument for an HMI that is able to direct drivers' attention to relevant information. Furthermore, what constitutes 'quality' regarding driver performance in the transition will vary according to the level of responsibility being transferred as well as the road traffic situation itself, which motivates the need to evaluate a range of real-world take-over scenarios.

Finally, it is important to understand further how automation impacts on the kinematic-dependencies of driver responses to critical events, as recent work by Blommer et al. (2017) has shown that avoidance responses come later after a transition out of automated driving than in manual driving. It remains an open question whether or not drivers' scaling of avoidance responses to kinematics also change between manual and automated modes of driving.

## 6.5 References

- Adams, L. (1994). Review of the literature on obstacle avoidance maneuvers: Braking versus steering (UMTRI-94-19). Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute (UMTRI).
- Benderius, O., Markkula, G., Wolff, K., and Wahde, M. (2014). Driver behaviour in unexpected critical events and in repeated exposures-a comparison. European Transport Research Review, 6, 51-60.
- van den Beukel, A. P., and van der Voort, M. C. (2013). The influence of time-criticality on situation awareness when retrieving human control after automated driving. In 16th International IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC 2013) (pp. 2000-2005). IEEE.
- Blommer, M., Curry, R., Swaminathan, R., Tijerina, L., Talamonti, W., and Kochhar, D. (2017). Driver brake vs. steer response to sudden forward collision scenario in manual and automated driving modes. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 45, 93-101.

- Carsten, O., Lai, F. C. H., Barnard, Y., Jamson, A. H., and Merat, N. (2012). Control task substitution in semi-automated driving: Does it matter what aspects are automated? Human Factors, 54, 747-761.
- Damböck, D., Bengler, K., Farid, M., and Tönert, L. (2012). Übernahmezeiten beim hochautomatisierten fahren. Tagung Fahrerassistenz. München, 15, 16.
- De Winter, J. C., Happee, R., Martens, M. H., and Stanton, N. A. (2014). Effects of adaptive cruise control and highly automated driving on workload and situation awareness: A review of the empirical evidence. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 27, 196-217.
- Endsley, M. R. (1995). Toward a theory of situation awareness in dynamic systems. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 37, 32-64.
- Endsley, M. R., and Kiris, E. O. (1995). The out-of-the-loop performance problem and level of control in automation. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 37, 381-394.
- Engström, J., Aust, M. L., and Viström, M. (2010). Effects of working memory load and repeated scenario exposure on emergency braking performance. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 52, 551-559.
- Fajen, B. R. (2008). Perceptual learning and the visual control of braking. Perception and Psychophysics, 70, 1117-1129.
- Fajen, B. R., and Devaney, M. C. (2006). Learning to control collisions: the role of perceptual attunement and action boundaries. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 32, 300.
- Field, A. (2009). Discovering statistics using R. Sage publications.
- Gold, C., Damböck, D., Lorenz, L., and Bengler, K. (2013). "Take over!" how long does it take to get the driver back into the loop? In Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting (pp. 1938-1942). SAGE Publications volume 57.
- Gold, C., Lorenz, L., and Bengler, K. (2014). Influence of automated brake application on take-over situations in highly automated driving scenarios. In Proceedings of the FISITA 2014 World Automotive Congress..

- Groeger, J. A. (2000). Understanding driving: Applying cognitive psychology to a complex everyday task. Psychology Press.
- Hirose, T., Taniguchi, T., Hatano, T., Takahashi, K., and Tanaka, N. (2008). A study on the effect of brake assist systems (bas). SAE International Journal of Passenger Cars-Mechanical Systems, 1, 729-735.
- Ising, K. W., Droll, J. A., Kroeker, S. G., D'Addario, P. M., and Goulet, J.-F. (2012). Driver-related delay in emergency braking response to a laterally incurring hazard. In Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting (pp. 705-709). Sage Publications volume 56.
- Kiefer, R. J., Cassar, M. T., Flannagan, C. A., LeBlanc, D. J., Palmer, M. D., Deering, R. K., and Shulman, M. A. (2003). Forward collision warning requirements project: refining the CAMP crash alert timing approach by examining" last-second" braking and lane change maneuvers under various kinematic conditions (No. HS-809 574,).
- Kiefer, R. J., LeBlanc, D. J., and Flannagan, C. A. (2005). Developing an inverse time-tocollision crash alert timing approach based on drivers' last-second braking and steering judgements. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 37, 295-303.
- Kiesewetter, W., Klinkner, W., Reichelt, W., and Steiner, M. (1999). The new brake assist of mercedes-benz active driver support in emergency braking situations. Vehicle Performance: Understanding Human Monitoring and Assessment, (pp. 67-83).
- Kondoh, T., Yamamura, T., Kitazaki, S., Kuge, N., and Boer, E. R. (2008). Identification of visual cues and quantification of drivers' perception of proximity risk to the lead vehicle in car-following situations. Journal of Mechanical Systems for Transportation and Logistics, 1, 170-180.
- Lechner, D., and Malaterre, G. (2015). Emergency Manuever Experimentation Using a Driving Simulator. Technical Report SAE Technical Paper.
- Lee, D. N. (1976). A theory of visual control of braking based on information about time-to-collision. Perception, *5*, 437-459.
- Lee, J. D., McGehee, D. V., Brown, T. L., and Reyes, M. L. (2002). Collision warning timing, driver distraction, and driver response to imminent rear-end collisions in a high-fidelity driving simulator. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 44, 314-334.

- Louw, T., Merat, N., and Jamson, H. (2015). Engaging with highly automated driving: To be or not to be in the loop? In 8th International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design, At Salt Lake City, Utah, USA.
- Louw, T., Kountouriotis, G., Carsten, O., and Merat, N. (2015). Driver inattention during vehicle automation: How does driver engagement affect resumption of control? In Proceedings of the International Conference on Driver Distraction and Inattention. ARRB Group.
- Louw, T., Madigan, R., Carsten, O., and Merat, N. (2016). Were they in the loop during automated driving? Links between visual attention and crash potential. Injury prevention. DOI: 10.1136/injuryprev-2016-042155
- Louw, T., and Merat, N. (2017). Are you in the loop? using gaze dispersion to understand driver visual attention during vehicle automation. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 76, 35-50.
- Macadam, C. C. (2003). Understanding and modelling the human driver. Vehicle System Dynamics, 40(1-3), 101-134.
- Markkula, G., Benderius, O., and Wahde, M. (2014). Comparing and validating models of driver steering behaviour in collision avoidance and vehicle stabilisation. Vehicle System Dynamics, 52, 1658-1680.
- Markkula, G., Engström, J., Lodin, J., BÃd'rgman, J., and Victor, T. (2016). A farewell to brake reaction times? kinematics-dependent brake response in naturalistic rear-end emergencies. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 95, 209-226.
- Mehler, B., Reimer, B., and Dusek, J. (2011). Mit agelab delayed digit recall task (n-back). Cambridge, MA: Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- Merat, N., Jamson, A. H., Lai, F. C., and Carsten, O. (2012). Highly automated driving, secondary task performance, and driver state. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 54, 762-771.
- Merat, N., Jamson, A. H., Lai, F. C., Daly, M., and Carsten, O. M. (2014). Transition to manual: Driver behaviour when resuming control from a highly automated vehicle. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 27, 274-282.

- Naujoks, F., Mai, C., and Neukum, A. (2014). The effect of urgency of take- over requests during highly automated driving under distraction conditions. Advances in Human Aspects of Transportation, (p. 431).
- Neubauer, C., Matthews, G., and Saxby, D. (2012, September). The effects of cell phone use and automation on driver performance and subjective state in simulated driving. In Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting (Vol. 56, No. 1, pp. 1987-1991). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.
- Perron, T., Kassaagi, M., and Brissart, G. (2001). Active safety experiments with common drivers for the specification of active safety systems. In 17th International Technical Conference on Enhanced Safety of Vehicles, Amsterdam.(Paper Number 427) Retrieved from http://www-nrd.nhtsa.gov/database/nrd-01/esv/asp /esvpdf.asp.
- Radlmayr, J., Gold, C., Lorenz, L., Farid, M., and Bengler, K. (2014). How traffic situations and non-driving related tasks affect the take-over quality in highly automated driving. In Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting (pp. 2063-2067). Sage Publications volume 58.
- Rice, R. S., and Dell'Amico, F. (1974). An Experimental Study of Automobile Driver Characteristics and Capabilities.. Technical Report DTIC Document.
- SAE (2016). Definitions for Terms Related to On-Road Motor Vehicle Automated Driving Systems (J3016). Technical Report Technical report, SAE International.
- Russell, H. E., Harbott, L. K., Nisky, I., Pan, S., Okamura, A. M., and Gerdes, J. C. (2016). Motor learning affects car-to-driver handover in automated vehicles. Science Robotics, 1(1), eaah5682.
- Schmidt, K., Beggiato, M., Hoffmann, K. H., and Krems, J. F. (2014). A mathematical model for predicting lane changes using the steering wheel angle. Journal of safety research, 49, 85-e1.
- Summala, H., Lamble, D., and Laakso, M. (1998). Driving experience and perception of the lead car's braking when looking at in-car targets. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 30, 401-407.
- Venables, W. N., and Ripley, B. D. (2002). Random and mixed effects. In Modern Applied Statistics with S (pp. 271-300). Springer.

- Victor, T., Dozza, M., Bärgman, J., Boda, C.-N., Engström, J., Flannagan, C., Lee, J. D., and Markkula, G. (2015). Analysis of naturalistic driving study data: Safer glances, driver inattention, and crash risk. Technical Report.
- Yoshida, H., Sugitani, T., Ohta, M., Kizaki, J., Yamamotoz, A., and Shirai, K. (1998). Development of the brake assist system. Technical Report SAE Technical Paper.
- Zeeb, K., Buchner, A., and Schrauf, M. (2015). What determines the take-over time? an integrated model approach of driver take-over after automated driving. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 78, 212-221.

### **CHAPTER 7**

## FINAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

## 7.1 Final Discussion

This research was conducted as part of the Human Factors sub-project of the AdaptIVe (Automated driving applications and technologies for Intelligent Vehicles) project, co-funded by the European Union, under the 7th Framework Programme (AdaptIVe Project, 2014). The overall goal of the AdaptIVe project was to develop various automated driving functions for daily traffic, by dynamically adapting the level of automation, to the situation and driver status.

The specific objective of the Human Factors sub-project was to develop highlevel use cases for test and development throughout the project and collect research issues on the interaction of drivers with automated vehicles, that currently remain unresolved. A further objective was to conduct experiments in different laboratory settings, including dynamic driving simulators, and, if suitable, also instrumented test vehicles, and based on the evaluated results create functional requirements and decision strategies for collaboration between the human driver and the automated driving system, in particular situations.

Thus, the focus of this thesis was on the assessment of the effect of vehicle automation on the human driver and not of the technology underlying the automation. The studies in this thesis were not designed to propose and evaluate prototypical automated driving systems or human-machine interfaces (HMI) nor reflect precise real-world use-cases.

The design of the experimental work was guided, on the one hand, by the desire

to answer practical questions that arose from the literature regarding how drivers interact with an automated driving system, and, on the other hand, the desire to better understand the physical and cognitive/attentional aspects underlying the human out-of-the-loop problem. The results obtained have allowed us to draw practical conclusions regarding the effect of automation on driver behaviour, but also, more fundamentally about the nature of the driver out-of-the-loop phenomenon in the context of highly automated driving.

## 7.2 Review of experimental investigations

Five specific research questions were posed for investigation in Chapter 1, and the series of papers reported in this thesis and discussed below have addressed these.

1. How does automation affect drivers' performance in transition situations, requiring control- and tactical-level responses?

# 2. How does automation affect drivers' behaviour in automation, compared to manual driving?

The literature on transitions in automated driving is dominated by experiments assessing driver behaviour in scenarios requiring only control-level responses, i.e. maintaining lane position, while relatively little has been conducted on how drivers can handle scenarios that represent tactical and strategic levels of driving, as per Michon (1985). This gap acted as the starting point to this research.

One of the challenges of comparing performance across control- and tactical-level driving scenarios is that the dynamics of the scenarios (also referred to as 'kinematics' in the literature) themselves are often dissimilar, for example, maintaining lane position compared to deciding whether to brake or change lane to avoid a collision. Therefore, it is hard to ascertain whether changes in driving performance are due to differences in road and traffic layout, or drivers' ability to navigate them. The study presented in Chapter 2 overcame this shortfall by examining the effect of scenarios requiring both control-level and tactical-level responses on driver behaviour, by introducing different rule-based instructions for how to respond to the same situation (stationary lead vehicle) during a transition. A secondary aim of this study was to assess whether

any observed differences were due to either the physical or attentional aspects of not being in control as a result of automation. Therefore, the experiment also required drivers to either maintain visual attention towards the road centre throughout the experimental drive, or to read from an iPad to the side of the steering wheel while automated driving was active, and before requests for resumption of control.

Overall, findings showed that drivers experiencing automation in two conditions (no distractions and distracted by reading task) performed worse when avoiding a collision, compared to a manual condition, which was in line with previous findings (Young and Stanton, 2007; Merat and Jamson, 2009; Merat et al., 2012). However, the short (1-minute) periods of automation used in this study did not impede drivers' ability to complete simple operational and tactical-level driving tasks, following a system-initiated take-over request. That there were differences between the manual drive and both automation drives, but not between the automation conditions themselves, led to the hypothesis that the OoTL phenomenon encompasses a strong element of physical control, with the effects of attention possibly a more subtle aspect. However, the possible priming of the repeated-measures design suggests that any observed effects of being out of the cognitive control loop were conservative. Therefore, the particular contribution of the attentional aspect of the OoTL problem remained unclear, and this provided impetus for the study presented in Chapter 3.

Chapter 3 investigated the attentional dimensions of the OoTL problem in the transition. To achieve this, I artificially induced two driver OoTL states, by manipulating the degree of visual information available to drivers during automation, both regarding the dashboard displays in the vehicle and also the road environment. Based on Endlsey's (1995) definition of Situation Awareness (SA) and Kienle et al.'s (2009) definition of an OoTL driver, I hypothesised that, by restricting drivers' access to system and environmental information during automation, and before an automation uncertainty event, drivers would have a reduced ability to recognise and respond to a critical scenario. In two conditions, drivers either had access to no system or environmental information (Light Fog condition), or only limited visibility of environmental information (Light Fog condition), which was hypothesised to take drivers OoTL, and help us understand whether the information drivers had access to during automation would change how they interacted with automation during and after the transition. To detect whether drivers were only taking back control in

response to a take-over request, or responding to some system or environmental cue, I introduced an 'uncertainty alert' in place of the more common 'take-over request'. This *invited* drivers to monitor the road rather than *instructed* them to resume control.

The results on vehicle control in Chapter 3 corroborated and extended those presented in Chapter 2, showing that drivers' response profile to a potential collision scenario was less controlled and resulted in more collisions in the critical events, compared to when they were in manual control. However, there were no differences between the two OoTL manipulation groups, which implied either that the amount of visual information available to drivers was not as important as being in physical control, that the methodology was not appropriate, or that the vehicle-based measures, or analysis thereof, used to test this hypothesis were robust to any underlying differences. This is discussed further in Section 7.4. Yet, crash outcomes provided some indication that, by withholding driving-relevant information, using the OoTL manipulations, I was at least successful at taking drivers out-of-the-loop during automation, because the Heavy Fog condition resulted in significantly more collisions than the Light Fog condition, which, in turn, resulted in more collisions than the Manual condition. Results also showed that, with repeated exposure to the transition events, drivers became less engaged in the driving task once automation was re-activated. However, this left questions about the effect of non-driving related tasks, both visual and cognitive, and whether these would support or augment drivers' ability to safely resume manual control. These concerns motivated the focus for papers presented in Chapters 4-6.

## 3. What is the pattern of drivers' visual attention distribution during automation?

In Chapter 4, additional OoTL screen manipulation conditions were added, including one which had no manipulations and one which removed all system and environmental information as well as presenting drivers with a visual task. Driver gaze dispersion in each condition was assessed, to determine what information from the system and road environment drivers attend to during automated driving, given the limits imposed on them by the OoTL manipulations.

Results showed that, during automation, drivers' horizontal gaze was more dispersed than during manual driving, which is in line with findings of Carsten et al. (2012) and Damböck et al. (2013). Both horizontal and vertical gaze dispersion were differentially affected by the OoTL manipulations, while they were active. However, while these short 3 minute periods of OoTL manipulations seemed to have a noticeable effect on drivers' visual attention allocation, they did not appear to have a long-lasting effect once they ceased, at least regarding gaze dispersion. However, quite how quickly these differences subsided was unclear, and I concluded by tentatively proposing that any information presented to drivers during automation should be placed near the centre of the road scene and that other measures should be used to evaluate other possible differences. The papers presented in subsequent chapters aimed to assess this hypothesis by analysing the distribution of drivers' fixations in the transition, as well their perceptual-motor performance upon the resumption of manual control.

# 4. How does automation affect drivers' visual attention distribution during and immediately after the transition?

Chapter 6 showed the OoTL manipulations influenced drivers' first point of gaze fixation after they were asked to attend to an evolving event. Differences resolved within one second, and visual attention allocation adapted with repeated events, yet the crash outcome was not different between OoTL manipulation groups. Interestingly, drivers who crashed in the first critical event had a lower number of eye fixations towards the road centre before brake light onset and a higher number following brake light onset. However, those who did not crash demonstrated a more stable pattern, fixating towards the road centre early on in the unfolding event, and sampling it consistently as the situation unfolded. These findings led to the recommendation that automated vehicle systems should warn drivers no less than 6 s before reaching a system limit and that drivers should be aware that looking away from the road centre for too long could be dangerous in Level 2 automated driving systems. The remaining questions were whether the effect of the OoTL manipulations would manifest as differences in vehicle control, and how best one might define and measure 'safe' performance in the transition. For this, a kinematics-dependent analysis of drivers' perceptual-motor performance (i.e. the timing and magnitude of drivers' responses) during approach to the two critical events, in automation was conducted.

# 5. How does automation affect drivers' perceptual-motor performance in the transition?

Results in Chapter 6 indicated that the less visual information is available to drivers during automation the longer their take-over time, but this did not predict collision outcome, which was instead predicted by kinematically late initiation of avoidance manoeuvring. Furthermore, results suggested that take-over time and the timing and quality of avoidance appear to be largely independent phenomena and that kinematically early avoidance response may be more important for safety than short take-over times. These findings have clear implications for the design and placement of in-vehicle infotainment systems in highly automated vehicles. Systems potentially obstructing drivers' view of unfolding events or important driving-related information may negatively influence their ability to react promptly. These results offer suggestive evidence that heads-up display (HUD) type interfaces should be avoided in Level 2 systems.

In summary, it is clear that the OoTL manipulations affected drivers' eye gaze dispersion during automation, as well as the uniformity of the location of drivers' first fixations once the manipulations ended. However, within three seconds of the manipulations ending, while drivers' were evaluating the state of the environment and automated driving system, the differences between the conditions resolved, and in many cases, this was before drivers resumed control. Interestingly, differences between the OoTL manipulations emerged once again regarding the timing of drivers' initial response (take-over time). There was a significant difference in how long drivers in the different conditions took to resume control, though there was no difference in the quality of the subsequent vehicle control. Therefore, the OoTL manipulations appeared to have some effect on when drivers chose to intervene, even while there were no differences in the allocation of their visual attention. Clearly, this disconnect between drivers' visual attention and their perceptual-motor performance requires more detailed investigation. HAD systems should, therefore, afford drivers additional time and/or vehicle control support (e.g. haptic shared control) based on how disengaged they were from the driving task, in the lead up to a take-over request. This suggests that being in the loop or out of the loop cannot simply be a binary distinction. Of course, there may be instances where drivers are fully in the loop or fully OoTL, but in most cases, they will find themselves somewhere in between, and where along that continuum will depend on a combination of factors, which are discussed in more detail in Section 7.4.

The relative contributions of the above results on driver performance in the transition are still unclear, but Section 7.4 lays a basis for future experiments to investigate this further. What follows is a discussion of the merits of the methodologies and analyses used in these studies.

## 7.3 Reflection on methodology and measures

## Methodology used

A key limitation of the study presented in Chapter 2 was that drivers were perhaps over-exposed to critical incidents, resulting in a learning effect and reducing the power of following scenarios. While this shortcoming was addressed during the design of the studies presented in Chapters 3-6, it could not be removed altogether. For instance, only 25% of those cases in the automated drive resulting in a collision experienced the manual drive first.

The screen methodologies used in Chapters 3-6 presented a novel means of inducing the OoTL state and studying its effects on driver behaviour. However, it is important to reflect on questions around its usefulness and validity. The first is whether the manipulations were successful in taking drivers OoTL. Initial results presented in Chapter 3, regarding glance behaviour to the HMI during automation, provided some encouraging results about how engaged drivers were with the driving task during automation, and as a consequence of the manipulations. These manipulations were expanded in Chapter 4 and Chapter 6, and their effects on gaze behaviour and gaze fixations were clear. For instance, Chapter 4 showed the manipulations had a differential effect on gaze dispersion during automation, and Chapter 6 revealed the manipulations influenced the location of drivers' first fixation during the transition, but also that these differences resolved within 2 s. After the resolution of these differences, there was no substantial effect of the manipulations on visual attention allocation or vehicle-based measures.

One explanation is that the OoTL manipulations themselves were not strong enough, regarding the duration of exposure, to have any significant lingering behavioural effects on physical control. An alternative explanation is that the manipulations were successful, but that the measures used to assess perceptual-motor performance in the transition may not have captured any underlying differences. However, it may also be that the recovery period (time between the uncertainty alert and the brake light onset) was sufficient for drivers to recover SA, and so the effects of the manipulations did not manifest as deficiencies in manual control.

A reviewer for the paper presented in Chapter 3, argued that using fog-like manipulations do not practically represent an OoTL condition during real automated driving conditions, as the typical OoTL state is more of a volunteer behaviour (e.g., distraction), while the fog conditions are more of a forced behaviour (i.e., information is blocked). The reviewer went on to suggest that these two behaviour styles may result in different focus points for drivers' attention. It is important to note that the OoTL manipulations were never intended to represent real-world settings. While voluntary disengagement may exacerbate the OoTL state, the core factor contributing to the development of the state itself is feedback, as argued by Endsley and Kiris, (1995), Kienle et al. (2009), and Norman (1990). Therefore, whether feedback is limited voluntarily or involuntarily, the end result will be similar. That the manipulations cause limited feedback involuntarily, and that voluntary disengagement cannot be controlled suggests that our data only underestimate the possible real-world effects.

### **Eye-tracking measures**

A large proportion of the work conducted for this thesis involved the analysis of drivers' eye movements (e.g. Gold et al., 2013; Zeeb et al., 2015), and the faceLAB eye-tracker used was not without its limitations.

The faceLAB eye-tracker uses a combination of image processing techniques in conjunction with infra-red reflection on the iris, to localise the pupil of the user and calculate the gaze focus point. The quality of the eye gaze data point being collected (at 60 Hz) is graded based on the quality of the information available to the system. While the faceLAB always endeavours to achieve the highest possible gaze quality level, there are times where the tracking confidence is degraded, and gaze estimates can only be extracted using video or, in the worst-case scenario, head position. Given the importance of precision in my analysis, only data with the highest gaze quality level was used. However, in some cases, this meant that if a particular driver's eye-tracking data were poor quality, then they would be under-represented in the dataset. Moreover, while this is a pragmatic approach to ensuring that only high-quality eye-tracking data is used, the resulting analysis does not account for the missing data and is therefore also at risk of over-representing the reported data. A more transparent approach would have been to report the proportion of eye-tracking data that was excluded from the analysis.

A further limitation of the system is that the faceLAB eye-tracker does not contain a world-map of the driving scene, which made it difficult to assess the exact point of drivers' fixations in the environment. Therefore, the PRC technique was used to evaluate the general allocation of drivers' visual attention. In particular, the central region of the areas of interest was used because that was the general location of the lead vehicle. While this proved useful in separating colliders and non-colliders in Chapter 5, there are still some concerns over the accuracy of this analysis method, particularly since not containing a world map means that is it difficult to link gaze points to moving objects. The 6° circular radius used, enveloped the rear-end of the lead vehicle at the start of the uncertainty alert. However, as the lead vehicle braked it would have expanded in the forward visual field, which meant that, at some point, the circular region would not have captured the entirety of the rear of the lead vehicle. Moreover, using the central region may have been more or less accurate depending drivers' deceleration rate and collision avoidance manoeuvre (brake or change lane). Given the limitations of the faceLAB system, and the method of analysis used as a compromise to these, a more accurate approach to determining whether drivers were fixating on the lead vehicle may have been to adjust the radius of the central region according to the size of the of lead vehicle (based on distance headway) in relation to drivers' position. Also, the time windows used could have been adjusted to only include the period when the driver was in the middle lane.

As mentioned in previous chapters, the mapping of the areas of interest onto the road scene was achieved by calculating the position of the central region, for each participant. The middle of the central region was anchored to the x y coordinates of the mode of each driver's fixations (based on a 200 ms threshold with a standard deviation of gaze position below 1°) during a 90 s period of manual driving on a straight road. In the PRC technique, this point is assumed to represent the centre of the road. However, this method cannot ensure that the central region and the road centre are perfectly aligned. A more exact method would have been to conduct a

calibration session before testing, for each participant, where they are asked to fixate on the road centre for a few moments. These fixations could then be used as a more accurate reference point for a central region anchor point. It is also challenging to use the faceLab eye-tracker to accurately link gaze points to static objects in the scene by only using only the PRC technique because the position of static objects relative to the location of the central area of interest varies between participants. Therefore, a calibration session before testing, for each participant, could be expanded to include reference points for other areas of interest in the cabin, for example, wing mirrors or dashboard.

#### Driving simulator

There are a number advantages and disadvantages when using driving simulators compared to real vehicles to examine driver performance. Simulators offer a controllable virtual environment with the ability to expose drivers to dangerous driving scenarios without putting them at risk (De Winter et al., 2012). Moreover, as there are few real-world examples of Level 2 and Level 3 automated driving systems, simulators are useful for mocking up these future systems. There is evidence to suggest that, for manual driving, simulator measures are predictive of on-road performance (Allen et al., 2007). However, it is unclear whether the same applies for how drivers would use automated driving systems on the road, as behaviour in this context may be more dependent on drivers' experience with the system, which is hard to emulate in a controlled testing environment.

The motion-based University of Leeds Driving Simulator provides a high degree of physical, perceptual, and behavioural fidelity. However, there were some issues encountered during the experimental testing. The first was that the simulator steering wheel does not have the ability to self-correct while in automated driving mode, which posed a problem when drivers attempted to resume manual control. For instance, if there were a steering wheel offset and drivers disengaged automation by depressing the brake pedal then the vehicle would adjust its trajectory to the steering wheel angle as soon as automation disengaged. Alternatively, if there were a steering wheel offset and drivers attempted disengage the automation by steering, then a proportion of drivers' subsequent steering action would have been to stabilise vehicle control. The second issue was that the simulator does not have an automatic braking system, which means that, in some cases, while drivers had the brake engaged in response to the lead vehicle, they were unable to steer. These two limitations resulted in some cases being excluded from the analysis, either because drivers were able to avoid a collision based on a large initial steering wheel angle at the point of take-over, or because drivers collided with the lead vehicle but not because of their own actions.

#### **Performance measures**

When analysing driver performance in automation, two approaches can be taken. First, one can observe behaviour and compare performance against some pre-defined estimates/measures. However, given that 'good' performance in automation is a relative unknown, at least regarding the traditional metrics, such as accelerations and steering measures, this approach may be redundant. This analysis approach was taken in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3, and its limitation was highlighted in both instances, which spurred the work presented in Chapter 6. That is, not simply how did drivers perform, i.e. what was their maximum lateral acceleration, but rather how did drivers perform relative to some meaningful expectation, i.e. could drivers match their response to the criticality of the event.

Second, once can use a well-known and accepted safety outcome, for example, collision outcome, as was used in Chapter 5. However, collisions are rare, and their frequency may equally be a reflection of system design, and experimental scenario under investigation. Perhaps, a more accurate approach might have been to assess a continuous safety outcome variable, such as minimum time to collision (minTTC) for drivers who do not crash (Jonasson and Rootzén, 2014) and DeltaV for those who do crash (Buzeman et al. 1998; Kusano and Gabler, 2010; Viano and Parentea, 2010). minTTC and DeltaV are well-established scales of outcome severity for near crashes and crashes, respectively. Such an approach would be useful to understand with greater accuracy what measures contribute to an unsafe outcome, but also what is an acceptable level of risk.

As argued in Chapter 6, although  $t_{take-over}$  and the associated  $t_{action}$  provide a general indication of drivers' responsiveness, they do not necessarily provide a holistic view of whether drivers were prepared to resume manual control. Regarding crash outcome, our results seem to suggest drivers' ability to match their response to the

event criticality was not as significant as I had proposed initially, which questions the weight placed on the recovery of physical vehicle control following the transition, by previous studies (e.g. Russell et al., 2016). Perhaps, as is implied in the concern within the aviation domain, that de-skilling of pilots' manual control as a result of excessive use of automation, is a longer-term adaptation (Wiener, 1988).

## 7.4 Contribution to the field and outlook

Investigating drivers' behaviour in, and interaction with, automated vehicle systems presents a challenge for human factors researchers. These can be confounded by some factors relating to technological advancement, policy implementation, and legal and ethical issues. The work presented in this thesis has contributed to an area suffering from a paucity of research, and while there has been a recent surge in this field, there is still a lack of consensus, on many of the most important human factors related issues. The work presented in this thesis does not provide a comprehensive investigation into all of these factors, and further work is required to build a consensus appreciating the dependencies of all related factors, though an overview of my proposition is given in Figure 7.1.

Figure 7.1 expands on the OoTL schematic presented in Chapter 3, to incorporate findings from this thesis into a larger framework, considering both Driver and Vehicle/Environment factors that are deemed to have an effect on driver performance in the transition. Here, the argument is maintained that Situation awareness and Physical control are the two key underlying factors to consider when investigating driver's capabilities and limitations in the transition. These can, however, be influenced by some Driver and Vehicle/Environment factors, which themselves may have interdependencies. The following section presents a brief exposition on these. Note that this model is not intended to represent or supplant a "joint" DVE (Driver-Vehicle-Environment) cognitive system, such as those presented in (Carsten, 2007) or (Cacciabue et al., 2013). Furthermore, the model does not account for all factors that will influence performance in the transition.



Figure 7.1: Studying the transition in highly automated driving.

### 7.4.1 Driver Factors

This thesis has mainly considered the Driver factors influencing driver performance in the transition.

#### Physical control

First and foremost, automation decouples drivers from the Physical control loop of the driving task. The successful re-coupling of drivers to the physical control loop will depend on their Perceptual motor performance, which describes their capacity to match the physical control response to the requirements of the situation, as investigated in Chapter 6. This thesis has shown that L2 and L3 automated driving systems will, under certain circumstances, negatively influence how drivers can perceive and respond to unexpected events in automation. However, here and elsewhere these findings are often interpreted with the assumption that Driving skill and their Manual driving experience will remain intact. Future work should consider how these may be vulnerable to decay through a lack of experience just as pilots' manual flying skills have been shown to deteriorate following the prolonged use of autopilot systems (Wiener, 1988). Indeed, evidence is emerging in support of driver training, for specific scenarios in automation (Hergeth et al., 2016), but quite how such programs can be designed to be most effective requires investigation.

An additional factor relating to drivers' physical responses is their ability to respond in a timely and safe manner (Reaction Time). While in this thesis, the usefulness of the take-over time measure (and Reaction time measures in general) has been questioned, it is amongst only a few providing insight into drivers' behaviour in the transition, and, therefore, deserves regular attention. In parallel, however, future work should build on work presented in this thesis, to develop new analyses for establishing 'good' performance in the transition. Whether or not drivers are engaged in physical vehicle control will have some influence over how engaged they are in the driving task (Carsten et al., 2012), which will also have an impact on drivers situation awareness.

#### Situation Awareness

The second major Driver factor, as proposed in Chapter 3, is drivers' Situation awareness, which is defined as "*the perception of the elements in the environment within a volume of time and space, the comprehension of their meaning, and the projection of their status in the near future*" (Endsley, 1995). Within the context of transitions in highly automated driving, there are a number of Psychological factors that may influence driver SA, such as Driver state, for example, attentional control, stress, fatigue, and workload, but also drivers' Mental model of the system and their Trust in it.

While it was not a direct focus of this thesis, drivers' Mental model of the systems they are operating is clearly an important factor to consider. With no clear international regulations governing the type or consistency of the systems used to enable automated driving technologies, a vast array of systems and products available to consumers will soon emerge, each with slight variations in their capabilities and operation. Therefore, on the one hand, it is important that engineers and designers understand what their users understand and are capable of, but on the contrary, it is essential that drivers are educated about the capabilities and limitations of the system they are using (Hollnagel and Woods, 2005).

Linked to Mental models, drivers' Situation Awareness will also be mediated by their Trust in the automated driving system, which has received some attention in recent years (cf. Beukel and Voort, 2014; Gold, et al., 2015), and where over-trust has been observed to have a negative effect in the context of system failures in automation (Shen and Neyens, 2014). It is important that studies acknowledge and calibrate the level of drivers' trust in the automated driving systems with which they will be interacting. **Individual differences** Finally, it is important to acknowledge that Individual differences may have an effect on both Situation awareness and Physical control. Individual differences can relate to drivers' Individual traits, for example, personality, demographics, and trust propensity. Also, drivers' System Experience will have a mediating effect on their Mental Model, but also regarding their physical control response when resuming control, i.e. understanding what steering torque will help contribute to corrections of heading errors. Certainly, there is evidence that behavioural adaptation to support systems changes over time (Markkula et al., 2012), and recently evidence has suggested the same for L2 and L3 automation (cf. Gold and Bengler, 2014; Beukel and Voort, 2014; Carsten et al., 2012; Petermann-Stock et al., 2013). The studies presented in this thesis capture behaviour and performance of drivers who have little or no short-term or long-term exposure to these automated driving systems, yet, a clear learning effect has been found in almost all scenarios considered. Not only is it important to understand longer-term behavioural adaptations, but also how they develop in more naturalistic settings. While a driving simulator provides a controlled environment ideal for studying safety critical situations, it does not capture the complexities of real-world driving, which the driver would be subject to, in naturalistic settings.

### 7.4.2 Vehicle/Environment Factors

The Vehicle/Environment Factors relate to the road and traffic scenario factors and the vehicle design factors that are hypothesised to have an effect on performance in the transition, in terms of drivers' ability to perceive, comprehend, and predict (situation awareness) the unfolding event, but also their ability to react to it (perceptual-motor performance).

#### Vehicle factors

Vehicle factors relate to the Human-machine interface, the Level of automation being transitioned to or from, and the system's Automated driving style.

The Human-Machine Interface (HMI) comprises of the interface design, which determines the quality of system feedback it provides to drivers, as well as the interaction design, which specifies interaction principles and how control is arbitrated, for instance the dynamic distribution of control proposed in the H-mode project (Flemisch, 2003; Bengler and Flemisch, 2011). A number of HMI concepts to improve driver performance in the transition have been evaluated in a range of settings (e.g. Petermeijer et al., 2015, and see Manca et al., 2015 for a review), but this thesis has shown that the information drivers have available to them during the transition is an important aspect to consider. Therefore, further work will need to find more driver-centric HMI solutions.

It follows that systems will vary regarding the degree to which they are able to assume control of the driving task (Levels of automation). It is well established that the extent to which a task is automated influences how users interact with that task, therefore, it is important to consider how this behaviour influences performance in the transition.

Automated driving style refers to the system-based principles of vehicle control, for example, the trajectory and acceleration profile adopted by the automated driving system. Future work should consider whether drivers prefer HAD control characteristics that are human-like or not, as this may influence system acceptance and use.

#### **Environment factors**

relate to the urgency of the unfolding situations, which may be affected by the Road Type, for example, highway, rural, or sub(urban) roads, and Traffic scenario, for instance, traffic density, or position relative to surrounding vehicles (especially visual looming). Recent simulator studies have not found consensus on the effect of different traffic situations on performance in the transition (RadImayr et al., 2014; Naujoks et al., 2014). However, many of these will require constant reassessment as new L2 and L3 systems with different capabilities and characteristics are released to the market. In comparison to studies of manual driving, investigations related to the tactical- and strategic- levels of driver performance in the transition in automated driving are somewhat limited. Besides, and as outlined above, the experimental use-cases and HMI used in these studies are as varied as their findings. Consequently, a clearer picture of drivers' capabilities and limitations in their interaction with vehicle automation can be achieved by more similar methodologies. In addition to the above, it is important to consider the kinematics of the situation under investigation Situation kinematics, as

this may not only help compare results from studies with slightly different take-over situations, but it also provides a means to analyse performance based on drivers' response to some threat in the road environment. Finally, adverse Weather conditions may also have some impact on drivers' performance in the transition. For example, rain can obscure the vision of onboard cameras and reduce the range and accuracy of laser-based Lidar sensors, which would potentially trigger a high workload transition scenario.

## 7.5 Final conclusion

The main theme throughout this work is that automation affects the cognitive (visual attention) and physical (perceptual-motor) aspects of driver vehicle control in the transition. Under some conditions, automation had a stronger effect on the cognitive aspects, while in others the physical aspect dominated. As such, they should be considered in concert to gain a holistic understanding of the effect of automation on driver performance in the transition.

# 7.6 References

AdaptIVe project (2014). Available at: https://www.adaptive-ip.eu/.

- Allen, R. W., Park, G. D., Cook, M. L., and Fiorentino, D. (2007). The effect of driving simulator fidelity on training effectiveness. DSC 2007 North America.
- Beukel, A. v. d., and Voort, M. C. v. d. (2014). Design considerations on user-interaction for semi-automated driving. FISITA 2014 world automotive congress. Maastricht, Netherlands, 35, 1-8.
- Buzeman, D., D. Viano, and P. Lövsund. (1998). Car Occupant Safety in Frontal Crashes: A Parameter Study of Vehicle Mass, Impact Speed, and Inherent Vehicle Protection. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 30(6), 713-722.
- Cacciabue, P. C., Enjalbert, S., S"oderberg, H., and Tapani, A. (2013). Unified Driver Model simulation and its application to the automotive, rail and maritime domains. Transportation research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 21, 315-327.

- Carsten, O. (2007). From driver models to modelling the driver: what do we really need to know about the driver?. In Modelling driver behaviour in automotive environments (pp. 105-120). Springer London.
- Carsten, O., Lai, F. C. H., Barnard, Y., Jamson, A. H. and Merat, N. (2012). Control task substitution in semi-automated driving: Does it matter what aspects are automated? Human Factors, 54, 747-761.
- Damböck, D., Weissgerber, T., Kienle, M., and Bengler, K. (2013). Requirements for cooperative vehicle guidance. In Proceedings of the 16th International IEEE Annual Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, The Hague, The Netherlands (pp. 1656-1661).
- De Winter, J., Van Leuween, P., and Happee, P. (2012, August). Advantages and disadvantages of driving simulators: a discussion. In Proceedings of Measuring Behavior (pp. 47-50). Chicago
- Endsley, M.R. (1995). Toward a theory of situation awareness in dynamic systems. Human Factors, 37(1), 32-64.
- Endsley, M.R. and Kiris, O.E. (1995). The out-of-the-loop performance problem and the level of control in automation. Human Factors, 37, 381-394.
- Flemisch, F. (2003). The h-metaphor as a guideline for vehicle automation and interaction (Nos. NASA/TM-2003-212672). Langley Research Center and Hampton and Virginia: National Aeronautics and Space Administration.
- Gold, C., and Bengler, K. (2014). Taking over control from highly automated vehicles. Advances in Human Aspects of Transportation: Part II, 8, 64-69.
- Gold, C., Körber, M., Hohenberger, C., Lechner, D., and Bengler, K. (2015). Trust in automation-Before and after the experience of take-over scenarios in a highly automated vehicle. Procedia Manufacturing, 3, 3025-3032.
- Hergeth, S., Lorenz, L., and Krems, J. (2016). What did you expect? effects of prior familiarization with take-over requests during conditional automated driving on takeover performance and automation trust. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Hollnagel, E., and Woods, D. D. (2005). Joint cognitive systems: Foundations of cognitive systems engineering. CRC Press. Chicago.

- Jonasson, J. K., and Rootzén, H. (2014). Internal validation of near-crashes in naturalistic driving studies: A continuous and multivariate approach.ÂăAccident Analysis & Prevention, 62, 102-109.
- Kienle, M., Damböck, D., Kelsch, J., Flemisch, F., and Bengler, K. (2009). Towards an H-Mode for highly automated vehicles: driving with side sticks. In Proceedings of the First International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications (AutomotiveUI 2009), September 21-22 2009, Essen, Germany, p. 19-23.
- Kusano, K., and Gabler, H. (2010). Potential Occupant Injury Reduction in Pre-Crash System Equipped Vehicles in the Striking Vehicle of Rear-End Crashes. Annals of Advances in Automotive Medicine, 54, 203-214.
- Manca, L., De Winter, J., and Happee, R. (2015). Visual displays for automated driving: A survey. In Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications (AutoUI 2015) (pp. 1-5). New York, NY: ACM.
- Markkula, G., Benderius, O., Wolff, K., and Wahde, M. (2012). A review of nearcollision driver behavior models. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 54(6), 1117-1143.
- Merat, N. and Jamson, A. H. (2009). Is drivers' situation awareness influenced by a fully automated driving scenario? In D. de Waard, J. Godthelp, F. L. Kooi, and K. A. Brookhuis (Eds.), Human factors, security and safety. Maastricht, the Netherlands: Shaker Publishing.
- Merat, N., Jamson, H., Lai, F. and Carsten, O. (2010). Automated driving, secondary task performance and situation awareness. In D. de Waard, A. Axelsson, M. Berglund, B. Peters, and C. Weikert (Eds.), Human Factors: A system view of human, technology, and organisation (pp. 41-53). Maastricht, The Netherlands: Shaker Publishing.
- Michon, J. A. (1985). A critical view of driver behavior models: What do we know, what should we do? In L. Evans and R. Schwing (Eds.), Human Behavior and Traffic Safety. New York, NY, USA: Plenum Press.
- Naujoks, F., Mai, C. and Neukum, A. (2014). The effect of urgency of take-over requests during highly automated driving under distraction conditions. In T. Ahram, W.

Karowski and T. Marek (Eds.), Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics AHFE 2014 (pp. 2099-2106). Krakau: AHFE Conference.

- Norman, D. A. (1990) The 'problem' with automation: Inappropriate feedback and interaction, not 'over-automation'. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, B 327.
- Petermann-Stock, I., Hackenberg, L., Muhr, T., and Mergl, C. (2013). Wie lange braucht der fahrer? eine analyse zu u
  übernahmezeiten aus verschiedenen nebent
  ätigkeiten wa
  ährend einer hochautomatisierten staufahrt. 6. Tagung Fahrerassistenzsysteme. Munich, Germany, 6.
- Petermeijer, S., De Winter, J. C., and Bengler, K. (2015). Vibrotactile displays: A survey with a view on highly automated driving. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems, 1-11.
- Radlmayr, J., Gold, C., Lorenz, L., Farid, M. and Benlger, K. (2014). How Traffic Situations and Non-Driving Related Tasks Affect the Take-Over Quality in Highly Automated Driving. In Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society (HFES) 2014. Annual Meeting (Vol. 58, pp. 2063-2067).
- Russell, H. E., Harbott, L. K., Nisky, I., Pan, S., Okamura, A. M., and Gerdes, J. C. (2016). Motor learning affects car-to-driver handover in automated vehicles. Science Robotics, 1(1), eaah5682.
- Shen, S., and Neyens, D. M. (2014). Assessing drivers' performance when automated driver support systems fail with different levels of automation. Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, 58(1), 2068-2072.
- Viano, D.C., and Parenteau, C.S. (2010). Ejection and Severe Injury Risks by Crash Type and Belt Use with a Focus on Rear Impacts. Traffic Injury Prevention, 11(1), 79-86.
- Wiener, E. L. (1988). Cockpit automation. In E. L. Wiener and D. C. Nagal (Eds.), Human Factors in Aviation (pp. 433-461). San Diego. CA: Academic Press, Inc.
- Young, M. S., and Stanton, N. A. (2007). Back to the future: Brake reaction times for manual and automated vehicles. Ergonomics, 50(1), 46-58.
- Zeeb, K., Buchner, A., and Schrauf, M. (2015). What determines the take-over time? An integrated model approach of driver take-over after automated driving. Accident

Analysis & Prevention, 88, 212-221.